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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

[X] QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2004

[  ] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

For the transition period from                                       to                                       

Commission file number: 000-32883

WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware
(State or other jurisdiction

of incorporation or organization)

13-4088127
(IRS employer

identification number)

5677 Airline Road
Arlington, Tennessee

(Address of principal executive
offices)

38002
(Zip code)

Registrant�s telephone number,
including area code:

(901) 867-9971

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. [X]  Yes [ ] No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).
[X]  Yes [ ] No

As of July 28, 2004, there were 33,446,088 shares of common stock outstanding.
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SAFE-HARBOR STATEMENT

This quarterly report contains �forward-looking statements� within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. All statements made in this
quarterly report, other than statements of historical fact, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements
reflect management�s current knowledge, assumptions, beliefs, estimates, and expectations and express management�s
current views of future performance, results, and trends. We wish to caution readers that actual results might differ
materially from those described in the forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are subject to a
number of risks and uncertainties, including the factors discussed in our filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (including those described in Item 7 of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2003, under the heading, �Factors Affecting Future Operating Results,� and in this and other quarterly reports) which
could cause our actual results to materially differ from those described in the forward-looking statements. Although
we believe that the forward-looking statements are accurate, there can be no assurance that any forward-looking
statement will prove to be accurate. A forward-looking statement should not be regarded as a representation by us that
the results described therein will be achieved. We wish to caution readers not to place undue reliance on any
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forward-looking statement. The forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this quarterly report. We
assume no obligation to update any forward-looking statement after this date.
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PART I � FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data)

June 30,
December

31,
2004 2003

(unaudited)
Assets:
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 72,235 $ 66,571
Accounts receivable, net 63,213 55,821
Inventories 70,714 64,204
Prepaid expenses 3,471 5,046
Deferred income taxes 11,317 15,591
Other current assets 5,055 3,291

Total current assets 226,005 210,524
Property, plant and equipment, net 67,552 66,915
Goodwill 8,608 11,248
Intangible assets, net 17,227 18,646
Deferred income taxes 14,988 13,398
Other assets 1,327 1,372

$335,707 $322,103

Liabilities and stockholders� equity:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 17,818 $ 14,227
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 41,609 42,814
Current portion of long-term obligations 6,242 6,228

Total current liabilities 65,669 63,269
Long-term obligations 8,191 11,096
Deferred income taxes 924 1,203
Other liabilities 5,895 8,217
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Total liabilities 80,679 83,785

Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Stockholders� equity:
Common stock, $.01 par value, shares authorized �
100,000,000; shares issued and outstanding
�33,438,296 in 2004, 33,040,747 in 2003 334 330
Additional paid-in capital 268,215 263,455
Deferred compensation (765) (1,452)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 13,632 15,675
Accumulated deficit (26,388) (39,690)

Total stockholders� equity 255,028 238,318

$335,707 $322,103

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

1
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WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

(unaudited)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003

Net sales $75,616 $62,152 $150,533 $120,774
Cost of sales 21,383 17,386 41,769 32,926

Gross profit 54,233 44,766 108,764 87,848
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative 37,714 31,963 74,848 62,268
Research and development 4,524 3,908 9,506 7,443
Amortization of intangible assets 928 923 1,870 1,727
Stock-based expense 465 420 889 829
Acquired in-process research and
development costs (Note 2) � � � 4,558

Total operating expenses 43,631 37,214 87,113 76,825

Operating income 10,602 7,552 21,651 11,023
Interest expense, net 301 312 585 578
Other income, net (52) (481) (14) (511)

Income before income taxes 10,353 7,721 21,080 10,956
Provision for income taxes 3,665 2,723 7,778 3,957

Net income $ 6,688 $ 4,998 $ 13,302 $ 6,999

Net income per share (Note 6):
Basic $ 0.20 $ 0.15 $ 0.40 $ 0.21

Diluted $ 0.19 $ 0.15 $ 0.38 $ 0.21

33,347 32,772 33,212 32,744
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Weighted-average number of shares
outstanding-basic

Weighted-average number of shares
outstanding-diluted 35,493 34,237 35,388 34,085

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

2
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WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
(unaudited)

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2004 2003

Operating activities:
Net income $13,302 $ 6,999
Non-cash items included in net income:
Depreciation 8,100 6,951
Amortization of intangible assets 1,870 1,727
Amortization of deferred financing costs 131 131
Deferred income taxes 3,904 3,279
Stock-based expense 889 829
Acquired in-process research and development costs � 4,558
Other 35 (147)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of
acquisitions:
Accounts receivable (8,156) (2,148)
Inventories (7,159) (404)
Other current assets (692) 1,418
Accounts payable 3,841 1,051
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (2,083) 2,506

Net cash provided by operating activities 13,982 26,750
Investing activities:
Capital expenditures (9,383) (6,178)
Purchase of tangible and intangible assets (Note 2) (161) (7,605)
Other 39 56

Net cash used in investing activities (9,505) (13,727)
Financing activities:
Proceeds from bank and other financing 1,370 �
Payments of bank and other financing (3,007) (2,893)
Issuance of common stock 2,947 776

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,310 (2,117)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (123) 246

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents $ 5,664 $ 11,152
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Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period $66,571 $ 51,373

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $72,235 $ 62,525

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

3
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WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation. The unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements of Wright Medical Group,
Inc. (the �Company�) have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States (�U.S.�) for interim financial information and the instructions to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01
of Regulation S-X. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles have been condensed or omitted pursuant to these rules and
regulations. Accordingly, these unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the Company�s consolidated financial statements and related notes included in the Company�s annual
report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(�SEC�).

In the opinion of management, these unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements reflect all
adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the Company�s interim financial results. All such adjustments are of a
normal and recurring nature. The results of operations for any interim period are not necessarily indicative of results
for the full fiscal year.

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements include the accounts of the
Company and its wholly-owned domestic and international subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Stock Based Compensation. As of June 30, 2004, the Company has two stock-based employee compensation plans.
The Company accounts for those plans under the intrinsic value method in accordance with the provisions of
Accounting Principles Board (�APB�) Opinion No. 25, �Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.� Accordingly,
compensation cost related to stock option grants to employees has been recognized only to the extent that the fair
market value of the stock exceeds the exercise price of the stock option at the date of grant. Nonemployee stock-based
compensation is accounted for in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (�SFAS�) No. 123,
�Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.�

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had applied the fair
value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock-based employee compensation (in thousands, except per share
amounts):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003

Net income, as reported $ 6,688 $4,998 $13,302 $ 6,999
Add: Stock-based employee
compensation expense recognized under
intrinsic value method, net of tax effects 203 244 411 474
Less: Stock-based employee
compensation expense determined under

(1,976) (986) (3,795) (1,914)
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fair value based method, net of tax
effects

Pro forma net income $ 4,915 $4,256 $ 9,918 $ 5,559

Net income per share:
Basic, as reported $ 0.20 $ 0.15 $ 0.40 $ 0.21

Basic, pro forma $ 0.15 $ 0.13 $ 0.30 $ 0.17

Diluted, as reported $ 0.19 $ 0.15 $ 0.38 $ 0.21

Diluted, pro forma $ 0.14 $ 0.13 $ 0.28 $ 0.17

Amounts presented in �Stock-based expense� in the Company�s condensed consolidated statements of operations include
selling, general and administrative expenses of $440,000 and $394,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2004 and
2003, respectively, and $838,000 and $777,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Amounts presented also include research and development expenses of $25,000 and $26,000 for the three months
ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and $51,000 and $52,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2004 and
2003, respectively.

4
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WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(CONTINUED)

2. Acquisition of Assets

On March 5, 2003, the Company completed an acquisition of certain assets from Gliatech Inc. related to its ADCON®

Gel technology for $8.4 million in cash and a royalty contingent upon future product sales. The Company paid
$840,000 of the purchase price as a deposit in the fourth quarter of 2002, and $3.4 million in the first quarter of 2003.
The remaining $4.2 million was paid in the second quarter of 2003 upon final receipt of all assets. The following table
summarizes the allocation of the purchase price (in thousands):

Inventories $1,312
Property, plant and equipment 160
Acquired in-process research and development 4,558
Intangible assets:
Completed technology 1,575
Trademarks 554
Other 286

$8,445

In connection with the acquisition of these assets, the Company engaged an independent third party to conduct a
valuation of the intangible assets acquired. The value assigned to acquired in-process research and development
(�IPRD�) was $4.6 million of the purchase price. Accordingly, this amount was expensed in the three-month period
ended March 31, 2003. The value assigned to IPRD was determined by estimating the costs to develop the IPRD into
commercially viable products, estimating the resulting cash flows from such projects, and discounting the net cash
flows back to their present value. The discount rate applied in the valuation reflected uncertainties surrounding the
successful development of the IPRD.

3. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):

June 30, December 31,
2004 2003

Raw materials $ 3,214 $ 2,816
Work-in-process 12,776 9,827
Finished goods 54,724 51,561

$70,714 $64,204
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4. Long-Term Obligations

Long-term obligations consist of the following (in thousands):

June 30,
December

31,
2004 2003

Notes payable $11,250 $13,250
Capital lease obligations 3,183 4,074

14,433 17,324
Less: current portion (6,242) (6,228)

$ 8,191 $11,096

At June 30, 2004, the Company�s senior credit facility consisted of $11.3 million in outstanding term loan borrowings
and availability under a revolving credit facility, after considering outstanding letters of credit, totaling $57.7 million.
At the Company�s option, borrowings under the credit facility bear interest either at a rate equal to a fixed base rate
plus a spread of .75% to 1.25% or at a rate equal to an adjusted LIBOR plus a spread of 1.75% to 2.25%, depending
on the Company�s consolidated leverage ratio, with a rate of 2.9% at June 30, 2004.

5
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WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(CONTINUED)

5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during the six months ended June 30, 2004 are as follows (in thousands):

Goodwill at December 31, 2003 $11,248
Less: Resolution of pre-acquisition foreign income tax contingency (2,344)
Foreign currency translation (296)

Goodwill at June 30, 2004 $ 8,608

During the six months ended June 30, 2004, the Company favorably resolved a foreign income tax contingency
associated with its December 1999 acquisition of Cremascoli Ortho Holding, S.A. (�Cremascoli�). This amount was
established as an accrued liability in the purchase accounting in connection with the acquisition of Cremascoli. Due to
the favorable resolution of this matter, the Company reduced the previously recorded goodwill and the associated
contingency accrual, which had been recorded in �Other liabilities� in the Company�s condensed consolidated balance
sheet.

The components of the Company�s identifiable intangible assets are as follows (in thousands):

June 30, 2004 December 31, 2003

Accumulated Accumulated
Cost amortization Cost amortization

Completed technology $ 5,265 $ 1,354 $ 5,288 $ 1,025
Distribution channels 18,714 8,414 19,296 7,708
Trademarks 657 114 657 75
Other 5,140 2,667 4,345 2,132

29,776 $12,549 29,586 $10,940

Less: Accumulated amortization (12,549) (10,940)

Intangible assets, net $ 17,227 $ 18,646
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Based on the intangible assets held at June 30, 2004, the Company expects to recognize amortization expense of
approximately $3.7 million for the full year of 2004, $3.4 million in 2005, $3.2 million in 2006, $2.7 million in 2007,
and $2.6 million in 2008.

6. Earnings Per Share

SFAS No. 128, �Earnings Per Share,� requires the presentation of basic and diluted earnings per share. Basic
earnings per share is calculated based on the weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding during the period.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated to include any dilutive effect of the Company�s common stock equivalents.
The Company�s common stock equivalents consist of stock options and warrants. The dilutive effect of such
instruments is calculated using the treasury-stock method.

The weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for basic and diluted earnings per share is as follows (in
thousands):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003

Weighted-average number of
shares outstanding, basic 33,347 32,772 33,212 32,744
Common stock equivalents 2,146 1,465 2,176 1,341

Weighted-average number of
shares outstanding, diluted 35,493 34,237 35,388 34,085

6
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WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(CONTINUED)

7. Other Comprehensive Income

The difference between the Company�s net income and its comprehensive income is wholly attributable to foreign
currency translation. The following table provides a reconciliation of net income to comprehensive income (in
thousands):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003

Net income $ 6,688 $4,998 $13,302 $ 6,999
Changes in foreign
currency translation (1,191) 2,929 (2,043) 4,832

Comprehensive income $ 5,497 $7,927 $11,259 $11,831

8. Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Proceedings. On June 30, 1993, prior to the December 1999 recapitalization and inception of the Company in
its current form, the Company�s predecessor company, Wright Medical Technology, Inc. (the �Predecessor Company�),
acquired substantially all of the assets of the large joint orthopaedic implant business from Dow Corning Corporation
(DCC). DCC retains liability for matters arising from certain conduct of DCC prior to June 30, 1993. As such, DCC
has agreed to indemnify the Predecessor Company against all liability for all products manufactured prior to the
acquisition except for products provided under the Predecessor Company�s 1993 agreement with DCC pursuant to
which the Predecessor Company purchased certain small joint orthopaedic implants for worldwide distribution. The
Predecessor Company was notified in May 1995 that DCC, which filed for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the
U.S. Bankruptcy Code, would no longer defend the Predecessor Company in such matters until it received further
direction from the bankruptcy court. Based on the most recent plan of reorganization submitted to the court, it appears
that the Predecessor Company would be considered an unsecured creditor and, under the terms of the plan, would
receive 24% of any such claim as a cash payment with the remainder to be paid by a senior note due within ten years.
There are several appeals regarding the confirmed plan of reorganization pending before the U.S. District Court in
Detroit, Michigan, which have delayed implementation of the plan. There can be no assurance that DCC will
indemnify the Predecessor Company or the Company on any claims in the future. Although neither the Predecessor
Company nor the Company maintains insurance for claims arising on products sold by DCC, the Company does not
believe the outcome of any of these matters will have a material adverse effect on the Company�s financial position or
results of operations.

In March 2000, Howmedica Osteonics Corp. served a lawsuit against the Company alleging patent infringement. The
lawsuit seeks an order of infringement, injunctive relief, unspecified damages and various other costs and relief. The
claims could impact a substantial portion of our knee product line. The Company believes it has strong defenses
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against this claim and intends to vigorously defend this lawsuit. The Company also believes this claim is, in part,
covered pursuant to the Company�s patent infringement insurance. Management does not believe that the outcome of
this claim will have a material adverse effect on the Company�s financial position or results of operations.

In July 2002, the Company entered into a license agreement to resolve an intellectual property dispute that, among
other things, provided for a payment of up to $1.25 million if a particular patent re-issued by February 10, 2004, and
certain other conditions, as defined in the license agreement, were satisfied. While the patent in question re-issued
prior to February 10, 2004, based on its assessment, the Company has concluded that the other required conditions
were not satisfied upon re-issuance and the consequential payment of any amount is not probable. Accordingly, no
provision has been made for this contingency as of June 30, 2004.

In July 2002, pursuant to a purchase and royalty agreement with CERAbio LLC (�CERAbio�), the Company purchased
assets consisting primarily of completed technology for $3.0 million and recorded this entire amount as an intangible
asset. Of this purchase price, $1.5 million was paid upon signing the purchase agreement. The remaining $1.5 million
is provided for in accrued expenses and is due once certain conditions under the agreement are satisfied. The
agreement also provides for specified future royalties contingent upon sales of products related to the acquired
technology. The Company, believing that the contractual obligations for payment had not been met, disputed whether
the second payment and royalties had been earned. In 2003, CERAbio and Phillips Plastics Corporation filed a lawsuit
in United States District Court for the Western District of Wisconsin against the

7
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WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(CONTINUED)

Company for payment of the additional $1.5 million purchase price and the royalties earned to date. During the fourth
quarter of 2003, a jury returned a verdict in favor of CERAbio and ordered the Company to pay the remaining
purchase price and the royalties earned to date. The royalties earned to date have been recorded within �Accrued
expenses and other current liabilities� in our condensed consolidated balance sheet. The Company has appealed the
verdict to the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit and the appeal is pending. The Company intends
to vigorously defend its position in this case and, in the opinion of management, does not believe that this claim will
have a material adverse affect on its financial position or results of operations.

In addition to those noted above, the Company is subject to various other legal proceedings, product liability claims
and other matters which arise in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the amount of
liability, if any, with respect to these matters will not materially affect the results of operations or financial position of
the Company.

Regulatory. In March 2004, the Company received marketing clearance from the United States Food and Drug
Administration (the �FDA�) for its ALLOMATRIX® Injectable Putty. This clearance was obtained based on satisfaction
of the FDA�s requirements pursuant to a 510(k) premarket notification process that began with the Company�s
submission of a 510(k) in March 2002. This submission was in response to the FDA�s clarification to all allograft putty
providers, including the Company, that such products are regulated under the medical device premarket notification
provisions of the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act. Further, in July 2004, the Company received marketing clearance
from the FDA for its ALLOMATRIX® C, ALLOMATRIX® Custom and ALLOMATRIX® DR putty products
following the Company�s submission of a 510(k) in April 2004. The July 2004 notification from the FDA completes
the clearance process for the Company�s entire ALLOMATIX® family of products.

8
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS.

General

The following management�s discussion and analysis describes the principal factors affecting our results of operations
and our financial condition for the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2004. This discussion should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying unaudited financial statements and our annual report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2003 (�Annual Report�), which includes additional information about our critical accounting
policies and practices and factors affecting future operating results.

Executive Overview

Company Description. Wright Medical Group, Inc. is a global orthopaedic medical device company specializing in
the design, manufacture and marketing of reconstructive joint devices and biologics products. Reconstructive joint
devices are used to replace knee, hip and other joints that have deteriorated through disease or injury. Biologics are
used to replace damaged or diseased bone, to stimulate bone growth, and to provide other biological solutions for
surgeons and their patients. We have been in business for over fifty years and have built a well-known and respected
brand name and strong relationships with orthopaedic surgeons.

Principal Products. Our net sales primarily include sales of reconstructive joint devices and biologics products. Our
reconstructive joint device sales are derived from three primary product lines: knees, hips and extremities. Our
biologics sales are derived from products designed to stimulate and augment the natural regenerative capabilities of
the human body. Additionally, we generate other net sales from various orthopaedic products not considered to be part
of our knee, hip, extremity or biologics product lines.

Significant Business Trends. Net sales grew 22% to $75.6 million in the second quarter of 2004 from $62.2 million
in 2003. Our second quarter sales growth was primarily due to the performance of our hip and biologics product lines,
both of which experienced growth rates of 30% as compared to prior year. Our net income grew 34% to $6.7 million
in the second quarter of 2004 from $5.0 million in the second quarter of 2003. Our net income growth resulted from
the combination of our strong net sales growth and continued leverage of our existing infrastructure.

In March 2004, we received marketing clearance from the United States Food and Drug Administration (the �FDA�) for
our ALLOMATRIX® Injectable Putty. This clearance was obtained based on satisfaction of the FDA�s requirements
pursuant to a 510(k) premarket notification process that began with our submission of a 510(k) in March 2002. This
submission was in response to the FDA�s clarification to all allograft putty providers, including us, that such products
should be regulated under the medical device premarket notification provisions of the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act
(the �Act�). Further, in July 2004, we received marketing clearance from the FDA for our ALLOMATRIX® C,
ALLOMATRIX® Custom and ALLOMATRIX® DR putty products following our submission of a 510(k) in
April 2004. The July 2004 notification from the FDA completes the clearance process for our entire ALLOMATIX®

family of products. These approvals, combined with the April 2004 approval of our OSTEOSET® DBM Pellets, make
us the only provider of commercially available, FDA-cleared products which contain demineralized bone matrix
(�DBM�). See �Factors Affecting Future Operating Results� for a detailed discussion of this regulatory development.

Our performance outlook anticipates continued growth in our business across all product lines during the second half
of 2004. Our diverse biologics product portfolio, combined with our full continuum of successful hip, extremity and
knee products, positions us for continued success throughout 2004.

9
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Significant Industry Factors. Our industry is impacted by numerous competitive, regulatory and other significant
factors. The growth of our business relies on our ability to continue to develop new products and innovative
technologies, obtain regulatory clearance and compliance for our products, protect the proprietary technology of our
products and our manufacturing processes, manufacture our products cost-effectively, respond to competitive
pressures specific to each of our geographic markets, and successfully market and distribute our products in a
profitable manner. We, and the entire industry, are subject to extensive government regulation, primarily by the FDA.
Failure to comply with regulatory requirements could have a material adverse effect on our business. Additionally, our
industry is highly competitive and our success is dependent on our ability to compete successfully against our
competitors. We devote significant resources to assessing and analyzing competitive, regulatory and economic risks
and opportunities. A detailed discussion of these and other factors is provided in the �Factors Affecting Future
Operating Results� section of our Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations in our Annual Report.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, our results of operations expressed as dollar amounts (in
thousands) and as percentages of net sales:

Three Months Ended June
30,

(unaudited)

2004 2003

Amount % of sales Amount % of sales

Net sales $75,616 100.0% $62,152 100.0%
Cost of sales 21,383 28.3% 17,386 28.0%

Gross profit 54,233 71.7% 44,766 72.0%
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative 37,714 49.9% 31,963 51.4%
Research and development 4,524 6.0% 3,908 6.3%
Amortization of intangible assets 928 1.2% 923 1.5%
Stock-based expense 465 0.6% 420 0.7%

Total operating expenses 43,631 57.7% 37,214 59.9%

Operating income 10,602 14.0% 7,552 12.2%
Interest expense, net 301 0.4% 312 0.5%
Other income, net (52) (0.1%) (481) (0.8%)

Income before income taxes 10,353 13.7% 7,721 12.4%
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Provision for income taxes 3,665 4.8% 2,723 4.4%

Net income $ 6,688 8.8% $ 4,998 8.0%

Comparison of three months ended June 30, 2004 to three months ended June 30, 2003

Net Sales. The following table sets forth our net sales by product line for the three months ended June 30, 2004 and
2003 (in thousands):

Three Months Ended June
30,

2004 2003 % change

Hip products $25,266 $19,502 29.6%
Knee products 22,475 19,755 13.8%
Biologics products 15,980 12,275 30.2%
Extremity products 9,059 7,805 16.1%
Other 2,836 2,815 0.7%

Total net sales $75,616 $62,152 21.7%
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The following graphs illustrate our product line sales as a percentage of total net sales for the three months ended
June 30, 2004 and 2003:

Product Line Sales as a Percentage of Total Net Sales

Our net sales growth in the second quarter of 2004 resulted primarily from the continued significant growth of our hip
and biologics product lines, which both grew 30% over prior year, and the solid performance of our knee and
extremity product lines. Geographically, our domestic net sales totaled $44.8 million in the second quarter of 2004
and $37.5 million in the second quarter of 2003, representing 59% and 60% of total net sales, respectively, and growth
of 19%. Our international sales totaled $30.9 million in the second quarter of 2004, increasing by 25% over sales of
$24.7 million in the second quarter of 2003. Our international sales in the second quarter of 2004 included a positive
currency impact of approximately $1.4 million, principally resulting from the continued favorable performance in
2004 of the euro against the U.S. dollar. Increased sales in our European and Asian markets were the primary drivers
of our international sales growth.

We experienced sales growth across all product lines in the second quarter of 2004. Our hip product sales totaled
$25.3 million during the second quarter of 2004, representing an increase of 30% over prior year. Our hip product line
growth is primarily attributable to an overall increase in unit sales resulting from the success of our CONSERVE®
Total Hip System with BFH� Technology which addresses the need for implants with larger femoral heads, our
PROFEMUR® hip stem products with our modular neck design, and our LINEAGE® Acetabular System with
ceramic-on-ceramic technology. Additionally, pricing premiums associated with these hard bearing surfaces and
modular neck systems continue to benefit our hip sales performance.

Sales of our biologics products totaled $16.0 million in the second quarter of 2004, representing year-over-year
growth of 30%. Our second quarter 2004 performance in biologics is primarily due to significant contributions from
our soft tissue repair products, specifically our GRAFTJACKET® tissue repair and containment membranes.
Additionally, sales growth of our minimally invasive injectable graft MIIG® family of products, and, in international
markets, the continued solid performance of our ADCON® Gel products further contributed to our biologics sales
growth.

Our extremity product sales increased to $9.1 million in the second quarter of 2004, representing growth of 16% over
the second quarter of 2003. Increased unit sales of our higher priced extremity products, such as our foot and ankle
products and our EVOLVE® Modular Radial Head System, as well as pricing increases across our extremity product
offerings, contributed to our year-over-year growth.

Our knee product line sales totaled $22.5 million in the second quarter of 2004, representing growth of 14%. Our knee
performance is primarily attributable to growth experienced in our ADVANCE® knee product line, offset by slight
decreases in our more mature ADVANTIM® and AXIOM® product lines.

Cost of Sales. Our cost of sales as a percentage of net sales increased from 28.0% in the second quarter of 2003 to
28.3% in the second quarter of 2004. This increase is attributable to shifts in our geographic and product line sales
mix, as well as increased provisions for excess and obsolete inventories. Our cost of sales and corresponding gross
profit percentages can be expected to fluctuate in future periods depending upon changes in our product sales mix and
prices, distribution channels and geographies, manufacturing yields, period expenses and levels of production volume.
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Selling, General and Administrative. As a percentage of net sales, our second quarter 2004 selling, general and
administrative expenses decreased by 1.5 percentage points to 49.9% as compared to 51.4% in 2003. Our ability to
leverage existing infrastructure, while continuing to significantly grow our business, had a positive impact on our
selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of net sales during the second quarter, despite
significantly increased corporate governance costs to comply with new regulatory requirements.

We anticipate that our selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of net sales will continue to
decrease in future periods as we control the growth of our existing infrastructure while continuing to expand our
business, with the amount of percentage decrease varying from period to period. However, these expenses will
increase in absolute dollars to the extent that any additional growth in net sales results in increases in sales
commissions and royalty expense associated with those sales and requires us to expand our infrastructure.

Research and Development. Our investment in research and development activities represented approximately 6.0%
of net sales in the second quarter of 2004, as compared to 6.3% of net sales in the second quarter of 2003. In absolute
dollars, research and development expenditures increased to $4.5 million in the second quarter of 2004 from
$3.9 million in the same period of 2003. This increase is primarily attributable to heightened levels of clinical
evaluations for pre-market products and products already on the market, as well as continued investments in
development opportunities for possible future products.

We expect our research and development expenditures to increase in absolute dollars, and may increase as a
percentage of sales, as our business continues to grow and we continue to increase our investment in product
development initiatives and clinical studies. We anticipate that our research and development expenditures as a
percentage of net sales to be approximately 6.5% overall for 2004.

Amortization of Intangible Assets. Non-cash charges associated with the amortization of intangible assets in the
second quarter of 2004 remained relatively constant compared to the second quarter of 2003. Based on the intangible
assets held at June 30, 2004, we expect to recognize amortization expense of approximately $3.7 million for the full
year of 2004, $3.4 million in 2005, $3.2 million in 2006, $2.7 million in 2007, and $2.6 million in 2008.

Stock-based Expense. We recognized $465,000 and $420,000 of stock-based expense in the second quarter of 2004
and 2003, respectively, resulting from the amortization of our deferred compensation and amortization of the fair
value of stock-based incentives granted to consultants. Based upon the stock-based awards outstanding at June 30,
2004, we expect to recognize stock-based expense totaling $1.7 million in 2004, $800,000 in 2005, $600,000 in 2006,
$500,000 in 2007, and $100,000 in 2008.

Other Income, Net. Other income, net, totaled $52,000 and $481,000 in the second quarter of 2004 and 2003,
respectively, and consists primarily of gains and losses resulting from foreign currency fluctuations.

Provision for Income Taxes. We recorded tax provisions of $3.7 million and $2.7 million in the second quarter of
2004 and 2003, respectively. During the second quarter of 2004, our effective tax rate was approximately 35%,
reflecting the effect of certain tax saving initiatives implemented for 2004. We expect our effective tax rate for the full
year of 2004 to be approximately 37%, although the implementation of any additional tax initiatives or changes to tax
legislation could result in further fluctuation in our effective tax rate for the current year.

12
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Comparison of six months ended June 30, 2004 to six months ended June 30, 2003

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, our results of operations expressed as dollar amounts (in
thousands) and as percentages of net sales:

Six Months Ended June 30,
(unaudited)

2004 2003

Amount % of sales Amount % of sales

Net sales $150,533 100.0% $120,774 100.0%
Cost of sales 41,769 27.7% 32,926 27.3%

Gross profit 108,764 72.3% 87,848 72.7%
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative 74,848 49.7% 62,268 51.6%
Research and development 9,506 6.3% 7,443 6.2%
Amortization of intangible assets 1,870 1.2% 1,727 1.4%
Stock-based expense 889 0.6% 829 0.7%
Acquired in-process research and development
costs � � 4,558 3.8%

Total operating expenses 87,113 57.9% 76,825 63.6%

Operating income 21,651 14.4% 11,023 9.1%
Interest expense, net 585 0.4% 578 0.5%
Other income, net (14) � (511) (0.4%)

Income before income taxes 21,080 14.0% 10,956 9.1%
Provision for income taxes 7,778 5.2% 3,957 3.3%

Net income $ 13,302 8.8% $ 6,999 5.8%

Net Sales. The following table sets forth our net sales by product line for the six months ended June 30, 2004 and
2003 (in thousands):

Six Months Ended June 30,
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2004 2003 % change

Hip products $ 50,127 $ 37,192 34.8%
Knee products 45,214 39,419 14.7%
Biologics products 30,700 23,684 29.6%
Extremity products 18,313 15,235 20.2%
Other 6,179 5,244 17.8%

Total net sales $150,533 $120,774 24.6%

The following graphs illustrate our product line sales as a percentage of total net sales for the six months ended
June 30, 2004 and 2003:

Product Line Sales as a Percentage of Total Net Sales
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Net sales totaled $150.5 million during the first half of 2004, representing a 25% increase over prior year. Net sales in
2004 benefited from a favorable foreign currency impact of $4.9 million. The increase in net sales is attributable to the
continued success of our hip and biologics product lines, which grew 35% and 30%, respectively, over the prior year,
and the solid performance of extremity and knee product lines, which grew 20% and 15%, respectively.

In the first half of 2004, domestic net sales grew 23% to $89.1 million, or 59% of total net sales. International sales
totaled $61.4 million, including the aforementioned favorable currency impact of $4.9 million, representing an
increase of 27%.

Cost of Sales. Our cost of sales as a percentage of net sales increased from 27.3% in the first half of 2003 to 27.7% in
the first half of 2004. This increase is attributable to shifts in our geographic and product line sales mix, as well as
increased provisions for excess and obsolete inventories. Additionally, we experienced relatively high manufacturing
production efficiencies that favorably affected our cost of sales percentage during the first quarter of 2003.

Operating Expenses. As a percentage of net sales, our operating expenses decreased by 5.7 percentage points to 57.9%
in the first half of 2004 as compared to 63.6% in the first half of 2003. This decrease is primarily the result of our first
quarter of 2003 acquisition of certain assets related to the ADCON® Gel technology, resulting in approximately
$4.6 million of the purchase price being expensed immediately as acquired in-process research and development costs
during the first quarter of 2003 (see Note 2 to our condensed consolidated financial statements). Additionally, the
year-over-year decrease in operating expenses benefited from a 1.9 percentage point decrease in our selling, general
and administrative expenses as a percentage of net sales, which was primarily a result of our ability to leverage
existing infrastructure while continuing to significantly grow our business. Research and development expenses
remained relatively constant as a percentage of net sales compared to the first half of 2003.

Non-Operating Expenses. Other income, net, totaled $14,000 and $511,000 in the first half of 2004 and 2003,
respectively, and consists primarily of gains and losses resulting from foreign currency fluctuations.

Provision for Income Taxes. We recorded tax provisions of $7.8 million and $4.0 million in the first half of 2004 and
2003, respectively. Our effective tax rate was approximately 37% and 36% for the six month periods ended June 30,
2004 and 2003, respectively.

Seasonality

Our business is seasonal in nature. Historically, demand for our products has been the highest in the first and fourth
quarters. We traditionally experience lower sales volumes in the third quarter than throughout the rest of the year as a
result of the European holiday schedule during the summer.

In addition to the seasonality of our net sales, our first quarter selling, general and administrative expenses include
additional expenses that we incur in connection with the annual meeting held by the American Academy of
Orthopaedic Surgeons. This meeting, which is the largest orthopaedic meeting in the world, features the presentation
of scientific papers and instructional courses for orthopaedic surgeons. During this 3-day event, we display our most
recent and innovative products for these surgeons.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain liquidity measures (in thousands):

June 30,
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December
31,

2004 2003

Cash and cash equivalents $ 72,235 $ 66,571
Working capital 160,336 147,255
Line of credit availability 57,742 57,742

Our cash and cash equivalents increased during the first half of 2004 by $5.7 million, and was attributable to the
generation of $14.0 million of cash from operating activities, which was primarily a result of improved profitability,
and $1.3 million of cash from financing activities, offset by $9.5 million of cash used in investing activities,
principally related to routine capital expenditures.
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Operating Activities. Cash provided by operating activities was $14.0 million for the first half of 2004, as compared to
$26.8 million for the first half of 2003. The decrease in operating cash flow is due to higher working capital
requirements, primarily related to accounts receivable and inventory. Our accounts receivable balance has grown as
compared to the first half of 2003 due in part to a slight shift in our sales mix resulting in a greater percentage of our
sales being attributable to international markets that have traditionally longer collection periods. Additionally, as
discussed below, changes in our factoring agreements in our Italian operations have contributed to our increased
accounts receivable balance. Our inventory balance has grown as a result of increased investments in new product
inventory, higher sales volume, and longer lead times needed in the current year for additional testing required by the
FDA for our DBM-containing products. These additional working capital requirements were partially offset by the
increased profitability of our business.

Investing Activities. Our capital expenditures totaled approximately $9.4 million and $6.2 million in the first half of
2004 and 2003, respectively. Our industry is capital intensive, particularly as it relates to surgical instrumentation.
Historically, our capital expenditures have consisted of purchased manufacturing equipment, research and testing
equipment, computer systems, office furniture and equipment, and surgical instruments. We expect to incur capital
expenditures of approximately $24 million in total for 2004, approximately $2 million of which we anticipate will be
used in the continued implementation of our enterprise computer system and $22 million of which we anticipate will
be used for routine recurring capital expenditures, including surgical instruments.

During the first half of 2003, we used $7.6 million to purchase in-process research and development, tangible assets
and intangible assets, which were primarily related to the ADCON® Gel technology. We are constantly evaluating
opportunities to purchase technology and other forms of intellectual property, and are therefore unable to predict the
timing of future purchases.

Financing Activities. During the first half of 2004, we made $2 million in payments related to borrowings under our
senior credit facility and $1 million in payments related to our long-term capital leases. These payments were offset by
proceeds of $2.9 million from the issuance of common stock under our stock-based employee compensation plans and
proceeds of $1.4 million from an international factoring agreement. In the fourth quarter of 2003, our operating
subsidiary in Italy entered into a new agreement to factor portions of its accounts receivable balances. The cash
proceeds received from this factoring agreement are reflected as cash flows from financing activities in our condensed
consolidated statements of cash flows. We have recorded obligations for the amount of the proceeds received under
this agreement within �Accrued expenses and other current liabilities� in our condensed consolidated balance sheets as
of June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively.

At June 30, 2004, our senior credit facility consisted of $11.3 million in outstanding term loan borrowings and
availability under a revolving credit facility, after considering outstanding letters of credit, totaling $57.7 million. At
our option, borrowings under the credit facility bear interest either at a rate equal to a fixed base rate plus a spread of
.75% to 1.25% or at a rate equal to an adjusted LIBOR plus a spread of 1.75% to 2.25%, depending on our
consolidated leverage ratio. At June 30, 2004, the interest rate under the credit facility was 2.9%.

Other Liquidity Information

We have funded our cash needs since our December 1999 recapitalization through various equity and debt issuances
and through cash flow from operations. Although it is difficult for us to predict future liquidity requirements, we
believe that our current cash balance of approximately $72.2 million, our existing available credit line of
approximately $57.7 million, and our cash flows from our operating activities, which in 2003 totaled approximately
$40 million, will be sufficient to fund our working capital requirements and operations, permit anticipated capital
expenditures, meet our contractual cash obligations, and meet the anticipated increase in our estimated income tax
payments in 2004.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Information on judgments related to our most critical accounting policies and estimates is discussed in our Annual
Report. Certain of our accounting policies require the application of significant judgment by management in selecting
the appropriate assumptions for calculating financial estimates. By their nature, these judgments are subject to an
inherent degree of uncertainty. These judgments are based on our experience, terms of existing contracts, our
observance of trends in the industry, information provided by our customers, and information available from other
outside sources, as appropriate. Actual results may differ from these judgments under different assumptions or
conditions. All of our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 to our
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consolidated financial statements set forth in our Annual Report. There have been no modifications to our critical
accounting policies since December 31, 2003.

Factors Affecting Future Operating Results

In addition to the factors described above, as well as those described in our Annual Report, our future results could be
affected by a variety of factors. The following factor, which was included in our Annual Report, has been updated for
developments during the six months ended June 30, 2004:

We have received FDA clearance for our ALLOMATRIX® line of allograft bone void fillers

In March 2004, we received marketing clearance from the FDA for our ALLOMATRIX® Injectable Putty. This
clearance was obtained based on satisfaction of the FDA�s requirements pursuant to a 510(k) premarket notification
process that began with our submission of a 510(k) in March 2002. This submission was in response to the FDA�s
clarification to all allograft putty providers, including us, that such products should be regulated under the medical
device premarket notification provisions of the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act. Further, in July 2004, we received
marketing clearance from the FDA for our ALLOMATRIX® C, ALLOMATRIX® Custom and ALLOMATRIX® DR
putty products following our submission of a 510(k) in April 2004. The July 2004 notification from the FDA
completes the clearance process for our entire ALLOMATIX® family of products.

Other Regulatory Activities

In May 2004, we received a warning letter from the FDA regarding the CONSERVE® Plus Hip System
investigational device exemption. We responded in June 2004, addressing the issues cited in the warning letter. In a
subsequent June 2004 reply, the FDA notified us that our corrective actions had been accepted.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to interest rate risk arises principally from the variable rates associated with our credit facility. At
June 30, 2004, we had borrowings of $11.3 million outstanding under our credit facility which are subject to a
variable rate, which is currently 2.9%. The carrying value of these borrowings approximates fair value due to the
variable rate. Based on this debt level, an adverse change of 1.0% in the interest rate of all such borrowings
outstanding would cause us to incur an increase in interest expense of approximately $113,000 on an annual basis. We
currently do not hedge our exposure to interest rate fluctuations, but may do so in the future.

Foreign Currency Rate Fluctuations

Fluctuations in the rate of exchange between the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies could adversely affect our
financial results. Approximately 34% and 33% of our total net sales were denominated in foreign currencies during
the six months ended June 30, 2004 and the year ended December 31, 2003, respectively, and we expect that foreign
currencies will continue to represent a similarly significant percentage of our net sales in the future. Costs related to
these sales are largely denominated in the same respective currencies, thereby limiting our transaction risk exposures.
However, for sales not denominated in U.S. dollars, if there is an increase in the rate at which a foreign currency is
exchanged for U.S. dollars, it will require more of the foreign currency to equal a specified amount of U.S. dollars
than before the rate increase. In such cases, if we price our products in the foreign currency, we will receive less in
U.S. dollars than we did before the rate increase went into effect. If we price our products in U.S. dollars and our
competitors price their products in local currency, an increase in the relative strength of the U.S. dollar could result in
our prices not being competitive in a market where business is transacted in the local currency.

A substantial majority of our sales denominated in foreign currencies are derived from European Union countries and
are denominated in the euro. Additionally, we have significant intercompany receivables from our foreign subsidiaries
that are denominated in foreign currencies, principally the euro and the Japanese yen. Our principal exchange rate risk
therefore exists between the U.S. dollar and the euro and between the U.S. dollar and the yen. Fluctuations from the
beginning to the end of any given reporting period result in the revaluation of our foreign currency-denominated
intercompany receivables and payables, generating currency translation gains or losses that impact our non-operating
income/expense levels in the respective period. We do not currently hedge our exposure to foreign currency exchange
rate fluctuations, but may hedge such exposures in the future. Based on our overall exposure for foreign currency
fluctuations at June 30, 2004, an adverse change of 10% in foreign currency exchange rates would reduce our
non-operating income by approximately $450,000 on an annual basis.

Product Liability Insurance Expense Fluctuations

Due to the nature of our industry, we incur significant product liability insurance premiums each year. In recent years,
our industry has experienced significant increases in product liability insurance premiums. In the six months ended
June 30, 2004, product liability insurance expense increased by approximately $270,000 to $1.8 million in comparison
with the six months ended June 30, 2003. If the costs of product liability insurance increase significantly in the future,
our future operating results could be adversely impacted. Based on our current levels of product liability insurance and
the associated premiums as of June 30, 2004, a 10% increase in product liability insurance premiums would reduce
our operating income by approximately $365,000 on an annual basis.
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ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

An evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of the end of the period covered by this report was carried out under the
supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial
officer. Based on that evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that material information relating to us, including our
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to them by others within such entities, particularly during the period in
which this report was prepared, in order to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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PART II � OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

None.

ITEM 2. CHANGES IN SECURITIES, USE OF PROCEEDS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES.

(a) Not applicable.

(b) Not applicable.

(c) Not applicable.

(d) Not applicable.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.

(a) Not applicable.

(b) Not applicable.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

We held our 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders on May 13, 2004. Our stockholders voted on four proposals at the
meeting.

Our stockholders elected eight directors to serve on our Board of Directors for a term of one year. The tabulation of
votes with respect to each director nominee was as follows:

Nominee For Withheld

James T. Treace 27,722,220 2,326,980
F. Barry Bays 27,722,220 2,326,980
Richard B. Emmitt 27,859,665 2,189,535
Laurence Y. Fairey 27,859,770 2,189,430
David D. Stevens 27,452,673 2,596,527
James E. Thomas 27,452,673 2,596,527
Thomas E. Timbie 27,859,665 2,189,535
Elizabeth H.
Weatherman 26,536,225 3,512,975

There were no broker non-votes on the proposal to elect directors.
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Our stockholders approved the amendment to our certificate of incorporation to change the Company�s authorized
shares of common stock from 70,000,000 shares of voting common stock and 30,000,000 shares of non-voting
common stock to 100,000,000 shares of common stock (all of which have voting rights). There were 29,806,388 votes
for, 239,301 votes against, 3,511 votes abstaining from, and no broker non-votes on the proposal.

Our stockholders approved the amendment to our Second Amended and Restated 1999 Equity Incentive Plan to
increase by 1,500,000 the number of shares of common stock available for awards thereunder. There were 20,205,842
votes for, 7,607,564 votes against, 19,357 votes abstaining from, and 2,216,437 broker non-votes on the proposal.

Our stockholders ratified the selection of KPMG LLP as our independent auditor for the year ending December 31,
2004. There were 29,716,985 votes for, 327,130 against, 5,085 votes abstaining from, and no broker non-votes on the
proposal.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION.

Not applicable.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K.

(a) Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as a part of this quarterly report on Form 10-Q or are incorporated herein by
reference:

Exhibit
No. Description

2.1 Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of December 7, 1999, among Wright
Medical Technology, Inc., Warburg Pincus Equity Partners, LP, Wright Acquisition Corp., Inc. and
Wright Medical Group, Inc. (1)

2.2 Asset Purchase and Intellectual Property Assignment Agreement dated as of December 23, 2002, between
Wright Medical Technology, Inc. and Gliatech Inc., as amended by First Amendment to Asset Purchase
and Intellectual Property Assignment Agreement dated as of December 31, 2002, between Wright Medical
Technology, Inc. and Gliatech Inc.(2)

3.1 Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Wright Medical Group, Inc. (1), as amended
by Certificate of Amendment of Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Wright
Medical Group, Inc. (3)

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Wright Medical Group, Inc. (4)

4.1 Registration Rights Agreement dated December 7, 1999, among the investors listed on Schedule I thereto
and Wright Medical Group, Inc. (1)

4.2 Investor Rights Agreement dated December 22, 1999, among the investors listed on Schedule I thereto,
Warburg, Pincus Equity Partners, L.P., and Wright Medical Group, Inc. (1)

4.3 Stockholders Agreement dated December 7, 1999, among the stockholders, the investors listed on
Schedule I thereto and Wright Medical Group, Inc., as amended by Amendment No. 1 to the Stockholders
Agreement, dated August 7, 2000. (1)

4.4 Form of Common Stock certificate. (1)

4.5 Form of Warrant. (1)

10.1 Credit Agreement dated as of August 1, 2001, among Wright Medical Group, Inc., Wright Medical
Technology, Inc., the Lenders named therein, The Chase Manhattan Bank (now named JPMorgan Chase
Bank), as Administrative Agent, Collateral Agent and Issuing Bank, Credit Suisse First Boston, as
Co-Syndication Agent, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Co-Syndication Agent(5), as amended by
Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement dated as of July 31, 2002, among the parties thereto(6),
Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement dated as of May 23, 2003, among the parties thereto(6), and
Amendment No. 3 to Credit Agreement dated as of September 11, 2003, among the parties thereto. (7)

10.2 Third Amended and Restated 1999 Equity Incentive Plan (the �1999 Plan�). (8)
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10.3 Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement, as amended by form of Amendment No. 1 to Incentive Stock
Option Agreement, pursuant to the 1999 Plan. (1)

10.4 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the 1999 Plan. (1)

10.5 Form of Executive Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the 1999 Plan. (3)

10.6 Form of Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the 1999 Plan. (1)

10.7 Form of Sales Representative Award Agreement pursuant to the 1999 Plan. (1)

10.8 Form of Indemnification Agreement between Wright Medical Group, Inc. and its directors and executive
officers. (1)

10.9 Employment Agreement dated as of July 1, 2004, between Wright Medical Technology, Inc. and Laurence
Y. Fairey.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K, continued

Exhibit
No. Description

10.10 Employment Agreement dated as of July 1, 2004, between Wright Medical Technology, Inc. and F.
Barry Bays.

10.11 Employment Agreement dated as of December 11, 2003, between Wright Medical Technology, Inc.
and John K. Bakewell. (9)

10.12 Employment Agreement dated as of July 10, 2001, between Wright Medical Technology, Inc. and
Brian T. Ennis. (1)

10.13 Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 2004, between Wright Medical Technology, Inc. and
R. Glen Coleman.

11 Computation of earnings per share (included in Note 6 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements (unaudited) in Item 1 of Part I of this report).

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) Under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934.

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) Under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934.

32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b)
Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United
States Code.

(1) Incorporated by reference to the Company�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration
No. 333-59732), as amended.

(2) Incorporated by reference to the Company�s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2002.

(3) Incorporated by reference to the Company�s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed May 14, 2004.

(4) Incorporated by reference to the Company�s current report on Form 8-K filed March 31, 2004.

(5) Incorporated by reference to the Company�s current report on Form 8-K filed August 3, 2001.

(6) Incorporated by reference to the Company�s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2003.

(7) Incorporated by reference to the Company�s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2003.
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(8) Incorporated by reference to the Company�s definitive Proxy Statement filed with the Commission on
April 7, 2004.

(9) Incorporated by reference to the Company�s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2003.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

On April 27, 2004, we filed with the SEC a current report on Form 8-K regarding our earnings release for the quarter
ended March 31, 2004.

On June 25, 2004, we filed with the SEC a current report on Form 8-K regarding the appointment of Laurence Y.
Fairey as President and Chief Executive Officer and the appointment of F. Barry Bays as the Executive Chairman of
the Company�s Board of Directors.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: July 30, 2004

WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP, INC.

By:  /s/ Laurence Y. Fairey  
Laurence Y. Fairey 
President and Chief Executive Officer

By:  /s/ John. K. Bakewell  
John K. Bakewell 
Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer (Principal Financial
Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)
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ancial markets and economic conditions have recently been, and continue to be, disrupted and volatile. The debt and
equity capital markets have become exceedingly distressed. These issues, along with significant asset write-offs in the
financial services sector, the re-pricing of credit risk and the current weak economic conditions, have made, and will
likely continue to make, it difficult to obtain debt or equity capital funding.

Due to these factors, there can be no assurance that funding will be available to us if needed, and to the extent required, on acceptable terms. If
funding is not available as needed, or is available only on unfavorable terms, we may be unable to meet our obligations as they come due,
implement our exploratory and development plan, enhance our existing business, complete acquisitions or otherwise take advantage of business
opportunities, or respond to competitive pressures, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our production, revenues, results of
operations, financial position and cash flows.

A substantial or extended decline in oil and natural gas prices may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows and our ability to meet our debt obligations, operating cost requirements, capital expenditure requirements
and other financial commitments.

The price we receive for our oil and natural gas production heavily influences our revenue, profitability, financial condition, cash flow, access to
capital and future rate of growth. Oil and natural gas are commodities and, as a result, their prices are subject to wide fluctuations in response to
relatively minor changes in supply and demand. Historically, the markets for oil and natural gas have been volatile. These markets will likely
continue to be volatile in the future. The prices we receive for our production and the levels of our production depend on numerous factors
beyond our control. These factors include:

� changes in the global supply, demand and inventories of oil;
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� domestic natural gas supply, demand and inventories;

� the actions of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries;

� the price and quantity of foreign imports of oil;
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� the price and availability of liquefied natural gas imports;

� political conditions, including embargoes, in or effecting other oil-producing countries;

� economic and energy infrastructure disruptions caused by actual or threatened acts of war, or terrorist activities, or national security
measures deployed to protect the United States from such actual or threatened acts or activities;

� economic stability of major oil and natural gas companies and the interdependence of oil and natural gas and energy trading
companies;

� the level of worldwide oil and natural gas exploration and production activity;

� weather conditions, including energy infrastructure disruptions resulting from those conditions;

� technological advances effecting energy consumption; and

� the price and availability of alternative fuels.
In addition to decreasing our revenues and cash flows on a per unit basis, lower oil and natural gas prices may reduce the amount of oil and
natural gas that we can produce economically.

We may incur substantial losses and be subject to substantial liability claims as a result of our oil and natural gas operations. Our insurance
coverage may not be sufficient or may not be available to cover some of these losses and claims.

Losses and liabilities arising from uninsured and underinsured events could materially and adversely effect our business, financial condition or
results of operations. Our oil and natural gas exploration and production activities are subject to all of the operating risks associated with drilling
for and producing oil and natural gas, including the possibility of:

� environmental hazards, such as uncontrollable flows of oil, natural gas, brine, well fluids, toxic gas or other pollution into the
environment, including groundwater and shoreline contamination;

� abnormally pressured formations;

� mechanical difficulties;

� fires and explosions;

� personal injuries and death; and
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� natural disasters, especially hurricanes and tropical storms in the Gulf of Mexico region.
Offshore operations are also subject to a variety of operating risks unique to the marine environment, such as capsizing, collisions and damage or
loss from hurricanes, tropical storms or other adverse weather conditions. These conditions can cause substantial damage to facilities and
interrupt production.

Any of these risks could adversely affect our ability to conduct operations or result in substantial losses. We maintain insurance at levels that we
believe are consistent with industry practices and our particular needs, but we are not fully insured against all risks. We may elect not to obtain
insurance for certain risks or to limit levels of coverage if we believe that the cost of available insurance is excessive relative to the risks
involved. In this regard, the cost of available coverage has increased significantly as a result of losses experienced by third-party insurers in the
2005 and 2008 hurricane seasons in the Gulf of Mexico, in particular those resulting from Hurricanes Katrina and Rita in 2005 and Gustav and
Ike in 2008. We believe the cost of coverage will continue to increase and may become prohibitively expensive for smaller independent
operators in the Gulf of Mexico. As a result, our coverage may be limited by longer waiting periods on business interruption insurance and
higher deductibles on property damage and other types of insurance. In addition, pollution and environmental risks generally are not fully
insurable. If a significant accident or other event occurs and it is not fully covered by insurance, it could adversely affect our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows and could reduce or eliminate the funds available for exploration, exploitation and acquisitions or result in
loss of equipment and properties.
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Reserve estimates depend on many assumptions that may prove to be inaccurate. Any material inaccuracies in these reserve estimates or
underlying assumptions will materially affect the quantities and estimated values of our reserves.

The process of estimating oil and natural gas reserves is complex, requiring interpretations of available technical data and many assumptions,
including assumptions relating to economic factors. Any significant inaccuracies in these interpretations or assumptions could materially affect
the estimated quantities and present value of reserves disclosed in this Annual Report.

Estimates of oil and natural gas reserves are inherently imprecise. The preparation of our reserve estimates requires projections of production
rates and timing of development expenditures, analysis of available geological, geophysical, production and engineering data, and assumptions
about oil and natural gas prices, drilling and operating expenses, capital expenditures, taxes and availability of funds. The extent, quality and
reliability of this data can vary. Actual future production, oil and natural gas prices, revenues, taxes, development expenditures, drilling and
operating expenses and quantities of recoverable oil and natural gas reserves will vary from our estimates.

The present value of future net revenues from our proved reserves and the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows referred to
in this Annual Report should not be assumed to represent or approximate the current market value of our estimated proved oil and natural gas
reserves. In accordance with SEC requirements, the estimated discounted future net cash flows from our proved reserves are computed based on
prices and costs as of the date of the estimate. Actual future prices and costs may differ materially from those used in our reserve estimates.

If our estimates of the recoverable reserve volumes on a property are revised downward, or if development costs exceed previous estimates, or if
commodity prices decrease, as discussed elsewhere in these risk factors, we may be required to record an impairment to our property and
equipment, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations. Once recorded, an impairment of
property and equipment may not be reversed at a later date. Our ability to obtain financing depends in part on our estimate of the proved oil and
natural gas reserves for properties that will serve as collateral. If proved reserves on a property are revised downward, our ability to acquire
adequate funding may be significantly reduced.

If we are unable to replace the reserves that we have produced, our reserves and revenues will decline.

Our future success depends on our ability to find, develop, acquire and produce oil and natural gas reserves that are economically recoverable.
Lower commodity prices and increased costs associated with exploration and production may lower the threshold of economic recoverability.
Additionally, we have substantially cut our planned capital expenditures for 2009 in order to conserve cash resources, which will likely
negatively impact our ability to replace existing reserves produced. Without continued successful acquisition or exploration activities, our
reserves and revenues will decline as a result of our current reserves being depleted by production. We may not be able to find or acquire
additional reserves on an economic basis.

Our business requires substantial capital investment and maintenance expenditures, and our capital resources may not be adequate to
provide for all of our cash requirements.

Our operations are capital intensive. Our ability to replace our oil and natural gas production and maintain our production levels and reserves
requires extensive capital investment. Our business also requires substantial expenditures for routine maintenance. We may not have access to
the capital required to maintain our production levels and reserves.

Impediments to transporting our products may limit our access to oil and natural gas markets or delay our production.

Our ability to market our oil and natural gas production depends on a number of factors, including the proximity of our reserves to pipelines and
terminal facilities, the availability and capacity of gathering systems,
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pipelines and processing facilities owned and operated by third parties and the availability of satisfactory oil and natural gas transportation
arrangements. These facilities and systems may be shut-in due to factors outside of our control. If any of these third party services and
arrangements become partially or fully unavailable, or if we are unable to secure such services and arrangements on acceptable terms, our
production could be limited or delayed and our revenues could be adversely affected.

Our ability to collect payments from our partners depends on the partners� creditworthiness.

In operating our oil and natural gas properties, we typically incur costs on behalf of our partners in advance of billing and collecting our partners�
share of those costs. Some of our partners are highly leveraged and may become unable to pay us for their share of the operating costs. Further, a
significant adverse change in the financial and/or credit position of a partner could require us to assume greater credit risk relating to that partner
and could limit our ability to collect joint interest receivables. Failure to receive payments from our partners for their share of costs incurred on
our oil and natural gas properties could adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

We are exposed to counterparty risk through our hedging activities using commodity derivative instruments and through other arrangements
we enter into with financial and other institutions.

We have entered into transactions with counterparties such as commercial banks, investment banks, insurance companies, and other financial
institutions. These transactions expose us to credit risk in the event of default of any of these counterparties. Continued deterioration in the credit
markets may impact the credit ratings of our current and potential counterparties and affect their ability to fulfill their existing obligations to us
and their willingness to enter into future transactions with us.

When we have oil and natural gas derivative contracts outstanding, we have exposure to these financial institutions related to such contracts,
which may protect a portion of our cash flows when commodity prices decline. During periods of low oil and natural gas prices, we may have
heightened counterparty risk associated with these derivative contracts because the value of our derivative positions may provide a significant
amount of cash flow. If a hedging counterparty defaults on its obligations, we may not realize the benefit of some or all of our derivative
instruments.

We also maintain insurance policies with insurance companies to protect us against certain risks inherent in our business. If an insurer defaults
on its obligation to us, we may not be reimbursed for losses we have insured against. In addition, if any lender under our credit facility is unable
to fund its commitment, our liquidity may be reduced by an amount up to the aggregate amount of such lender�s commitment under our credit
facility.

We are subject to extensive governmental laws and regulations, including environmental regulations, which can adversely affect the cost,
manner or feasibility of doing business and could result in restrictions on our operations or civil or criminal liability.

Our exploration, development and production operations, our activities in connection with storage and transportation of oil and other
hydrocarbons and our use of facilities for treating, processing or otherwise handling hydrocarbons and related wastes are subject to various
federal, state and local laws, orders and regulations. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may result in the assessment of
administrative, civil and criminal fines and penalties or the imposition of injunctive relief.

Future compliance with laws and regulations, including environmental, production, transportation, sales, rate and tax rules and regulations, and
any changes to such laws or regulations, may reduce our profitability and have a material adverse effect on our financial position, liquidity and
cash flows. Such laws and regulations may require more stringent and costly waste handling, storage, transport, disposal or cleanup
requirements. See Part I, Item 1, �Business�Environmental Regulations� in this Annual Report.
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If third party pipelines and other facilities interconnected to our natural gas pipelines and facilities become partially or fully unavailable to
transport natural gas and NGLs, our revenues could be adversely affected.

We depend upon third party pipelines and other facilities that provide delivery options to and from our pipelines and facilities. Since we do not
own or operate these pipelines or other facilities, their continuing operation is not within our control. If any of these third party pipelines and
other facilities become partially or fully unavailable to transport natural gas and NGLs, or if the gas quality specification for their pipelines or
facilities changes so as to restrict our ability to transport gas on these pipelines or facilities, our revenues could be adversely affected.

A change in the jurisdictional characterization of some of our assets by federal, state or local regulatory agencies or a change in policy by
those agencies may result in increased regulation of our assets, which may cause our revenues to decline and operating expenses to increase.

Our operations are generally exempt from FERC regulation under the NGA, but FERC regulation still affects our non-FERC jurisdictional
businesses and the markets for products derived from these businesses. The FERC has recently issued Order 704 requiring certain participants in
the natural gas market, including interstate and intrastate pipelines, natural gas gatherers, natural gas marketers, and natural gas processors, that
engage in a minimum level of natural gas sales or purchases to submit annual reports regarding those transactions to the FERC.

Other FERC regulations may indirectly impact our businesses and the markets for products derived from these businesses. The FERC�s policies
and practices across the range of its natural gas regulatory activities, including, for example, its policies on open access transportation, gas
quality, ratemaking, capacity release and market center promotion, may indirectly affect the intrastate natural gas market. In recent years, the
FERC has pursued pro-competitive policies in its regulation of interstate natural gas pipelines. However, we cannot assure you that the FERC
will continue this approach as it considers matters such as pipeline rates and rules and policies that may affect rights of access to transportation
capacity.

Section 1(b) of the NGA exempts natural gas gathering facilities from regulation by the FERC as a natural gas company under the NGA. We
believe that the natural gas pipelines in our gathering systems meet the traditional tests the FERC has used to establish a pipeline�s status as a
gatherer not subject to regulation as a natural gas company. However, the distinction between FERC-regulated transmission services and
federally unregulated gathering services is the subject of substantial, on-going litigation, so the classification and regulation of our gathering
facilities are subject to change based on future determinations by the FERC, the courts, or Congress. In addition, the courts have determined that
certain pipelines that would otherwise be subject to the ICA are exempt from regulation by the FERC under the ICA as proprietary lines. The
classification of a line as a proprietary line is a fact-based determination subject to FERC and court review. Accordingly, the classification and
regulation of some of our gathering facilities and transportation pipelines may be subject to change based on future determinations by the FERC,
the courts, or Congress.

Should we fail to comply with all applicable FERC administered statutes, rules, regulations and orders, we could be subject to substantial
penalties and fines.

Under the EPAct 2005, the FERC has civil penalty authority under the NGA to impose penalties for current violations of up to $1 million per
day for each violation and disgorgement of profits associated with any violation. While our systems have traditionally not been subject to full
FERC regulation, the FERC has adopted regulations that may subject certain of our otherwise non-FERC jurisdictional facilities to FERC annual
reporting. Additional rules and legislation pertaining to those and other matters may be considered or adopted by the FERC from time to time.
Failure to comply with those regulations in the future could subject us to civil penalty liability.
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Competition in the oil and natural gas industry is intense, which may adversely affect us.

We operate in a highly competitive environment for acquiring oil and natural gas properties, marketing oil and natural gas and securing trained
personnel. Many of our competitors possess and employ financial, technical and personnel resources substantially greater than ours, which can
be particularly important in Gulf of Mexico and Gulf Coast onshore activities. Those companies may be able to pay more for productive oil and
natural gas properties and exploratory prospects and to define, evaluate, bid for and purchase a greater number of properties and prospects than
our financial or personnel resources permit. Our ability to acquire additional prospects and to discover reserves in the future will depend on our
ability to evaluate and select suitable properties and to consummate transactions in a highly competitive environment. Also, there is substantial
competition for capital available for investment in the oil and natural gas industry. There can be no assurance that we will be able to compete
successfully in the future in acquiring prospective reserves, developing reserves, marketing hydrocarbons, attracting and retaining quality
personnel and raising additional capital. If we are unable to compete successfully in these areas in the future, our future revenues and growth
may be diminished or restricted.

Recent adverse publicity about us, including our Chapter 11 filings, may harm our ability to compete in a highly competitive environment.

Recent adverse publicity concerning our financial condition may harm our ability to attract new customers and to maintain favorable
relationships with existing customers, suppliers and partners. For example, it may be more challenging for us to engage in risk sharing
transactions, and some of our suppliers may require cash payments rather than extending credit, which adversely affects our liquidity. We may
also experience difficulty attracting and retaining key employees.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

The information contained in Part I, Item 1, �Business� of this Annual Report is incorporated by reference.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

For information regarding legal proceedings, see the information in Note 16, �Commitments and Contingencies� in the consolidated financial
statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant�s Common Stock, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock is currently being quoted for public trading on the Pink Sheets quotations system, an over-the-counter market, under the
symbol �ERPLQ.PK.� Prior to March 30, 2009, our common stock was listed on the NYSE under the symbol �EPL.� The following table sets forth,
for the periods indicated, the range of the high and low sales prices of our common stock as reported by the NYSE (through the First Quarter
2009) and the Pink Sheets quotations system (subsequent to First Quarter 2009).

High Low
($) ($)

2007
First Quarter $ 24.52 $ 16.97
Second Quarter 19.25 15.83
Third Quarter 18.04 12.04
Fourth Quarter 15.39 11.73
2008
First Quarter 12.71 8.04
Second Quarter 16.50 9.24
Third Quarter 15.46 8.00
Fourth Quarter 8.91 1.19
2009
First Quarter 2.34 0.08
Second Quarter 0.45 0.05
Third Quarter (through July 27, 2009) 0.38 0.27

On July 27, 2009, the last reported sale price of our common stock on the Pink Sheets quotations system was $0.35 per share.

As of July 27, 2009, there were approximately 153 holders of record of our common stock.

We have not paid any cash dividends in the past on our common stock and do not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. We
intend to retain earnings for the future operations and development of our business. Any future cash dividends would depend on contractual
limitations, future earnings, capital requirements, our financial condition and other factors determined by our board of directors.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2008, with respect to compensation plans under which our equity securities are
authorized for issuance.

Number of Securities to be
Issued upon Exercise of
Outstanding Options,

Warrants and Rights (1)

Weighted Average
Exercise Price of

Outstanding Options
Warrants and Rights (2)

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for

Future Issuance Under Equity
Compensation Plans

Equity compensation plans approved by
stockholders 2,054,021 $ 15.34 2,685,256
Equity compensation plans not
approved by stockholders �  �  �  

Total 2,054,021 $ 15.34 2,685,256

(1)
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Comprised of 1,620,321 shares subject to issuance upon the exercise of options and 433,700 shares to be issued upon the lapsing of
restrictions associated with restricted share units

(2) Restricted share units and performance shares do not have an exercise price; therefore, this only reflects the weighted-average option
exercise price.

See Note 15 �Employee Benefit Plans� of the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report for further information
regarding the significant features of the above plans.
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Performance Graph

This information is being �furnished� to the SEC and is not deemed to be �soliciting material� or to be �filed� with the SEC or subject to
Regulation 14A or 14C under the Exchange Act or to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and will not be deemed to be incorporated
by reference into any filings we make under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent we specifically
incorporate it by reference into such a filing.

The graph below matches our cumulative five-year total shareholder return on common stock with the cumulative total returns of the S&P 500
index and a customized peer group of seven independent oil and natural gas exploration and production companies. The peer group includes:
ATP Oil & Gas Corp., Callon Petroleum Company, Mariner Energy, Inc., McMoRan Exploration Co., Stone Energy Corp., The Meridian
Resource Corp. and W & T Offshore Inc. In 2008, we removed Bois d�Arc Energy, Inc. from the peer group we used in our 2007 Annual Report
to Stockholders because it was acquired by Stone Energy Corp. during 2008.

The graph tracks the performance of a $100 investment in our common stock, in the peer group, and the index (with the reinvestment of all
dividends) from December 31, 2003 to December 31, 2008. This historic price performance is not necessarily indicative of future stock
performance.

12/03 12/04 12/05 12/06 12/07 12/08
Energy Partners, Ltd. 100.00 145.83 156.76 175.68 84.96 9.71
S&P 500 100.00 110.88 116.33 134.70 142.10 89.53
Peer Group 100.00 120.84 138.47 128.57 142.36 51.62
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table shows selected consolidated financial data derived from our consolidated financial statements, which are set forth in Part II,
Item 8, �Financial Statements and Supplementary Data� of this Annual Report. The data should be read in conjunction with Part II, Item 7,
�Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations� of this Annual Report.

Years Ended December 31,
2008 2007 (1) 2006 2005 2004

(In thousands, except per share data)
Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue $ 356,252 $ 454,649 $ 449,550 $ 402,947 $ 295,447
Income (loss) from operations (2) (25,531) (56,013) (55,343) 132,027 86,068
Net income (loss) (52,212) (79,955) (50,400) 73,095 46,416
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders (3) (52,212) (79,955) (50,400) 72,151 43,017
Basic net income (loss) per common share $ (1.63) $ (2.32) $ (1.32) $ 1.94 $ 1.31
Diluted net income (loss) per common share $ (1.63) $ (2.32) $ (1.32) $ 1.79 $ 1.20
Cash flows provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 184,610 $ 293,889 $ 272,074 $ 269,969 $ 165,074
Investing activities (205,230) (244,421) (358,780) (449,159) (176,713) 
Financing activities 13,747 (43,818) 83,131 92,442 784

As of December 31,
2008 2007 (1) 2006 2005 2004

(In thousands)
Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets $ 766,766 $ 814,856 $ 1,003,845 $ 931,285 $ 647,678
Long-term debt, excluding current
maturities (4) �  484,501 317,000 235,000 150,109
Stockholders� equity 57,119 101,970 372,269 394,593 315,049
Cash dividends per common share �  �  �  �  �  

(1) Amounts in 2007 reflect the sale of substantially all of our onshore South Louisiana assets in June 2007.

(2) The 2008, 2007, 2006 and 2005 income from operations includes business interruption insurance recoveries of $4.2 million, $9.1 million,
$32.9 million and $20.6 million respectively from deferred production at our covered fields resulting from Hurricanes Gustav and Ike in
2008 and Katrina and Rita in 2005.

(3) Net income (loss) available to common stockholders is computed by subtracting preferred stock dividends and accretion of discount of
$0.9 million and $3.4 million from net income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

(4) At December 31, 2008, long-term debt classified as current totaled $497.5 million. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, none of our debt was
classified as current. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, long-term debt classified as current was $0.1 million.

Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

General

We were incorporated in January 1998 and operate in a single segment as an independent oil and natural gas exploration and production
company. Our current operations are concentrated in the shallow to moderate depth waters in the Gulf of Mexico focusing on the areas of
offshore Louisiana as well as the deepwater Gulf of Mexico in depths less than 5,000 feet.
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Recent Events

Background to the Chapter 11 Cases. Prior to our filing the Chapter 11 Cases, a number of events and economic conditions which existed in
2008 negatively impacted our business and liquidity. These events included the following:

� hurricanes in August and September of 2008 damaged third-party production pipelines, causing us to shut-in a significant amount of
our production from September 2008 and continuing into early 2009;

� oil and natural gas prices declined in the fourth quarter of 2008 and have remained at low levels during 2009 relative to the levels in
2008; and

� the worldwide credit and capital markets collapsed in 2008 and the availability of debt and equity financing became significantly
more scarce, thus reducing financial flexibility for most companies, including us.

These factors negatively impacted our business, and led to several circumstances that significantly affected our liquidity, including:

MMS Order and Term Sheet. We received an order from the MMS dated March 23, 2009 (the �MMS Order�). The MMS is part of the United
States Department of the Interior. The MMS Order demanded that we provide to the MMS bonds or other acceptable security in the aggregate
amount of $34.7 million to secure plugging and abandonment liabilities associated with all of our properties on federal leases in the Gulf of
Mexico, with the first installment payment of $1.2 million due no later than March 31, 2009, an additional installment payment of $1.2 million
due no later than June 30, 2009 and the remaining $32.3 million due no later than July 31, 2009. The MMS Order also required us to
immediately shut-in production from all of our wells and facilities located in South Pass Blocks 27 and 28 in the federal portion of our East Bay
field, while properly maintaining these facilities and wells with essential personnel. We promptly completed the shut-in of our federal East Bay
facilities before the end of March, 2009. The production from the wells and properties that we shut-in as a result of the MMS Order constituted
less than 5% of our average daily production as of March 27, 2009. We also made two installment payments of approximately $1.2 million on
March 30, 2009 and on April 29, 2009 in compliance with the MMS Order and the term sheet discussed below. We entered into a binding term
sheet with the MMS on April 30, 2009 to establish terms for us to address our obligations under the MMS Order. Under the term sheet, we and
the MMS have agreed to re-affirm the terms and conditions of the previously established trust account for the benefit of the MMS under the
Decommissioning Trust Agreement dated December 23, 2008 among us, the MMS and JP Morgan Chase Bank, NA, and we had agreed to make
monthly payments to the trust account in the amount of $1.2 million while the Chapter 11 Cases are pending and, on the effective date of the
Plan to make a payment to the trust account equal to $21 million minus the aggregate amount of the monthly payments made into the trust
account while the Chapter 11 Cases are pending (commencing with the payment made on April 29, 2009). The $1.2 million monthly payments
to the trust account remain subject to approval by the Bankruptcy Court. All remaining amounts owed to the trust account to reach the full
funding amount owed to the MMS of $36.1 million (after giving credit to all prior payments made by us) were payable in equal quarterly
installments of approximately $1.2 million, commencing October 31, 2009, with quarterly payments continuing until full funding has occurred.
On June 11, 2009, we received a letter from the MMS requesting an additional $10.95 million in financial assurance based on the actual costs for
partial and completed well plugging and abandonment associated with our federal leases in the East Bay field. On June 24, 2009, we advised the
MMS that we will provide the additional $10.95 million by increasing our quarterly payments identified in the term sheet�such quarterly
payments are presently contemplated to commence on October 31, 2009�which would increase the quarterly payments from approximately $1.2
million to approximately $1.8 million. The MMS agreed to vote in favor of the Plan to the extent its treatment is consistent with the terms set
forth in the term sheet. In addition, the MMS has granted a consensual stay of the MMS Order that will remain in place while the Chapter 11
Cases are pending. This stay, however, does not lift the requirement that our Federal wells and facilities located in South Pass Blocks 27 and 28
remain shut-in. The term sheet with MMS contemplates that, on the effective date of the Plan, the MMS Order will be fully rescinded, and we
will be allowed to resume production from these wells and facilities. However, the terms of the term sheet, as incorporated into the Plan, will
only supersede the MMS Order if the Bankruptcy Court confirms the Plan.
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Reduction of Borrowing Base. In March 2009, we received a notice of redetermination from Bank of America, N.A., the Administrative Agent
under the Credit Agreement, that our borrowing base under the Credit Agreement had been lowered from $150 million to $45 million, resulting
in a borrowing base deficiency of $38 million. Following the receipt of this notice, we considered various alternatives provided for under the
Credit Agreement to repay the borrowing base deficiency and presented to the Administrative Agent the proposal of an installment repayment
plan. The Administrative Agent declined to approve our proposed repayment plan, and as a result, on March 24, 2009, we received a notice from
the Administrative Agent requiring the lump-sum payment by us of $38 million to the bank lenders under the Credit Agreement (the �Lenders�) by
April 3, 2009. On April 3, 2009, we obtained a consent from a majority of the outstanding commitments (the �Required Lenders�) under the Credit
Agreement, extending the due date for the repayment of the borrowing base deficiency until April 14, 2009. On April 14, 2009, we and the
Required Lenders entered into a letter agreement that further extended the due date for repayment of the borrowing base deficiency until May 1,
2009 and provided that the Lenders agree not to exercise any rights and remedies until May 1, 2009 with respect to all outstanding and certain
anticipated defaults by us under the Credit Agreement in exchange for our compliance with specified conditions. On May 1, 2009, we filed the
Chapter 11 Cases.

Default on Senior Unsecured Notes. We were required to make annual interest payments of approximately $45.0 million each year on the Senior
Unsecured Notes, of which $17 million was due on April 15, 2009, and remains unpaid. Our failure to make these interest payments within 30
days of the due date was an event of default under the indenture governing the Senior Unsecured Notes and under the cross-default provision of
the Credit Agreement.

Surety Obligations. As of July 1, 2009, we had outstanding $60.0 million in surety bonds with four different indemnity companies. Our
agreements with these indemnity companies allow them to demand cash reserves or letters of credit to support our outstanding surety bonds. In
December 2008 and the first quarter of 2009, we posted cash collateral to restricted accounts for the benefit of certain of these indemnity
companies totaling $5.7 million in response to requests to provide reserves against our surety bonds with them. If we default on some or all of
these surety bonds, the indemnity companies may cancel our surety bonds. The cancelation of some or all of our surety bonds may result in
violations of other agreements or obligations. As a result, we could be forced to shut in our production or lose our ability to continue to perform
our business operations.

Plan of Reorganization; Plan Support and Lock-Up Agreement. On April 30, 2009, we entered into a Plan Support and Lock-Up Agreement
(the �Plan Support Agreement�) with the holders of more than 66 2/3% (the �Consenting Holders�) of the outstanding principal amount of our Senior
Unsecured Notes. The parties to the Plan Support Agreement had agreed, following receipt of the Disclosure Statement, to vote in favor of and
support a plan or reorganization that is consistent in all material respects with the term sheet attached to the Plan Support Agreement (�Term
Sheet�).

The Plan Support Agreement may be terminated under certain circumstances by the Majority Consenting Holders, including if (1) we fail to file
the Plan or the Disclosure Statement with the Bankruptcy Court on or prior to May 15, 2009; (2) the Bankruptcy Court does not approve the
Disclosure Statement on or prior to June 30, 2009; (3) the Bankruptcy Court does not confirm the Plan on or prior to August 15, 2009; (4) we do
not consummate the restructuring transactions provided for in the Plan on or prior to September 10, 2009, or under certain circumstances, a later
date; (5) we or any of our officers or directors fail to take any action required by the Plan Support Agreement in order to comply with our
fiduciary obligations under applicable law or otherwise; (6) we file or support a plan of reorganization that is different from the Plan or withdraw
or revoke the Plan; (7) we materially breach any of our obligations or fail to satisfy in any material respect any of the terms or conditions under
the Plan Support Agreement; (8) our aggregate liabilities as of the dates specified in the Term Sheet (excluding those liabilities that would be
extinguished by the Plan or otherwise do not survive the consummation of the Plan) materially exceed the amounts we represented in the Term
Sheet; (9) an examiner with expanded powers relating to our business or trustee is appointed in any of the Chapter 11 Cases, any of the Chapter
11 Cases are converted to a case under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code or any of the Chapter 11 Cases
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are dismissed by the Bankruptcy Court; or (10) any definitive documents executed by us in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases in order to
implement the Plan are not consistent in all material respects with the terms set forth in the Term Sheet and otherwise are not reasonably
satisfactory in all material respects to the Majority Consenting Holders. In any event, the Plan Support Agreement terminates on September 15,
2009.

Bankruptcy Proceedings, Plan of Reorganization, Exit Facility and Expected Emergence from Bankruptcy. On May 1, 2009, we and certain
of our subsidiaries filed voluntary petitions (In re: Energy Partners, Ltd., et. al., Case No. 09-32957) for reorganization under Chapter 11 of Title
11 of the United States Code, 11 U.S.C. §§ 101 et seq., as amended, in the Bankruptcy Court. We continue to manage our properties and operate
our business as �debtors-in-possession� under the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court. On June 11, 2009, as part of the Chapter 11 Cases, we filed
with the Bankruptcy Court the Plan and the Disclosure Statement, pursuant to which we solicited votes for the confirmation of the Plan. On
July 31, 2009, we filed with the Bankruptcy Court our Second Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization, as modified as of July 31, 2009 (Plan).
The Plan was formulated after extensive negotiations with committees representing holders of the Senior Unsecured Notes and holders of our
common stock interests. The primary purpose of the Plan is to effectuate a restructuring of our capital structure to strengthen our balance sheet
by reducing our overall indebtedness and improve cash flow.

On July 23, 2009, we announced that the Plan had received the affirmative vote of the holders of our Senior Unsecured Notes and our 8.75%
Senior Notes due 2010 and we consequently proceeded to request confirmation of the Plan from the Bankruptcy Court. On August 3, 2009, after
a confirmation hearing in which the Bankruptcy Court considered the Plan and all objections thereto, it entered into a confirmation order
(Confirmation Order) and confirmed the Plan as of August 3, 2009. The effectiveness of the Plan and our emergence from bankruptcy is subject
to several conditions, including the successful closing of the Exit Facility. We are currently in negotiations with lenders on structuring the Exit
Facility. Fore more information on the conditions to the final effectiveness of the Plan see Item 1A��Risk Factors.�

The material terms of the Plan as confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court on August 3, 2009 include, among other things, that:

� each holder of the Senior Unsecured Notes and our 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010 would receive, in exchange for their total claim
(including principal and interest), their pro rata share of 95% of the common stock to be issued pursuant to the Plan �New EPL
Common Stock� in us upon our emergence from bankruptcy;

� each holder of our common stock interests would receive, in exchange for their total claim, their pro rata share of 5% of the New
EPL Common Stock;

� upon the Effective Date, we shall have access to an exit working capital credit facility (Exit Facility) in form and substance
acceptable to us and a majority in interest of the Consenting Holders (the �Majority Consenting Holders�); and

� we may adopt the 2009 Long Term Incentive Plan under which it may issue shares of restricted new EPL common stock and new
EPL stock options to certain of its employees and certain members of management;

� following the effective date of the reorganization, the sole equity interests in us would consist of (1) New EPL Common Stock issued
to the holders of our Senior Unsecured Notes, the 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010, and holders of our common stock interests,
(2) restricted new EPL common stock issued to certain members of our management, if any, and (3) new EPL stock options to be
issued to certain key employees pursuant to the 2009 Long Term Incentive Plan, if any, which would be exercisable for new EPL
common stock. Collectively, the restricted new EPL common stock issued pursuant to subparagraph (2) and the shares reserved for
the exercise of new EPL stock options pursuant to subparagraph (3) above would in no event exceed 3% of the new EPL common
stock on a fully diluted basis.
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The timing and ultimate outcome of the Chapter 11 proceedings remain uncertain. Issues and matters to be resolved prior to emergence from the
proceedings include negotiation of the Exit Facility.

Consummation of the Plan is conditioned upon, among other things, the closing of the Exit Facility. There can be no assurance that any or all of
the foregoing conditions will be met (or waived) or that the other conditions to consummation, if any, will be satisfied. Accordingly, there can be
no assurance that the Plan will be consummated and the restructuring completed.

The above events and circumstances, together with the worldwide credit markets� collapse in 2008 and the scarcity of available credit from most
major commercial financial institutions, as well as the low trading price of our common stock, make it extremely difficult to find additional
financing, either to refinance our Credit Agreement or our Senior Unsecured Notes or to provide additional liquidity during 2009.

Restructure of Prepetition Employee Arrangements. Prior to May 1, 2009, various incentive and retention plans and agreements existed for
certain of our employees (collectively, the �Arrangements�) that provided for such employees to receive cash payments and/or settlement of equity
compensation awards either upon specified future vesting dates or in connection with a termination of employment. The Plan Support
Agreement contains certain provisions that provide that such Arrangements must be amended, renegotiated, and/or restructured prior to the
effective date of a confirmed plan of reorganization.

As a result of the Plan Support Agreement, the Board of Directors amended the provisions of the Energy Partners, Ltd. Change of Control
Severance Plan (the �Severance Plan) in a manner such that the protected employment period initiated by our change of control under such plans,
as well as the severance benefits potentially payable in connection with certain terminations of employment during that protected period, would
not be triggered by the restructuring contemplated by the Plan Support Agreement.

We also established two programs, a non-insider employee retention program and a senior management employee program (collectively, the
�Retention Programs�). In order for an office employee who participates in either of these programs to receive his or her retention payments, the
participant has to waive and release any and all potential claims against the Company under the prepetition Arrangements.

Finally, the written change of control severance agreements (each a �Severance Agreement�) with two of our executives were terminated by the
Company and each of such executives in exchange for the executives receiving an unsecured claim for the rejection damages.

The total cost of the Retention Programs and the termination of the two Severance Agreements is approximately $2 million of which
approximately $0.5 million has been paid during the bankruptcy proceedings and approximately $1.5 million will be paid when we emerge from
bankruptcy.

NYSE Delisting. In March 2009, the NYSE notified us that our common stock had been suspended from trading and was subsequently delisted
for failure to maintain the required market capitalization minimum criteria. Our common stock is being quoted for public trading on the Pink
Sheets quotations system, an over-the-counter market, under the symbol ERPLQ.PK. This significantly impairs our ability to raise additional
equity financing.

Changes to Production Levels. Due to our current liquidity situation and lower commodity prices, we expect to significantly reduce capital
expenditures during 2009. As a result, we do not expect to be able to maintain our current production levels and we expect our production to
decline significantly during the second half of 2009 primarily due to natural reservoir declines combined with minimal investment in reserve
replacement activities. At our current and anticipated production levels, combined with the current and expected lower sales prices, we do not
expect to have sufficient cash flows to fully fund our operations and meet all of our financial obligations in 2009 as discussed above.
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Changes in the Board of Directors and Management. Commencing in the first half of fiscal 2009 and continuing through the date of this filing,
we have experienced major changes in the management of our company. Our Board of Directors declined from eleven to five members during
the first quarter of 2009. In addition, on March 1, 2009, Joseph T. Leary resigned as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer.
On March 15, 2009, Richard A. Bachmann resigned as our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and we engaged Alan D. Bell as our Chief
Restructuring Officer. In July 2009, we announced the designation of Alan D. Bell as principal executive officer and Tiffany J. Thom as
principal financial officer.

Overview and Outlook

Results of Operations

During the year ended December 31, 2008, we were successful in 16 of 17 drilling operations and 7 of 10 recompletion and workover
operations, much of which was substantially completed before the fourth quarter of 2008. We significantly curtailed our drilling operations
beginning in the fourth quarter of 2008 and expect to remain at significantly curtailed drilling activity levels during 2009 due to the factors
impacting our liquidity addressed under � ��Recent Events.�

Our operating results for the year ended December 31, 2008 compared to the year ended December 31, 2007 reflect a decline in production from
our existing core oil and natural gas properties due primarily to natural reservoir declines, and the impact of the hurricanes which shut in a
significant amount of our production from September 2008 into early 2009, resulting in an average decline of approximately 18%, or 2,800 Boe
per day reduction, from our pre-hurricane production. Our production level also declined due to the sales of producing properties in June 2007
and March 2008. The June 2007 sale of onshore producing properties (the �June 2007 Property Sale�) contributed an average of 2,742 Boe per day
from January 1, 2007, through the June 12, 2007 sale date. These impacts were offset in part by successful drilling results in 2008.

Higher average oil and natural gas prices contributed favorably to our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2008 during which we realized
a 44% increase in our average sales price per Boe (exclusive of derivative instruments) over the year ended December 31, 2007. The precipitous
decline in oil and natural gas prices that began in the third quarter of 2008 is not fully reflected in our realizations for the full 2008 year because
of the significant decline in our production as a result of the hurricanes which impacted production from September 2008 into early 2009.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, our revenues declined 22% as compared to the year ended December 31, 2007 due primarily to declines
in production volumes. The declines in production volumes were due primarily to natural reservoir declines and the impact of hurricanes
addressed above, partially offset by increases in the average sales price of our production during 2008.

In addition to the items addressed above, our net loss of $52.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 reflects:

� impairments of producing oil and natural gas properties of $39.3 million due primarily to the decline in estimated sales prices of oil
and natural gas;

� impairments, due primarily to our cash flow constraints, of capitalized costs of $47.5 million related to two deepwater properties for
which development activities are suspended pending the determination of proved reserves;

� impairments, due primarily to our cash flow constraints, of unevaluated property costs of $20.8 million related to leases expiring in
2009 and 2010;

� losses incurred on abandonment work of $21.7 million primarily related to abandonment work completed in 2008 and estimated cost
of abandonment work planned for 2009;

� a decrease of $68.0 million in dry hole and exploratory costs as compared to 2007 primarily as a result of reduced exploratory
drilling activities;
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� a decrease in lease operating expense (�Loe�) as compared to 2007 resulting primarily from the June 2007 Property Sale and our efforts
to reduce and control these costs in 2008, which decreases were partially offset by uninsured hurricane-related repair costs incurred
in the latter part of 2008; and

� a decrease in general and administrative expenses (�G&A�) as compared to 2007 resulting primarily from G&A during the year ended
December 31, 2007 related to our review of strategic alternatives and the repurchase of 8,700,000 shares of our common stock at
$23.00 per share, refinancing our bank credit facility and acquisition of substantially all of our existing $150 million 8.75% Senior
Notes due 2010 (the �Transactions�).

Cash Flows

Our operating cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2008 were impacted by the hurricanes which caused nearly all of our production to be
shut in at one time or another during the third and fourth quarters of 2008 and by lower oil and natural gas sales prices during the fourth quarter
of 2008.

Our most significant current challenge is addressing our severe liquidity constraints by completing our Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings,
securing exit financing and consummating the Plan. Our near term strategy includes the recapitalization of our balance sheet, targeted cost
reduction activities, and significantly reduced drilling expenditures during 2009. The sales prices of our oil and natural gas will have a
significant impact on our plans beyond 2009. If sales prices continue at the current low levels, our anticipated investment will not be adequate to
maintain our current production levels and we expect our production to decline significantly during the second half of 2009 due primarily to
natural reservoir declines. As further addressed under ��Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources,� at our current and anticipated
production levels, combined with the current and expected lower sales prices, we do not expect to have sufficient cash flows to fund our
operations and meet our financial obligations in 2009.

Tropical Weather Impact

In late August and early September 2008 Hurricanes Gustav and Ike traversed the Gulf of Mexico and adjacent land areas. As a result of these
two hurricanes, nearly all of our production was shut in at one time or another during the third and fourth quarters of 2008. We maintained
insurance coverage for property damage due to windstorms with a deductible of $10 million for each hurricane. For these occurrences, we also
previously maintained business interruption insurance on a portion of our lost revenue on our South Timbalier 41, 42 and 46 properties, which
represented 37% of our 2008 year to date daily production volumes prior to the hurricanes. Recovery of lost revenue from these properties began
accruing in November 2008 when the �no claim period� provided for under the policy elapsed. Through December 31, 2008, the total business
interruption claim on these fields was $4.2 million, all of which is recorded in other receivables at December 31, 2008. All of these amounts
were collected in 2009. In order to mitigate the higher cost of insurance coverages in 2009, we negotiated higher deductibles and significantly
lower aggregates for property damage due to windstorms. Further, we no longer maintain business interruption insurance.

Dispositions

In March 2008, we completed the sale of two Gulf of Mexico Shelf properties located in our Western offshore area (the �March 2008 Property
Sale�) for $15.0 million after giving effect to preliminary closing adjustments. We recorded a gain on the sale of $7.1million.

We have included the results of operations of dispositions discussed above through their closing dates. We experienced substantial revenue and
production fluctuations as a result of these dispositions and the tropical weather impacts discussed above. For these reasons the comparability of
our historical results of operations with future periods may be materially impacted.
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Outlook

We continue to generate prospects and strive to maintain an extensive inventory of drillable prospects in-house and exposure to new
opportunities through relationships with industry partners. Generally, we have attempted to fund any exploration and development expenditures
with internally generated cash flows; however, from time to time during 2007 and more significantly in the fourth quarter of 2008, we used our
bank credit facility to fund working capital needs as further discussed under the caption �Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources.�

While we expect drilling activities in 2009 to be significantly lower than in 2008, our long-term operating strategy is to increase our oil and
natural gas reserves and production while focusing on reducing finding and development costs and operating costs to be competitive with our
industry peers. During the year ended December 31, 2008, we were successful in 16 of 17 drilling operations and 7 of 10 recompletion/workover
operations. Our 2008 drilling program was comprised predominately of lower risk, lower reserve potential opportunities, in order to stabilize
production. Our near-term business strategy includes restructuring and recapitalization of our balance sheet, debt reduction, cost reduction
activities and monitoring the reduction in equipment and service costs before committing to any future drilling programs. We have not
established a capital expenditure budget for 2009 while assessing the results of these undertakings and the Chapter 11 Cases. We expect that any
funding that may be approved for drilling in 2009 would be allocated primarily to lower risk development and exploitation opportunities.

Our revenue, profitability and future growth rate depend substantially on factors beyond our control, such as tropical weather, economic,
political and regulatory developments and availability of other sources of energy. Oil and natural gas prices historically have been volatile and
may fluctuate widely in the future. Sustained periods of low prices for oil and natural gas could materially and adversely affect our financial
position, our results of operations, the quantities of oil and natural gas reserves that we can economically produce and our access to capital. See
�Risk Factors� in Item 1A for a more detailed discussion of these risks.

We use the successful efforts method of accounting for our investment in oil and natural gas properties. Under this method, we capitalize lease
acquisition costs, costs to drill and complete exploration wells in which proven reserves are discovered and costs to drill and complete
development wells. Exploratory drilling costs are charged to expense if and when the well is determined not to have found reserves in
commercial quantities. Seismic, geological and geophysical, and delay rental expenditures are expensed as incurred. We conduct many of our
exploration and development activities jointly with others and, accordingly, recorded amounts for our oil and natural gas properties reflect only
our proportionate interest in such activities.

Unless specifically addressed, any discussion in this Part II, Item 7 �Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations� of our �intent,� �plans� or �expectations� or similar expressions of forward-looking statements may not consider the potential impact of the
restructuring and recapitalization of our balance sheet in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases or any acquisition or merger of or by us or
changes in plans and/or intentions resulting from changes in our management and/or Board of Directors that may result from the Chapter 11
Cases.
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Results of Operations

The following table presents information about our oil and natural gas operations.

Years Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006

Net production (per day):
Oil (Bbls) 5,608 8,769 8,238
Natural gas (Mcf) 45,070 92,167 106,042
Total (Boe) 13,120 24,130 25,912
Average sales prices, excluding impact of derivatives:
Oil (per Bbl) $ 97.42 $ 66.78 $ 59.78
Natural gas (per Mcf) 9.46 7.15 6.98
Total (per Boe) 74.15 51.59 47.57
Impact of derivatives (1):
Oil (per Bbl) $ 1.29 $ (5.11) $ �  
Natural gas (per Mcf) (0.03) 0.09 (0.02) 
Oil & natural gas revenues (in thousands):
Oil $ 199,948 $ 213,751 $ 179,752
Natural gas 156,074 240,589 269,434

Total 356,022 454,340 449,186
Average costs (per Boe):
Loe $ 13.65 $ 7.94 $ 6.22
Depreciation, depletion, amortization and accretion (DD&A) 22.43 19.82 21.43
Taxes, other than on earnings 2.34 1.12 1.44
G&A 9.10 7.01 12.70
Increase (decrease) in oil and natural gas revenue (net of hedging) due to:
Change in prices of oil $ 98,201 $ 21,053
Change in production volumes of oil (112,004) 12,946

Total increase (decrease) in oil sales (13,803) 33,999
Change in prices of natural gas 77,739 7,351
Change in production volumes of natural gas (162,254) (36,196) 

Total decrease in natural gas sales (84,515) (28,845) 
Total estimated net proved reserves:
Oil (Mbbls) 21,637 28,123 29,914
Natural gas (Mmcf) 90,808 103,118 170,123
Total (Mboe) 36,771 45,309 58,268
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows (in thousands) $ 416,171 $ 1,092,935 $ 893,474

(1) See Other Income and Expense section for further discussion of the impact of derivative instruments.
Year Ended December 31, 2008 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2007

Revenues and Net Loss

Years Ended December 31,
      2008            2007      $ Change % Change

(in thousands)
Oil and natural gas revenues $ 356,022 $ 454,340 $ (98,318) (22)% 
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Although our average oil and natural gas sales prices increased 44% during the year ended December 31, 2008, the increase was more than
offset by 46% lower production primarily due to deferred production from shut-in pipelines during the third and fourth quarters of 2008 as a
result of Hurricanes Gustav and Ike, which reduced our Boe per day by approximately 2,800 for the year ended December 31, 2008, natural
reservoir declines, the June 2007 Property Sale (that contributed 2,742 Boe per day in 2007 through the June 12, 2007 sale date), and the March
2008 Property Sale (that contributed 300 Boe per day in 2008 through the March 27, 2008 sale date). We expect our revenues to decline
significantly in 2009 due to significantly lower forecasted oil and natural gas sales prices as compared to 2008. We expect production in 2009 to
decline compared to 2008 production as continued natural reservoir declines from our core producing properties and the impact of curtailed
spending on reserve replacement in 2009 are expected to impact our production volumes. Our forecasts do not consider any significant
production disruptions that may occur due to hurricanes or other catastrophic events, which could result in significant reductions in our
production, revenues and cash flows from operations.

Our net loss for 2008 is due primarily to significant impairments, the impact of the 2008 hurricane season on our production, the decline in the
fourth quarter of 2008 of oil and gas prices, and losses on abandonment work performed in 2008 and planned for 2009. These and other factors
impacting our net loss for the period are addressed below. We expect to continue to incur net losses in 2009 due to declining production levels
and projected low sales prices for our oil and natural gas. If actual experience does not improve significantly from the assumptions in our
forecast, especially regarding sales prices for oil and natural gas, our net loss for 2009 could be significant and we may incur additional material
impairments of our assets. Under ��Recent Events� above is an expanded discussion of the impact of these challenges on our business.

In addition to the factors addressed above, the reduction in net loss for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2007 was also attributable to gains on derivative instruments in 2008 and lower Loe, exploration expenses, DD&A and G&A for
the reasons summarized below.

Offsetting these items was a loss on abandonment of $21.7 million in 2008 resulting from the increase in abandonment activities in 2008 and
estimated cost of abandonments scheduled for 2009. In addition, estimated recoveries from business interruption insurance were $4.2 million in
2008, a decline from the $9.1 million recorded in 2007. Additionally, for the year ended December 31, 2007, our total costs and expenses were
reduced by a gain on insurance recoveries of $8.1 million, the impact of which was more than offset by the loss on early extinguishment of debt
of $10.8 million.

Our 2008 tax benefit resulting from the loss for the period reflects a valuation allowance of $7.5 million against our deferred tax assets, resulting
in an effective tax rate on our 2008 net loss of 24.6%. We have recorded significant net losses in the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and
2006. As a result, we are unable to conclude that it is more likely than not we will realize all of our deferred tax assets, which relate primarily to
net operating losses, offset by deferred tax liabilities related to basis differences in our oil and natural gas properties. We recorded a valuation
allowance for the amount by which deferred tax assets exceeded deferred tax liabilities as of December 31, 2008.
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Operating Expenses

Operating expenses consist of the following:

Years Ended December 31,
$ Change % Change      2008            2007      

(in thousands)
Loe $ 65,533 $ 69,919 $ (4,386) (6)% 
Exploration expenditures 30,199 98,209 (68,010) (69)% 
Impairments of properties 110,403 114,913 (4,510) (4)% 
DD&A 107,688 174,541 (66,853) (38)% 
G&A 43,706 61,724 (18,018) (29)% 
Taxes, other than on earnings 11,245 9,900 1,345 14% 
Loss on abandonment 21,695 2,788 18,907 NM
Other (4,438) (12,248) 7,810 64% 

NM=Notmeaningful
The decrease in Loe for the year ended December 31, 2008 compared to the year ended December 31, 2007 is primarily due to a general decline
from a reduction in producing properties as a result of the June 2007 Property Sale and the March 2008 Property Sale, fewer workovers in 2008,
and ongoing efforts to reduce Loe costs during 2008. These reductions were partially offset by increases in Loe related to the impact of the 2008
hurricanes. On a per Boe basis, costs have increased due primarily to decreased production volumes and hurricane-related costs in 2008.

The decrease in exploration expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2008 compared to the year ended December 31, 2007 is primarily due
to lower dry hole costs due to the increased success in our 2008 drilling activity which focused more on developmental drilling as compared to
the higher level of exploratory drilling activity in 2007. Exploratory expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2008 is comprised of $21.8
million of dry hole costs primarily for two exploratory wells or portions thereof which were found to be not commercially productive and $8.4
million of seismic expenditures and delay rentals. The expense in the year ended December 31, 2007 is comprised of $87.1 million of dry hole
costs for 11 exploratory wells or portions thereof which were found to be not commercially productive and $11.1 million of seismic expenditures
and delay rentals. Our exploration expenditures and dry hole costs vary depending on the amount of our planned capital expenditures dedicated
to exploration activities, the cost of services to drill wells and the level of success we achieve in exploratory drilling activities.

Our exploratory expenditures and dry hole costs will vary depending on the amount of our planned capital expenditures dedicated to exploration
activities and the level of success we achieve in exploratory drilling activities. We significantly reduced our exploratory drilling expenditures in
2008. We expect our exploratory and dry hole costs to decline further in 2009, due to our planned significant reduction in exploratory spending.

Impairments of oil and natural gas properties were $110.4 million in 2008, of which $108.6 million was recorded during the fourth quarter. The
impairment expense was primarily related to the deepwater prospects addressed below ($47.5 million), producing fields (primarily five) which
were determined to have future net cash flows less than their carrying values due primarily to commodity price declines and reservoir
performance resulting in the write down of these properties to their estimated fair values as of December 31, 2008 ($39.3 million) and the
undeveloped properties addressed below ($20.8 million). We periodically assess our oil and natural gas assets for impairment based on factors
described under the caption �Discussion of Critical Accounting Estimates.� In 2009, we have observed deterioration in the forward pricing curve
for natural gas and for oil. We expect that this factor, among other factors, will result in impairment reviews in connection with the preparation
of our quarterly financial statements in 2009, which may result in additional material impairments.
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Due to the factors impacting our liquidity addressed under the caption �General� above, our plans to mitigate those impacts, and uncertainties
regarding our ability to obtain additional capital to proceed with our drilling and development plans in 2009 and beyond, we determined that we
may not be able to fund our share of development costs related to two of our deepwater prospects, Mississippi Canyon 292 and Mississippi
Canyon 204, each of which is suspended pending determination of proved reserves related primarily to the generation of a development plan
including economic processing and handling agreements. As a result, we assessed these properties for impairment and, based on financial
constraints, determined that the leases were impaired. We recorded a charge to earnings for the carrying value of these deepwater prospects of
$47.5 million. We maintain our rights to participate in the development of these discoveries until we elect not to proceed with such development
plans as may be proposed by the operator of the properties in accordance with the applicable joint operating agreements. If we elect not to
proceed, we will lose our rights to participate in the deep zones in these leases. Additionally, we recorded an impairment charge of $5.0 million
to write-off the carrying value of a south Louisiana shallow-water well for which drilling operations were suspended during 2008 because we
relinquished our interest in the lease.

Applying similar criteria to our portfolio of undeveloped leases, we determined that we may not be able to fund drilling activities required to
maintain our unevaluated leases that expire in 2009 and 2010. As a result, we assessed these properties for impairment, and based on financial
constraints, determined that the leases are impaired.

Our 2007 impairment expense totaled $114.9 million related to 17 fields. Eight fields with a net book value of $79.4 million experienced
mechanical difficulties or facility requirements and it was determined that significant capital would be needed to extend their economic lives
and, with our decreased capital budget, we decided that our capital would be better deployed to other projects. Another six fields with a net book
value of $15.9 million underperformed and depleted earlier than anticipated. The remaining three fields had estimated future net cash flows less
than their carrying values due to performance issues and reserve revisions, resulting in impairment expense of $19.6 million to write down the
assets to their estimated fair values at December 31, 2007.

The decrease in depreciation, depletion and amortization (�DD&A�) was primarily due to decreased production volumes from deferred production
caused by Hurricanes Gustav and Ike, natural reservoir declines, the sale of substantially all of our onshore South Louisiana assets in June 2007
and the sale of two of our Western Gulf of Mexico properties in March 2008. We anticipate that our DD&A in 2009 will increase in total and on
a per Boe basis. While the material impairments recorded in 2008 would typically result in a decline in DD&A in 2009, a significant portion of
the impairments recorded in 2008 were related to non-producing properties (undeveloped properties and properties for which development
activities were suspended) for which no DD&A was recorded in 2008.

G&A decreased primarily due to $9.4 million of financial and legal advisory fees that were incurred during the prior year ended December 31,
2007 related to the exploration of strategic alternatives and the Transactions (see �Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources�Capital
Transactions� below). Included in G&A is cash and non-cash stock based compensation of $6.5 million and $9.4 million in the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Our G&A includes $13.0 million and $12.7 million related to insurance coverage in 2008 and 2007,
respectively, of which $11.0 million and $10.0 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively, is related to insurance for our oil and natural gas
producing properties, including business interruption and property damage insurance coverages.

Taxes, other than on earnings increased for the year ended December 31, 2008 compared to the year ended December 31, 2007, due to higher
average sales prices for oil (which is taxed based on value) offset by reduced production of oil and natural gas due to the sale of onshore
properties in 2007. These taxes may fluctuate from period to period depending on our production volumes from non-federal leases and
commodity prices received.
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During 2008, we began to plug and abandon a significant number of wellbores and began decommissioning associated with platforms,
structures, pipelines and facilities on leases in the Gulf of Mexico that are no longer producing and were required, in most instances, to be
performed during that period under MMS requirements. The level of abandonment activity we performed in 2008 was significantly higher than
in any past period and was performed at a high pricing point in the market for such services with equipment, in some cases, that exceeded the
capability of less costly equipment capable of performing such operations. Further, because we performed this work at a suboptimal time of the
year, we were significantly impacted by weather delays. We incurred costs significantly in excess of our recorded asset retirement obligation
(�ARO�) for this work. As a result of this experience, and our cost experience on other 2008 abandonment activities, as well as our efforts to
estimate our planned work for 2009, we revised our estimated abandonment costs where appropriate to reflect recent experience in determining
the estimated fair value of our abandonment obligations. The total impact of our revisions to ARO resulted in a loss on abandonment of $21.7
million in 2008. Revisions to ARO that did not result in an impact to 2008 earnings were recorded as additions to our oil and natural gas
properties account and are amortized to DD&A over remaining units-of-production.

Other operating expenses consist primarily of net gains on asset sales in 2008 and 2007 and gains from insurance recoveries in 2007.

Other Income and Expense

Years Ended December 31,
      2008            2007      $ Change % Change

(in thousands)
Interest expense $ (46,533) $ (46,213) $ (320) (1)% 
Loss on early extinguishment of debt �  (10,838) 10,838 NM
Gain (loss) on derivative instruments 2,053 (13,083) 15,136 116% 

NM=Notmeaningful
The increase in interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2008 compared to the year ended December 31, 2007 was primarily
attributable to an increase in average borrowings due to the issuance of $450 million in aggregate principal amount of Senior Unsecured Notes in
April 2007 combined with borrowings on our bank credit facility, offset by the repurchase of $145.5 million in aggregate principal amount of the
$150 million 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010 completed in May 2007.

A loss on early extinguishment of debt for the refinancing of the bank credit facility and the repurchase of the 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010 of
approximately $10.8 million was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2007. This loss includes the write-off of previously capitalized
unamortized deferred financing costs related to the previous bank credit facility and the $150 million 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010 as well as
the consent fees relating to the tender offer for the $150 million 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010. Due to the reduction in our borrowing base in the
first quarter of 2009, we expect to record a reduction in the deferred financing costs related to the bank credit facility of approximately $1
million in 2009, which will increase interest expense by the same amount.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, gain (loss) on derivative instruments includes an unrealized gain of $19.1 million due to the change in
fair market value of derivative instruments to be settled in the future and a loss of $17.0 million on contracts settled during 2008 for a total net
gain of $2.1 million. For the year ended December 31, 2007, gain (loss) on derivative instruments includes an unrealized loss of $13.7 million
due to the change in fair market value of derivative instruments to be settled in the future and a gain of $0.6 million on contracts settled during
2007 for a total net loss of $13.1 million.
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Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2006

Revenues and Net Loss

Years Ended December 31,
$ Change % Change      2007            2006      

(in thousands)
Oil and natural gas revenues $ 454,340 $ 449,186 $ 5,154 1% 
Net loss (79,955) (50,400) (29,555) (59)% 
Our oil and natural gas revenues increased during the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the year ended December 31, 2006. Although
production decreased primarily due to the sale of substantially all of our onshore South Louisiana assets in June 2007 (approximately 3,175 Boe
per day) combined with natural reservoir declines, we had a slight increase in oil production, which had a higher price than natural gas on an
equivalent basis, during the year as well as an increase in both oil and natural gas prices as illustrated in the above tables.

Our increased loss for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the year ended December 31, 2006 was largely due to higher lease
operating expenses, exploration expenditures including dry hole costs and impairments, loss on derivative instruments and financing costs
discussed below. This increased net loss was partially offset by lower G&A in 2007 as compared to 2006, which included expenses of $54.5
million relating to the terminated Merger Agreement with Stone (as discussed and defined below), and the $6.5 million gain recorded in 2007 on
the sale of substantially all of our onshore South Louisiana assets in 2007.

As a result of Hurricanes Katrina and Rita and three other hurricanes that traversed the Gulf of Mexico and adjacent land areas in 2005, nearly
all of our production was shut in at one time or another during the third quarter of 2005 and into 2006. We maintained business interruption
insurance during this period on our significant properties, including our East Bay properties on which recovery of lost revenue continued to
accrue through October 2006. We recognized a total of $62.6 million for business interruption recoveries of which $32.9 million and $20.6
million were recorded in 2006 and fourth quarter of 2005, respectively. An additional $9.1 million of business interruption recoveries was
recorded in the first quarter of 2007 upon final settlement of the Hurricane Katrina claim. All insurance receivables related to these hurricanes
have been collected.

On June 22, 2006, we entered into a merger agreement (�Merger Agreement�) with Stone Energy Corporation (�Stone�). Prior to entering into the
Merger Agreement, Stone terminated its then existing merger agreement with Plains Exploration Company (�Plains�). Under the terms of the
terminated merger agreement between Stone and Plains, Plains was entitled to a termination fee of $43.5 million, which was advanced by us to
Plains. This proposed merger was not consummated and the termination fee was recorded in G&A expenses in 2006 (see additional discussion
under Operating Expenses below).

Operating Expenses

Years Ended December 31,
      2007            2006      $ Change % Change

(in thousands)
Loe $ 69,919 $ 58,808 $ 11,111 19% 
Exploration expenditures 98,209 51,745 46,464 90% 
Impairments of properties 114,913 84,680 30,233 36% 
DD&A 174,541 202,734 (28,193) (14)% 
G&A 61,724 120,113 (58,389) (49)% 
Taxes other than on earnings 9,900 13,632 (3,732) (27)% 
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The increase in Loe for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the year ended December 31, 2006 is primarily a result of new wells in
new fields ($1.4 million), workover, maintenance and pipeline repair costs and equipment mobilization costs ($7.0 million), and various
increases in fields with increased production. These increases were partially offset by the sale of our onshore South Louisiana assets ($1.5
million decrease). Contributing to the increase on a per Boe basis were production declines from existing fields with fixed costs and the
workover, maintenance and pipeline repair costs discussed.

The increase in exploration expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the year ended December 31, 2006 is primarily due
to our lower success rate and the higher average cost for each exploratory well. The expense in 2007 is comprised of $87.1 million of costs for
11 exploratory wells or portions thereof which were found to be not commercially productive and $11.1 million of seismic expenditures and
delay rentals. The expense in 2006 is comprised of $37.5 million of costs for six exploratory wells or portions thereof which were found to be
not commercially productive and $14.2 million of seismic expenditures and delay rentals.

During 2007, we recorded impairments of properties in 17 fields. Eight fields with a net book value of $79.4 million experienced mechanical
difficulties or facility requirements and we determined that significant capital would be needed to extend their economic lives. With our
decreased capital budget in 2008, we decided that this capital would be better deployed to projects with more potential. Another six fields with a
net book value of $15.9 million underperformed and fully depleted earlier than anticipated. The remaining three fields were determined to have
future projected cash flows of less than their net book values due to performance issues and reserve revisions; therefore, we recorded an
impairment charge of $19.6 million to write down the assets to their fair values during 2007. During 2006, we recorded impairments of
properties in eight fields, four of which were onshore assets acquired during an acquisition in January of 2005. Three of these onshore fields
along with three offshore fields experienced downward revisions of recoverable reserves at December 31, 2006. These revisions along with
decreased oil and natural gas prices resulted in impairments of $52.1 million on these assets. We elected to release the lease on the remaining
onshore field. One other offshore field experienced mechanical difficulties. We determined that significant capital would be needed to extend its
economic life and that this capital would be better deployed to projects with more potential. We wrote off the net book value of these assets of
$27.0 million during 2006.

The decrease in DD&A for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the year ended December 31, 2006 was primarily due to the sale of
substantially all of our onshore South Louisiana assets in June 2007 ($55.1 million) partially offset by higher DD&A on our Greater Bay
Marchand area due to increased production and capital expenditures in 2007 ($31.8 million).

The overall decrease in G&A for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the year ended December 31, 2006 was primarily attributable
to expenses of $54.5 million incurred during 2006 related to the terminated Merger Agreement with Stone as well as legal and financial advisory
costs of $15.0 million in 2006 associated with an unsolicited offer from Woodside Petroleum, Ltd. (�Woodside�) and the ensuing strategic
alternatives process. In 2007, we expensed a total of approximately $9.4 million in financial and legal advisory fees related to the exploration of
strategic alternatives and the unsolicited Woodside offer. In addition, G&A included stock-based compensation of $9.4 million and $10.7
million in the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The decrease in taxes, other than on earnings for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the year ended December 31, 2006 was due to
the sale of substantially all of our onshore South Louisiana assets in June 2007 partially offset by a sharp increase in oil prices during the year.

47

Edgar Filing: WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 69



Table of Contents

Other Income and Expense

Years Ended December 31,
      2007            2006      $ Change % Change

(in thousands)
Interest expense $ (46,213) $ (24,570) $ (21,643) (88)% 
Loss on early extinguishment of debt (10,838) �  (10,838) NM
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments (13,083) �  (13,083) NM

NM=Notmeaningful
The increase in interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the year ended December 31, 2006 is primarily attributable
to a net increase in average borrowings due to the issuance of the Senior Unsecured Notes in April 2007 offset by the repurchase of $145.5
million in aggregate principal amount of the 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010 completed in May 2007, combined with increased borrowings on our
bank credit facility. Also included in the expense is a $2.3 million commitment fee paid in April 2007 for the availability of a bridge loan, which
was not utilized, to facilitate the refinancing.

A loss on early extinguishment of debt for the refinancing of the bank credit facility and the repurchase of the 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010 was
recorded during the year ended December 31, 2007. This loss includes the write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs related to the bank
credit facility and the 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010 as well as the consent fees relating to the tender for the 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, unrealized loss on derivative instruments includes an unrealized loss of $13.7 million due to the change
in fair market value of contracts to be settled in the future and a gain of $0.6 million in contracts settled during the year.

Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources

Years Ended December 31,
2008 2007 $ Change % Change

(in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 184,610 $ 293,889 $ (109,279) (37)% 
Net cash used in investing activities (205,230) (244,421) 39,191 16% 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 13,747 (43,818) 57,565 131% 
Analysis of 2008 Cash Flows

The decrease in our 2008 cash flows from operations primarily reflects the impact of the hurricanes on our production during 2008, offset by
higher average sales prices for our production. Our accounts receivable declined by 38% from 2007 to 2008, reflecting the decline in production
and the precipitous decline in oil and natural gas sales prices as of December 31, 2008. Though we incurred $24.6 million in abandonment
activities in 2008, our asset retirement obligation increased due primarily to revisions of abandonment estimates in 2008. Despite a significant
decline in drilling activity in the fourth quarter of 2008, our accounts payable and accrued expenses have not declined meaningfully as compared
to December 31, 2007, in part due to our efforts to increase the time period between when costs are incurred and when we make cash payments
to vendors.

Net cash used in investing activities declined in 2008 as a result of curtailed capital expenditures in response to declining oil and natural gas
sales prices, contraction in the credit markets and reduced liquidity resulting from the MMS request for supplemental bonding or other
acceptable security. In 2008, net cash used in investing activities consisted primarily of oil and natural gas exploration and development
expenditures and lease purchases offset by proceeds of $15.6 million primarily from the March 2008 property sale. Dry hole costs resulting from
exploratory expenditures are included in investing activities unless the expenditures do not result
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in the acquisition of an asset, such as geological and geophysical costs, costs of carrying and retaining undeveloped properties, and dry hole
costs. Net cash used in investing activities in 2007 consisted primarily of oil and natural gas exploration and development expenditures offset by
proceeds from property sales of $68.6 million as well as proceeds from insurance recoveries of $19.6 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities in 2008 reflects net proceeds from long term debt as a result of increased utilization of our credit
facility to fund working capital shortfalls caused by the decline in production and the precipitous decline in oil and natural gas sales prices in the
fourth quarter of 2008. Net cash used in financing activities in 2007 reflects the purchase of $200.9 million of treasury stock, refinancing of our
revolving credit facility and acquisition of substantially all of the 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010 with the proceeds from the issuance of the
Senior Unsecured Notes.

We have not paid any cash dividends in the past on our common stock and do not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. We
intend to retain earnings for the future operations and development of our business. Any future cash dividends would depend on contractual
limitations, future earnings, capital requirements, our financial condition and other factors determined by our board of directors.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The content under ��Recent Events� above addresses important factors affecting our financial condition, liquidity and capital resources including
the Chapter 11 Cases, impact of the significant reduction in our borrowing base in 2009, debt compliance violations, defaults on our bank credit
facility and Senior Unsecured Notes, and surety obligations and anticipated decline in production and cash flows.

At December 31, 2008, our unrestricted cash on hand was $2.0 million and we had $43 million in borrowings on our bank credit facility.

During the quarter ended December 31, 2008, and continuing into the first quarter of 2009, we used our bank credit facility primarily to bridge a
decline in our operating cash flows resulting from damage caused by Hurricanes Gustav and Ike to third party sales pipelines, which has
prevented us from bringing a significant part of our production to market during the third and fourth quarters of 2008 and the decline in oil and
natural gas prices during that time. We also incurred $24.6 million in abandonment activities in 2008. Despite a significant decline in drilling
activity in the fourth quarter of 2008, our accounts payable and accrued expenses have not declined meaningfully as compared to December 31,
2007, in part due to our efforts to increase the time period between when costs are incurred and when we make cash payments to vendors.

We maintain deposits in a trust for future abandonment costs at our East Bay property. The trust was originally funded with $15 million and,
with accumulated interest, has increased to $16.7 million at December 31, 2008. We may draw from the trust upon completion of qualifying
abandonment activities at our East Bay property. We have made draws to date of $3.4 million, all of which were made in 2009. Amounts on
deposit in the trust account are reflected in other assets.

We expect our cash flows from operations to decline in 2009 as a result of lower anticipated sales prices for oil and natural gas and, due to our
plans to reduce capital expenditures and the impact of those reductions on reserve replacement and production enhancement. We expect our cash
used in investing activities will decline significantly as a result of our plans to reduce capital expenditures in 2009. Prior to receiving the reduced
borrowing base redetermination on our bank credit facility, we had forecasted to use our bank credit facility to continue funding projected
working capital shortfalls during 2009. As a result of the decline in our borrowing capacity, our strategic alternatives are significantly limited
and will require that we implement and execute the Plan in order to continue to meet our obligations.

Our exploration and development expenditures for 2008 totaled $205.1 million. We expect that our exploration and development activities in
2009 will be significantly lower than in prior years. For 2009, we
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expect exploration and development expenditures to total less than $10 million, which we expect would be directed primarily toward selective
efforts to maintain existing production levels. Our planned expenditures for 2009 do not include any acquisitions or deepwater activities. We
expect that any funding that may be approved for drilling in 2009 would be allocated primarily to lower risk development and exploitation
opportunities. We also expect to incur abandonment costs of approximately $18.1 million in 2009 on several of our properties in accordance
with the applicable regulatory requirements. We expect the abandonment work related to our East Bay field will be funded in part by expected
draws of approximately $3.4 million in 2009 from restricted escrow funds previously set aside for this work.

The level of our planned capital expenditures is based on many factors, but the primary items driving capital expenditure decisions currently
include obligations for our cash flows related to principal and interest on our currently outstanding debt and, if the Plan is approved as proposed,
our potential future debt, other existing obligations including reducing our working capital deficit, estimates for oil and natural gas sales prices,
general industry conditions including the level of pricing for equipment and services, and the anticipated level of participation by other working
interest owners and the costs of drilling rigs and other oilfield goods and services. We believe that potential industry partners, including those
with significantly more resources than us, may choose to defer significant projects and capital expenditures in an effort to preserve cash and
strengthen their balance sheets. As a result, we believe the likelihood that we will be able to partner with other working interest owners to
explore and develop new opportunities in the near term is diminished as compared to our past expectations.

Based on our planned capital expenditures, we expect that we will not be able to replace reserves at a rate that will allow us to maintain
production levels. If actual experience does not improve significantly from the assumptions in our forecast, especially regarding sales prices for
oil and natural gas, and our capital expenditures continue at the low levels projected for 2009, we expect that our production will decline
significantly in the second half of 2009. Our forecasts do not consider any significant production disruptions that may occur due to hurricanes or
other catastrophic events. At our current and anticipated production levels, combined with current sales prices, we do not expect to have
sufficient cash flows to fully fund our operations and meet all of our financial obligations in 2009.

We have experienced and expect to again experience substantial working capital deficits. We had a working capital deficit at December 31, 2008
of $575.4 million, including the impact of our total debt of $497.5 million which is classified as a current liability at December 31, 2008.
Excluding the impact of our debt, our working capital deficit was $77.9 million at December 31, 2008. Our working capital deficits have
historically resulted from increased accounts payable and accrued expenses related to ongoing exploration and development costs, which may be
capitalized as noncurrent assets. In 2008, our working capital deficit continued as a result of the impacts to our production and cash flows and
changes in the timing of our payments to vendors discussed below. We forecast that our liquidity requirements will continue to increase during
2009, due primarily to expected production declines and forecasted lower sales prices for oil and natural gas. Our accounts payable at
December 31, 2008 compared to December 31, 2007 reflects an increase in the time period from when costs are incurred and cash payments are
made to vendors for those services.

The MMS recently communicated that it will commence more stringent enforcement of requirements to decommission facilities that pose a
hazard to safety or the environment or are not useful for lease operations and are not capable of oil and natural gas production in �paying
quantities.� Historically, the MMS granted approval to operators to maintain these structures in order to conduct other future activities; however,
we expect that this practice will be more limited in the future. The MMS has stated that these measures are in response to the experiences in
recent hurricane seasons in which idle structures were damaged or destroyed. We recently responded to an MMS written request to review and
evaluate our inventory of non-producing wells and facilities to determine the future utility of these structures and the level of threat posed to the
environment and human safety in the event of a �catastrophic loss.� As a result, we reviewed a plan with the MMS to perform wellbore plugging
and abandonment and decommissioning work on certain facilities and structures in our East Bay field during 2009, 2010 and 2011.
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The MMS and other regulatory bodies, including those regulating the decommissioning of our pipelines and facilities under the jurisdiction of
the state of Louisiana, may change their requirements or enforce requirements in a manner inconsistent with our expectations, which could
materially increase the cost of such activities and/or accelerate the timing of cash expenditures and could have a material adverse effect on our
financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

The failure to comply with these rules and regulations can result in substantial penalties, including lease termination in the case of federal leases.
Under limited circumstances, the MMS could require us to suspend or terminate our operations on a federal lease. The regulatory burden on the
oil and natural gas industry increases our cost of doing business and, consequently, affects our profitability. Our competitors in the oil and
natural gas industry are subject to the same regulatory requirements and restrictions that affect our operations, though the impact of those
requirements may vary significantly based on the nature and location of operations and related pipelines and facilities.

Debt Compliance

Currently, we are in default on our Credit Facility, Senior Unsecured Notes and our 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010.

In November 2008, our credit facility was redetermined with a borrowing base of $150 million. At December 31, 2008, we had a borrowing base
of $150 million and $43 million outstanding under the credit facility. In March 2009, our borrowing base was redetermined at $45 million, at
which time we had $83 million outstanding resulting in a deficiency of $38 million. The significant effects of this 2009 redetermination are
addressed under ��Recent Events� above. We are not able to borrow on the credit facility. The credit facility is secured by substantially all of our
assets. The credit facility permitted both prime rate borrowings and London InterBank Offered Rate (�LIBOR�) borrowings plus a floating spread.
The spread floats up or down based on our utilization of the credit facility. While we were not in default under the Credit Agreement as of
December 31, 2008, we subsequently failed to timely satisfy a number of Credit Agreement covenants, including those requiring the delivery of
our December 31, 2008 debt compliance certificate in April 2009 and providing our December 31, 2008, financial results at that time, among
other covenants.

In 2008, under the terms of our bank credit facility, the interest rate spread ranged from 1.00% to 2.5% above LIBOR and 0% to 0.50% above
prime. In addition we paid an annual fee on the unused portion of the bank credit facility ranging between 0.25% to 0.50% based on utilization.
The bank credit facility contains customary events of default and various financial covenants, which required us to: (1) maintain a minimum
current ratio, as defined by our bank credit facility, of 1.0x, (2) maintain a minimum Consolidated EBITDAX to interest ratio, as defined by our
bank credit facility, of 2.5x, and (3) maintain a ratio of long-term debt to Consolidated EBITDAX below 3.0. On March 11, 2009, we were
advised of a borrowing base redetermination in the amount of $45 million, which resulted in a borrowing base deficiency of $38 million. Our
failure to cure this borrowing base deficiency by May 1, 2009 constituted an event of default under our bank credit facility. Subsequent to such
date, we have been paying interest at the foregoing rates plus 2% per annum (the default rate). See ��Recent Events� in Item 7 �Management�s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations� for more information on the borrowing base redetermination.

The current ratio, as defined by our bank credit facility, includes (among other terms) in current assets our unused availability on the bank credit
facility for purposes of satisfying the minimum current ratio covenant. As a result, for purposes of complying with the minimum current ratio
covenant at each quarterly compliance reporting date, our working capital deficit, as adjusted by the terms of the bank credit facility, reduces the
amount available for borrowings under the bank credit facility.
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Capital Transactions

In April 2007, we repurchased 8,700,000 shares of our common stock at $23.00 per share, refinanced our revolving credit facility and acquired
substantially all of our existing $150 million aggregate principal amount 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010 pursuant to the Transactions. We sold
selected properties following the completion of the Transactions to reduce debt under our new bank credit facility. In order to fund the
Transactions, we undertook a private offering of the Senior Unsecured Notes and entered into a new bank credit facility. In conjunction with the
termination of a previous plan of merger with Stone, we paid $8.0 million to Stone, which was included in general and administrative expenses
in the fourth quarter of 2006. In addition, the $43.5 million termination fee that was advanced to Plains in June 2006 on behalf of Stone was
expensed in 2006 along with other merger and strategic alternatives related costs of $15.0 million. We incurred $9.4 million of financial and
legal advisory fees during 2007 related to these activities. In November 2007 we consummated an exchange offer pursuant to which we
exchanged registered senior unsecured notes having substantially identical terms as the privately placed Senior Unsecured Notes.

On May 4, 2007, we completed a cash tender offer for our 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010. Approximately $145.5 million of the 8.75% Senior
Notes due 2010 were repurchased and substantially all of their covenants have been removed.

On June 12, 2007, we sold substantially all of our onshore South Louisiana producing assets for $72.0 million in cash. After giving effect to
closing adjustments, the net cash proceeds received totaled approximately $68.6 million. We used the proceeds to pay down a portion of our
revolving credit facility.

During 2007, we also acquired 59,500 shares of our common stock for $0.8 million, an average price of $13.71 per share, under our since
expired stock repurchase program.

Disclosures about Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table aggregates the contractual commitments and commercial obligations that affect our financial condition and liquidity position
as of December 31, 2008. The table does not reflect any potential changes to our contractual obligations and commercial commitments that may
result from the Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings and the activities contemplated in the Plan. For example, the Plan contemplates a
debt-for-equity swap that would eliminate $454.5 million of our debt which is reflected in the table below. The table below does not include
contractual interest payment obligations that would have been required for the original term of our Senior Unsecured Notes and the 8.75%
Senior Notes due 2010 because those obligations are classified as current obligations in the table.

Payments Due by Period

Total
Less Than
1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years Thereafter

(In thousands)
Debt $ 497,501 $ 497,501 $ �  $ �  $ �  
Operating leases 12,745 1,855 3,372 3,419 4,099
Unconditional purchase obligations 334 334 �  �  �  
Asset retirement obligations 196,924 18,181 27,009 23,454 128,280
Other long-term liabilities 548 �  548 �  �  

Total contractual obligations $ 708,052 $ 517,871 $ 30,929 $ 26,873 $ 132,379

Off-Balance Sheet Transactions

We do not maintain any off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations or other relationships with unconsolidated entities or others
that are reasonably likely to have a material current or future effect on our
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financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources
other than those disclosed above.

Derivative Instruments

Note 2 �Summary of Significant Accounting Policies� and Note 12 �Derivative Transactions� in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report describe our
commodity price risks and the instruments we use to manage them.

We may, in the future, enter into derivative instruments to reduce our exposure to fluctuations in the market prices of oil and natural gas.
Hedging transactions could expose us to risk of financial loss if, among other things, production is less than expected, the counterparty to the
contract defaults on its obligations, or there is a change in the expected differential between the underlying price in the derivative instrument and
actual price received. Derivative instruments may limit the benefit we would have otherwise received from increases in the sales prices of our oil
and natural gas. Conversely, if we were not to engage in hedging transactions, we may be more adversely affected by declines in oil and natural
gas prices than our competitors who do engage in hedging transactions.

Our revenues, profitability and future growth are highly dependent on prices for oil and natural gas. Prices also affect the amount of cash flow
available for capital expenditures and our ability to borrow and raise additional capital. The amount we can borrow under the bank facility is
subject to periodic redetermination based in part on changing expectations of future prices. Lower prices may also reduce the amount of oil and
natural gas that we can economically produce. We currently sell all of our oil and natural gas production under price sensitive or market price
contracts.

Discussion of Critical Accounting Policies

In preparing our financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, management must make
estimates and assumptions related to the reporting of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. Application of certain of our accounting policies requires a significant number of estimates. These accounting policies are described
below.

� Successful-Efforts Method of Accounting�Oil and natural gas exploration and production companies choose from two acceptable
methods of accounting for oil and gas properties, the �successful-efforts� method and the �full cost� method. We believe the most
significant difference between the two methods relates to the accounting treatment of drilling costs incurred on unsuccessful
exploratory wells (dry holes) and exploration costs. Under the successful-efforts method, we recognize exploration costs and dry hole
costs as an expense on the income statement when incurred. We capitalize the costs of successful exploratory wells in oil and natural
gas properties. We allocate the capitalized cost of producing oil and gas properties to earnings through DD&A on a field-by-field
basis as production occurs. Entities that follow the full cost method capitalize drilling and exploratory costs, including dry hole costs,
into one or more large pools of oil and natural gas property costs. Under the full cost method, the capitalized costs for each pool is
allocated to earnings through DD&A based on the production of each pool. Additionally, under the successful efforts method, we
measure impairments of our oil and natural gas properties based on Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Board (�SFAS�)
No. 144 �Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets� (�SFAS No. 144�) which measures impairments based on
the estimated fair value of oil and natural gas properties on a field-by-field basis. SFAS No. 144 requires that we make assumptions
about factors that have a high degree of uncertainty, including expected future sales prices for oil and natural gas, expected future
costs of production, development and abandonment, and the appropriate rate at which we discount future cash flows. Under the full
cost method, impairments are measured based on criteria determined by the SEC.
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We use the successful-efforts method of accounting for our oil and natural gas properties because we believe that it more accurately reports asset
values of our oil and natural gas properties in the balance sheet. We believe that recording dry hole costs in the period in which they are incurred
results in reported earnings that more accurately reflect the results of our drilling operations during the period.

We believe that companies with active exploratory drilling programs typically incur dry hole costs. During the last three years we have drilled
49 exploratory wells, of which 18 were classified as dry holes. Dry hole costs charged to expense during the last three years totaled
$146.4 million, or 81% of total exploratory drilling costs during the same period of $180.2 million. To the extent that we incur significant
amounts of exploratory drilling costs in the future, we expect to continue to incur dry hole costs in the future. We expect our dry hole costs will
vary depending on our success rate in finding productive oil and natural gas reserves as well as the amount of our capital expenditures that are
dedicated to exploration activities.

� Proved Reserve Estimates�We use our oil and natural gas proved reserve estimates to calculate our DD&A. We allocate the
capitalized cost of our producing oil and natural gas properties to earnings, through DD&A, based on Boe units produced during the
period as a percentage of total estimated Boe reserves. We also use reserve estimates, which may include on a risk adjusted basis,
reserves that are not proved reserves, to assess our productive oil and natural gas properties for impairment. Proved reserves are the
estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas and NGLs that geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to
be recoverable in future years from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions, i.e., prices and costs as of
the date the estimate is made.

Independent reserve engineers prepare our oil and natural gas reserve estimates using guidelines established by the SEC and U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles (�GAAP�). The quality and quantity of data, the interpretation of data, the accuracy of economic assumptions, and
judgments and estimates regarding uncertain events and circumstances by us and our independent reserve engineers affect the accuracy of
reserve estimates. We may materially revise our reserve estimates in subsequent periods due to drilling or production results or other data
obtained after the date of the estimate.

At December 31, 2008, proved oil and natural gas reserves were 36.8 million barrels of oil-equivalent (Mmboe). Approximately 68% of our
proved reserves is classified as either proved undeveloped or proved developed non-producing reserves. Most of our proved developed
non-producing reserves are classified as �behind pipe� and will be produced after depletion of another productive zone in the same well.
Approximately 18% of total proved reserves are categorized as proved undeveloped reserves. As of December 31, 2008, none of our proved
undeveloped reserves are under development nor expected to become proved developed within one year.

The present value of the future net cash flow disclosed in this Annual Report is not intended to reflect the market value of the oil and natural gas
reserves. In accordance with SEC guidelines, we use prices and costs determined on the date of the estimate and a 10% discount rate to
determine the present value of future net cash flow. Actual costs incurred and prices received in the future may vary significantly and the
discount rate may not accurately reflect economic conditions.

At December 31, 2008, the computation of the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows relating to proved oil and natural gas
reserves was based on period-end prices of $6.05 per Mcf for natural gas and $44.77 per barrel for crude after adjusting the West Texas
Intermediate posted price per barrel and the Gulf Coast spot market price per Mmbtu for energy content, quality, transportation fees, and
regional price differentials for each property. We estimated the costs based on costs incurred during 2008 for individual properties. Where a
particular property did not have production during the year, we applied pricing adjustments based on the most similar property.

� Depletion, Depreciation, and Amortization of Oil and Natural Gas Properties�We calculate DD&A using the estimates of proved oil
and natural gas reserves previously discussed in these critical
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accounting policies. We segregate the capitalized costs and record DD&A for capitalized property costs separately using the
units-of-production method. The units-of- production method is based on the ratio of (1) actual volumes produced to (2) total proved
developed reserves (those proved reserves recoverable through existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods), or
total proved reserves in the case of leasehold costs (the DD&A rate). Each period, this ratio is applied to the applicable capitalized
asset cost category, resulting in allocation of the cost of our oil and natural gas properties over the periods during which they produce
revenues. As previously discussed, material revisions to proved reserves may occur as a result of unforeseen factors and may
materially impact the DD&A rate.

In 2008 we had negative revisions of 5.5 Mmboe, representing 12% of our total proved reserves of 45.3 Mmboe as of December 31, 2007. In
2007 we had downward revisions of 5.3 Mmboe, representing 9% of our total proved reserves as of December 31, 2006. In 2006 our reserve
revisions were insignificant. The negative revisions in 2008 resulted from a combination of price decreases in both oil and natural gas (3.5
Mmboe) and underperformance (2.0 Mmboe). The negative revisions in 2007 were a combination of performance revisions and the removal of
4.1 Mmboe of proved reserves on impaired fields due primarily to the decision not to perform well work to restore the related wells to
productive status. Our past revisions have had minimal impact on our DD&A rates because they have been relatively low as a percentage of our
reserve base and/or related to fields with little cumulative production. Historical revisions are not necessarily indicative of potential future
revisions.

� Impairment of Oil and Natural Gas Properties�We evaluate our capitalized oil and natural gas property costs for potential impairment
when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Because we accumulate capitalized costs separately,
property by property (generally analogous to a field or a lease), for our proved oil and natural gas properties under the
successful-efforts method of accounting, we perform impairment assessments on a property by property basis. The need to test a
property for impairment can be based on several factors, including a significant reduction in sales prices for oil and/or natural gas,
unfavorable adjustments to reserve volumes, or other changes to contracts or environmental regulations. In general, we do not view
temporarily low oil or natural gas prices as a triggering event for conducting impairment tests. Historically, our sales price for oil and
natural gas has varied significantly. Although our sales prices may rise and fall quickly over short periods of time, we believe sales
prices over the long-term are primarily based on supply and demand factors. Accordingly, our impairment tests make use of
long-term sales price assumptions for oil and natural gas. A significant amount of judgment and uncertainty is involved in
performing impairment evaluations because major inputs to the computation are based on our estimates of future events, including
projections of future oil and natural gas sales prices, amounts of recoverable oil and natural gas reserves, timing of future production,
future costs to develop and produce our oil and natural gas and discount factors.

We base our assessment of possible impairment of proved oil and natural gas properties using our best estimate of future prices, costs and
expected net future cash flows by property. An impairment loss is indicated if undiscounted net future cash flows are less than the carrying value
of a property. The impairment expense is measured as the shortfall between the net book value of the property and its estimated fair value
measured based on the discounted net future cash flows from the property. Actual prices, costs, and net future cash flows may vary from our
estimates. Our discount rate may not accurately reflect economic conditions. We recognized impairment expense of $110.4 million,
$114.9 million and $84.7 million in the years ending December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006.

We allocate the capitalized cost of unevaluated properties (those with no corresponding proved reserves) to earnings generally over the average
term of each pool of unevaluated properties. We estimate the amount of capitalized costs of unevaluated properties which will prove
unproductive by amortizing the balance of each pool of unproved property costs (adjusted by our expected success rate for future development)
over an estimated average lease term. If we find oil and natural gas reserves sufficient to justify development of the property, we transfer the
capitalized cost of an unproved
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property to proved properties where DD&A will be recorded on the units-of-production basis described above. If our efforts do not result in
proved oil and natural gas reserves, the related capitalized costs are written off against accumulated amortization, or charged to earnings if there
is a shortfall in accumulated amortization for the respective pool, when the determination is made.

� Asset Retirement Obligations�We have material obligations to plug and abandon oil and natural gas wells and to decommission
related platforms, pipelines and equipment as well as to dismantle and abandon facilities when they are no longer being used for the
production of oil and natural gas. We record a liability for the estimated fair value of a material ARO in the period when we identify
or incur the obligation. When the liability is initially recorded, we capitalize the cost by increasing the carrying amount of the related
asset, which is allocated to expense through DD&A on the units-of-production basis. Accretion increases the ARO liability over
time, using the effective interest method.

The liability amounts are based on future retirement cost estimates and incorporate many assumptions, such as time to abandonment. Over time,
the liability is increased and expense is recognized for changes in its present value, and the initial capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful
life of the asset.

Numerous estimates, assumptions and judgments are inherent in the calculation of ARO including ultimate settlement amounts, timing of
settlements, technological changes, future inflation rates, the credit adjusted risk-free rate of interest, and changes in legal, regulatory,
environmental and political environments. We revise our estimates of the fair value of ARO as information about material changes to the
liability become known. Revisions are recorded as an adjustment to existing ARO liabilities and to the carrying amount of the related assets.
Revisions occurring at or near the end of an asset�s useful life may result in a material positive or negative impact on earnings.

� Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities�We enter into hedging transactions for our oil and natural gas production to reduce our
exposure to fluctuations in the price of oil and natural gas. Historically, our hedging instruments consisted primarily of
financially-settled swaps and collars. We record our hedging instruments at fair market value as either assets or liabilities in our
consolidated balance sheet. We estimate the fair value of hedging instruments based on estimated future commodity prices. The fair
market value may differ from actual settlements if market prices change, the other party to the contract defaults on its obligations, or
there is a change in the expected differential between the underlying price in the hedging agreement and actual prices received.

� Share-Based Compensation�We measure compensation expense for all share-based payment awards at their grant date
fair values under SFAS No.123 (revised 2004), �Share-Based Payment� (�SFAS No. 123(R)�). For 2008, share-based
compensation totaled $6.6 million. We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate fair values of
share-based awards consistent with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). Option pricing models, including the
Black-Scholes model, require the use of input estimates and assumptions, including expected volatility, expected life,
expected dividend rate, and expected risk-free rate of return. The assumptions for expected volatility and expected
life most significantly affect the grant date fair value. Our estimate of the forfeiture rate of our stock-based awards
also impacts the amount of expense recorded over the expected life of the award.

We currently use historical volatility rather than implied volatility, which is based on options freely traded in the open market, as the activity
level for traded options was not sufficient to estimate implied volatility in 2008. We use the midpoint scenario to estimate expected term allowed
by the SEC�s Staff Accounting Bulletin 107, in order to leverage as much actual exercise and post-vesting cancellation history as is available. If
we determined that another method used to estimate expected volatility or expected life was more reasonable than our current methods, or if
another method for calculating these input assumptions was prescribed by authoritative guidance, the fair value calculated for share-based
awards could change significantly. Higher volatility and longer expected lives result in increases to share-based compensation determined at the
date of grant.
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� Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance�We are required to assess whether it is more likely than not that we will be able to realize
some or all of our deferred tax assets. If we cannot determine that deferred tax assets are more likely than not recoverable, we are
required to provide a valuation allowance against those assets. This assessment takes into account factors including: (a) the nature,
frequency, and severity of current and cumulative financial reporting losses; (b) sources of estimated future taxable income; and
(c) tax planning strategies. A pattern of recent financial reporting losses is heavily weighted as a source of negative evidence when
determining the realizability of deferred tax assets. Projections of estimated future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary
differences are a source of positive evidence only when the projections are combined with a history of recent profitable operations
and can be reasonably estimated. Otherwise, projections are considered inherently subjective and generally will not be sufficient to
overcome negative evidence that includes cumulative losses in recent years. If necessary and available, tax planning strategies would
be implemented to accelerate taxable amounts to utilize expiring carryforwards. These strategies would be a source of additional
positive evidence supporting the realizability of deferred tax assets.

See Note 14 �Income Taxes� in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report for more information regarding our deferred taxes.

Changes in estimates and assumptions described in these critical accounting policies may result in material changes to our net income or loss
from period to period.

New Accounting Pronouncements

For information regarding new accounting pronouncements, see the information in Note 19 �New Accounting Pronouncements� in the
consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The primary objective of the following information is to provide forward-looking quantitative and qualitative information about our potential
exposure to market risks. The term �market risk� refers to the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in oil and gas prices and interest rates. The
disclosures are not meant to be precise indicators of expected future losses, but rather indicators of reasonably possible losses. This
forward-looking information provides indicators of how we view our ongoing market-risk exposure.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to changes in interest rates. Changes in interest rates affect the interest earned on our cash and cash equivalents and the interest
rate paid on borrowings under our bank credit facility and on the Floating Rate Notes. Currently, we do not use interest rate derivative
instruments to manage exposure to interest rate changes. At December 31, 2008, $193 million of our long-term debt had variable interest rates
while the remaining long-term debt had fixed interest rates. If the market interest rates had averaged 1% higher during 2008, interest rates for the
period on variable rate debt outstanding during the period would have increased, and net loss before income taxes would have increased by
approximately $1.6 million based on total variable debt outstanding during the period. If market interest rates had averaged 1% lower during
2008, interest expense for the period on variable rate debt would have decreased, and net loss before income taxes would have decreased by
approximately $1.6 million.

Our credit standing and bond ratings impact the fair value and trading activity of our Senior Unsecured Notes. Recent trading activity in our
Senior Unsecured Notes indicates that purchasers are requiring yields higher than 25%. The Senior Unsecured Notes have a contractual yield of
9.75%, for the Fixed Rate Notes, or less, for the Floating Rate Notes. As a result, if we were to attempt to issue new Senior Unsecured Notes
with similar contractual terms as our existing Senior Unsecured Notes, our proceeds from issuance would be materially discounted from par
value. Such a transaction would likely be uneconomical.
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Commodity Price Risk

Note 2 �Summary of Significant Accounting Policies� and Note 12 �Derivative Transactions� in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report describe our
commodity price risks and the instruments we use to manage them.

The following table presents information related to our derivative contracts as of December 31, 2008:

Natural Gas Contracts

Remaining Contract Term Contract Type
Floor/Ceiling-Floor

($/Mmbtu)
Volume (Mmbtu)

Daily Total
Total Fair Value
(in thousands)

01/09 - 03/09 Collar $ 6.75/$17.15 10,000 900,000 $ 969
04/09 - 06/09 Synthetic Put $ 5.00/$10.00 - 11.00 10,000 910,000 $ (90) 
11/09 - 01/10 Synthetic Put $ 6.00/$10.00 - 11.00 10,000 920,000 $ (59) 

Oil Contracts

Remaining Contract Term Contract Type
Floor/Ceiling

($/Bbl)
Volume (Bbls)

Daily Total

Total Fair
Value

(in thousands)
1/09 - 06/09 Collar $ 55.00/$87.17 3,000 543,000 $ 4,512
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Energy Partners, Ltd.:

We have audited Energy Partners, Ltd. and subsidiaries (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based
on criteria established in Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company�s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management�s Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting (Item 9A(b)). Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company�s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk.
Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company�s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company�s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company�s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the company�s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely
basis. Material weaknesses, as they relate to the following matters, have been identified and included in Management�s Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A(b) of the Company�s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K:

� Control Environment over Financial Reporting

� Complex or Non-Routine Accounting Matters

� Period-End Financial Reporting Process
In our opinion, because of the effect of the aforementioned material weaknesses on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria,
Energy Partners Ltd. and subsidiaries has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on
criteria established in Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.
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We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Energy Partners Ltd. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, changes in stockholders� equity, and cash flows. These material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature, timing, and
extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2008 consolidated financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated August 3,
2009, which expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP

New Orleans, Louisiana

August 3, 2009
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Energy Partners, Ltd.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Energy Partners, Ltd. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31,
2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders� equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2008. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company�s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Energy
Partners, Ltd. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As
discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company filed voluntary petitions on May 1, 2009 for reorganization under
Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code, 11 U.S.C. §§ 101 et seq., as amended, in the United States Bankruptcy Court that raise
substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management�s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 3. The
consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this matter.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company�s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control�Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated August 3, 2009 expressed an
adverse opinion on the effectiveness of the Company�s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

New Orleans, Louisiana

August 3, 2009

61

Edgar Filing: WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 84



Table of Contents

ENERGY PARTNERS, LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2008 and 2007

(In thousands, except share data)

2008 2007
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,991 $ 8,864
Trade accounts receivable 29,264 47,081
Receivables from insurance 4,230 �  
Fair value of commodity derivative instruments 5,415 �  
Deferred tax assets �  3,865
Prepaid expenses 4,522 6,698

Total current assets 45,422 66,508
Property and equipment, at cost under the successful efforts method of accounting for oil and natural gas
properties 1,646,805 1,547,003
Less accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization (958,438) (824,397) 

Net property and equipment 688,367 722,606
Other assets 23,041 15,556
Deferred tax assets 1,580 �  
Deferred financing costs�net of accumulated amortization of $3,780 and $2,100 at December 31, 2008 and
2007, respectively 8,356 10,186

$ 766,766 $ 814,856

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 39,517 $ 14,369
Accrued expenses 63,973 100,007
Asset retirement obligations 18,181 4,548
Current portion of long-term debt 497,501 �  
Deferred tax liabilities 1,580 �  
Fair value of commodity derivative instruments 28 9,124

Total current liabilities 620,780 128,048
Long-term debt �  484,501
Deferred tax liabilities �  20,880
Asset retirement obligations 87,506 73,350
Fair value of commodity derivative instruments 55 4,602
Other 1,306 1,505
Commitments and contingencies �  �  

709,647 712,886
Stockholders� equity:
Preferred stock, $1 par value. Authorized 1,700,000 shares; no shares issued and outstanding �  �  
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share. Authorized 100,000,000 shares; issued: 2008�44,323,293 shares;
2007�43,980,644 shares; outstanding, net of treasury shares: 2008�32,083,307 shares; 2007�31,740,658
shares 444 441
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Additional paid-in capital 382,232 374,874
Accumulated deficit (67,201) (14,989) 
Treasury stock, at cost, 2008�12,239,986 shares; 2007�12,239,986 shares (258,356) (258,356) 

Total stockholders� equity 57,119 101,970

$ 766,766 $ 814,856

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ENERGY PARTNERS, LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

(In thousands, except per share data)

2008 2007 2006
Revenue:
Oil and natural gas $ 356,022 $ 454,340 $ 449,186
Other 230 309 364

356,252 454,649 449,550
Costs and expenses:
Lease operating 65,533 69,919 58,808
Transportation 1,089 2,441 2,028
Exploration expenditures and dry hole costs 30,199 98,209 51,745
Impairment of properties 110,403 114,913 84,680
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 103,318 170,083 198,162
Accretion of liability for asset retirement obligations 4,370 4,458 4,572
General and administrative 43,706 61,724 120,113
Taxes, other than on earnings 11,245 9,900 13,632
Gain on insurance recoveries �  (8,084) �  
(Gain) loss on sale of assets (5,527) (6,605) 969
Loss on abandonment 21,695 2,788 3,053

386,031 519,746 537,762
Business interruption recovery 4,248 9,084 32,869

Loss from operations (25,531) (56,013) (55,343) 
Other income (expense):
Interest income 784 1,585 1,428
Interest expense (46,533) (46,213) (24,570) 
Gain (loss) on derivative instruments 2,053 (13,083) �  
Loss on early extinguishment of debt �  (10,838) �  

(43,696) (68,549) (23,142) 

Loss before income taxes (69,227) (124,562) (78,485) 
Income taxes 17,015 44,607 28,085

Net loss (52,212) (79,955) (50,400) 
Basic loss per share $ (1.63) $ (2.32) $ (1.32) 
Diluted loss per share $ (1.63) $ (2.32) $ (1.32) 
Weighted average common shares used in computing loss per share:
Basic and diluted 31,988 34,501 38,313

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ENERGY PARTNERS, LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY

Years Ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

(In thousands)

Treasury
Stock
Shares

Treasury
Stock

Common
Stock
Shares

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid In
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

Retained
Earnings
(Deficit) Total

Balance at December 31, 2005 3,474 $ (57,432) 41,467 $ 415 $ 348,863 $ (12,619) $ 115,366 $ 394,593
Stock purchase, compensation and
incentive plans, net 6 (8) 151 2 10,496 �  �  10,490
Exercise of common stock options �  �  26 �  261 �  �  261
Conversion of warrants into common
stock �  �  834 8 1,825 �  �  1,833
Reclass of performance shares into
equity �  �  �  �  3,126 �  �  3,126
Comprehensive income:
Net loss �  �  �  �  �  �  (50,400) (50,400) 
Fair value of commodity derivative
instruments �  �  �  �  �  11,625 �  11,625

Comprehensive loss (38,775) 

Other �  �  24 �  742 �  �  742

Balance at December 31, 2006 3,480 (57,440) 42,502 425 365,313 (994) 64,966 372,270

Stock purchase, compensation and
incentive plans, net 1 �  181 4 6,870 �  �  6,874
Exercise of common stock options �  �  44 �  468 �  �  468
Conversion of warrants into common
stock �  �  1,167 12 297 �  �  309
Purchase of shares into treasury 8,759 (200,916) �  �  �  �  �  (200,916) 
Comprehensive income:
Net loss �  �  �  �  �  �  (79,955) (79,955) 
Fair value of commodity derivative
instruments �  �  �  �  �  994 �  994

Comprehensive loss (78,961) 

Other �  �  87 �  1,926 �  �  1,926

Balance at December 31, 2007 12,240 (258,356) 43,981 441 374,874 �  (14,989) 101,970

Stock purchase, compensation and
incentive plans, net �  �  116 1 4,789 �  �  4,790
Exercise of common stock options �  �  79 1 749 �  �  750
Net loss �  �  �  �  �  �  (52,212) (52,212) 
Other �  �  147 1 1,820 �  �  1,821
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Balance at December 31, 2008 12,240 $ (258,356) 44,323 $ 444 $ 382,232 $ �  $ (67,201) $ 57,119

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ENERGY PARTNERS, LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

(In thousands)

2008 2007 2006
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (52,212) $ (79,955) $ (50,400) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 103,318 170,083 198,162
Accretion of liability for asset retirement obligations 4,370 4,458 4,572
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative contracts (19,058) 13,726 �  
Non cash compensation 5,276 8,521 11,038
Loss on early extinguishment of debt �  3,398 �  
Deferred income taxes (17,015) (44,607) (27,452) 
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets and other 15,868 (5,083) 4,047
Exploration expenditures 21,796 87,102 38,288
Impairment of properties 110,403 114,913 84,161
Amortization of deferred financing costs 1,834 1,380 1,133
Gain on insurance recoveries �  (8,084) �  
Other 1,711 1,927 1,587

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade accounts receivable 21,655 23,542 2,390
Other receivables (4,249) 58,269 (8,966) 
Prepaid expenses 2,276 1,930 (391) 
Other assets (5,819) (2,529) 283
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 22,045 (51,449) 13,599
Other liabilities (27,589) (3,653) 23

Net cash provided by operating activities 184,610 293,889 272,074

Cash flows used in investing activities:
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired �  �  (420) 
Insurance recoveries for property, plant and equipment �  19,574 �  
Property acquisitions (20,925) (7,346) (15,897) 
Exploration and development expenditures (199,157) (323,846) (341,936) 
Other property and equipment additions (724) (1,402) (527) 
Proceeds from sale of oil and gas assets 15,576 68,599 �  

Net cash used in investing activities (205,230) (244,421) (358,780) 

Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities:
Deferred financing costs (5) (11,178) (853) 
Repayments of long-term debt (120,000) (530,499) (73,109) 
Proceeds from long-term debt 133,000 698,000 155,000
Purchase of shares into treasury �  (200,916) �  
Exercise of stock options and warrants 752 775 2,093

Net cash provided by (used in) financing 13,747 (43,818) 83,131
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Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (6,873) 5,650 (3,575) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 8,864 3,214 6,789

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 1,991 $ 8,864 $ 3,214

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ENERGY PARTNERS, LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) Organization

The Company was incorporated as a Delaware corporation on January 29, 1998. We operate as an independent oil and natural gas exploration
and production company. Our current operations are concentrated in the shallow to moderate depth waters in the Gulf of Mexico focusing on the
areas of offshore Louisiana as well as the deepwater Gulf of Mexico in depths less than 5,000 feet.

On May 1, 2009, we and certain of our subsidiaries filed the Chapter 11 Cases in the Bankruptcy Court. We continue to manage our properties
and operate our business as �debtors-in-possession� under the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court. The Chapter 11 filings and related matters are
addressed in Note 3 �Subsequent Events, Liquidity and Capital Resources.�

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Energy Partners, Ltd., and our wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation. Our interests in oil and natural gas exploration and production ventures
and partnerships are proportionately consolidated.

(b) Property and Equipment

We use the successful efforts method of accounting for oil and natural gas producing activities. Costs to acquire mineral interests in oil and
natural gas properties, to drill and equip exploratory wells that find proved reserves, and to drill and equip development wells are capitalized.
Exploratory drilling costs are initially capitalized, but charged to expense if and when the well is determined not to have found reserves in
commercial quantities. We may capitalize exploratory well costs beyond one year if (a) we found a sufficient quantity of reserves to justify its
completion as a producing well and (b) we are making sufficient progress assessing the reserves and the economic and operating viability of the
project; otherwise, these costs are expensed. Geological and geophysical costs are charged to expense as incurred.

Leasehold acquisition costs are capitalized. If proved reserves are found on an undeveloped property, leasehold costs are transferred to proved
properties. Costs of undeveloped leases are recorded to expense over the lives of the leases. Capitalized costs of producing oil and natural gas
properties are depreciated and depleted by the units-of-production method.

We assess the impairment of capitalized costs of proved oil and natural gas properties when circumstances indicate that the carrying values may
not be recoverable. The need to test a property for impairment can be based on several factors, including a significant reduction in sales prices
for oil and/or natural gas, unfavorable adjustments to reserve volumes, or other changes to contracts, environmental regulations or tax laws. The
calculation is performed on a field-by-field basis, utilizing our current estimates of future revenues and operating expenses. In the event net
undiscounted cash flow is less than the carrying value, an impairment loss is recorded based on the present value of expected future net cash
flows over the economic lives of the reserves.

On the sale or retirement of a complete unit of a proved property, the cost and related accumulated depletion, depreciation and amortization are
eliminated from the property accounts, along with the related asset retirement obligations, unless retained by us, and the resulting gain or loss is
recognized in earnings.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(c) Asset Retirement Obligations

We account for our AROs in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 143, �Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations�. SFAS No. 143 requires that we record obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets at their fair values in
the period incurred. The fair value of the obligation is also recorded to the related asset�s carrying amount. Accretion of the liability is recognized
as an operating expense and the capitalized cost is amortized using the units-of-production method. Our asset retirement obligations relate
primarily to the plugging and abandonment of our oil and natural gas wellbores and to decommissioning related pipelines, facilities and
structures.

(d) Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires that we recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax basis amounts. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. We recognize the effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities
of a change in the tax rates in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

On January 1, 2007, we adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, �Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes�an interpretation of
FASB Statement No. 109� (�FIN 48�). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise�s financial
statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109, �Accounting for Income Taxes�. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement
attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return and also provides
guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties. Under FIN 48, interest, if any, will be classified as a component of interest
expense, and statutory penalties, if any, will be classified as a component of general and administrative expense.

(e) Deferred Financing Costs

We defer costs incurred to obtain debt financing and then amortize such costs as additional interest expense over the maturity period of the
related debt.

(f) Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing income available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed in the same manner as basic earnings per share except that the
denominator is increased to include the number of additional common shares that could have been outstanding assuming the exercise of stock
option awards and warrants and the potential shares associated with restricted share units and performance shares that would have a dilutive
effect on earnings per share.

(g) Revenue Recognition

We record revenues from the sales of oil and natural gas when the product is delivered at a determinable price, title has transferred and
collectability is reasonably assured. When we have an interest with other producers in properties from which natural gas is produced, we use the
entitlement method for recording natural gas sales revenue. Under this method of accounting, revenue is recorded based on our net revenue
interest in production. Deliveries of natural gas in excess of our revenue interest are recorded as liabilities and under-deliveries are recorded as
receivables. We had natural gas imbalance receivables of $0.1 million and $0.2 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and had
liabilities of $2.3 million and $2.9 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(h) Cash and Cash Equivalents

We include in cash and cash equivalents our highly-liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. At December 31, 2008
and 2007, cash and cash equivalents includes investments in overnight interest-bearing deposits of $4.1 million and $15.9 million, respectively.
These amounts are reduced by overdraft balances on other operating accounts with legal right of offset in the same banking institution to arrive
at the cash and cash equivalent balances reported in our consolidated balance sheets.

(i) Derivative Activities

Derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, are recorded at fair market value and included as
either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet. The accounting for changes in fair value depends on the intended use of the derivative and the
resulting designation, which is established at the inception of the derivative. Special accounting for qualifying hedging activities allows gains
and losses from derivative instruments to offset related results on the hedged item in earnings. For derivative instruments designated as
cash-flow hedges, changes in fair value, to the extent the hedges are effective, are recognized in other comprehensive income (a component of
stockholders� equity) until the forecasted transaction is settled, when the resulting gains and losses are recorded in oil and natural gas revenue.
Hedge ineffectiveness is measured at least quarterly based on the change in fair value of the derivative contract compared to that of the hedged
item. Any change in fair value resulting from ineffectiveness is recorded to earnings. We accounted for our derivative instruments as qualifying
hedging activities through April 2, 2007 when we elected to discontinue hedge accounting on our existing contracts and ceased designating
hedging contracts that were entered into subsequent to that date as cash flow hedges. Unrealized gains and losses resulting from changes in the
fair value of derivative instruments are recorded in other income (expense). Realized gains and losses related to contract settlements subsequent
to April 2, 2007 are also recognized in other income (expense).

(j) Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective transition
method. Under this method, stock-based compensation expense recognized includes (1) compensation expense for all stock-based compensation
awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of , January 1, 2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original
provisions of SFAS No. 123, and (2) compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted subsequent to January 1, 2006,
based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). Additionally, SFAS No. 123(R) requires us
to estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures at the time of grant and periodically revise those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures
differ from those estimates. We record stock-based compensation expense only for those awards expected to vest using an estimated forfeiture
rate based on our historical pre-vesting forfeiture data. We recognize stock-based compensation expense over the requisite service period during
which each tranche of a stock-based award is earned.

In accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), we are required to report excess tax benefits from the exercise of stock options as financing cash flows.
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, no excess tax benefits were reported in the statement of cash flows as we are in a net
operating loss carryforward position. See Note 15 for additional disclosures.

(k) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We routinely assess the recoverability of all material trade and other receivables to determine their collectability. Our crude oil and natural gas
revenue receivables are typically collected within two months. We may have the ability to withhold future revenue disbursements to recover any
non-payment of joint interest receivables on properties where we are the operator. When we believe collection of the full amount of our
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accounts receivable is in doubt, we record an allowance to reflect accounts receivable at the net realizable value, which may be reflected in
earnings or as an increase to the net book value of our oil and natural gas properties depending on the nature of the transaction that created the
receivable. The nature of the transaction resulting in the receivable balance determines whether the allowance, when recorded, impacts our
earnings (ordinarily through Loe) or our property and equipment balances. As of December 31, 2008 our allowance for doubtful accounts was
$1.1 million, $0.9 million of which was recorded as a reduction in earnings in 2008. At December 31, 2007, our allowance for doubtful accounts
was $0.2 million.

(l) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Certain accounting policies involve judgments and uncertainties to such an
extent that there is reasonable likelihood that materially different amounts could have been reported under different conditions, or if different
assumptions had been used. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on a regular basis. We use historical experience and various other
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances to form the basis for making judgments about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Our actual results may differ from these estimates and assumptions used in
preparation of our financial statements. Significant estimates with regard to these financial statements and related unaudited disclosures include
the estimate of proved oil and natural gas reserve quantities and the related present value of estimated future net cash flows therefrom disclosed
in Note 20.

(m) Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior period financial statements in order to conform to the classification adopted for reporting in
fiscal 2008.

(3) Subsequent Events, Liquidity and Capital Resources

Subsequent Events

As described in Note 1, on May 1, 2009, we filed the Chapter 11 Cases. On August 3, 2009, after a confirmation hearing in which the
Bankruptcy Court considered the Plan and all objections thereto, it entered into a confirmation order and confirmed the Plan as of August 3,
2009. The primary purpose of the Plan is to effectuate a restructuring of our capital structure and improve cash flow and strengthen our balance
sheet by reducing our overall indebtedness. Presently, we have a substantial amount of indebtedness outstanding (see Note 10).

The effectiveness of the Plan and our emergence from bankruptcy is subject to several conditions, including the successful closing of the Exit
Facility. We are currently in negotiations with lenders on structuring the Exit Facility. Fore more information on the conditions to the
effectiveness of the Plan see Item 1A��Risk Factors.�

Prior to the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases, a number of events and economic conditions which existed in 2008 negatively impacted our business
and liquidity. These events included the following:

� hurricanes in August and September of 2008 damaged third-party production pipelines, causing us to shut-in a significant amount of
our production from September 2008 and continuing into early 2009;

� oil and natural gas prices declined in the fourth quarter of 2008 and have remained at low levels during 2009 relative to the levels
reached in 2008; and
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� the worldwide credit and capital markets collapsed in 2008 and the availability of debt and equity financing became significantly
more scarce, thus reducing financial flexibility for most companies, including us.

These factors negatively impacted our business, and led to several circumstances that significantly affected our liquidity, including:

MMS Order and Term Sheet. As previously discussed, we received the MMS Order dated March 23, 2009. The MMS is part of the United States
Department of the Interior. The MMS Order demanded that we provide to the MMS bonds or other acceptable security in the aggregate amount
of $34.7 million to secure plugging and abandonment liabilities associated with all of our properties on federal leases in the Gulf of Mexico,
with the first installment payment of $1.2 million due no later than March 31, 2009, an additional installment payment of $1.2 million due no
later than June 30, 2009 and the remaining $32.3 million due no later than July 31, 2009. The MMS Order also required us to immediately
shut-in production from all of our wells and facilities located in South Pass Blocks 27 and 28 in the federal portion of our East Bay field, while
properly maintaining these facilities and wells with essential personnel. We promptly completed the shut-in of our federal East Bay facilities
before the end of March 2009. Because federal leases would normally terminate if there is no production for 180 consecutive days, the affected
leases could expire if (1) we do not comply with the requirements set forth by applicable MMS regulations and restore production to the shut-in
federal leases by September 17, 2009; (2) we and the MMS do not otherwise come to an agreement that would prevent the leases from expiring
on such date; or (3) there is no unitized production that would prevent the termination provisions in the affected leases from being triggered. The
federal East Bay leases are included in production unit(s) covering portions of those leases and state leases in the East Bay field that continue to
produce, which we believe may prevent the triggering of lease termination, although there is no assurance that this will be the case. The
production from the wells and properties that we shut-in as a result of the MMS Order constituted less than 5% of our average daily production
as of March 27, 2009. We also made two installment payments of approximately $1.2 million on March 30, 2009 and on April 29, 2009 in
compliance with the MMS Order and the term sheet discussed below. We entered into a binding term sheet with the MMS on April 30, 2009 to
establish terms for us to address our obligations under the MMS Order. Under the term sheet, we and the MMS have agreed to re-affirm the
terms and conditions of the previously established trust account for the benefit of the MMS under the Decommissioning Trust Agreement dated
December 23, 2008 among us, the MMS and JP Morgan Chase Bank, NA, and we had agreed to make monthly payments to the trust account in
the amount of $1.2 million while the Chapter 11 Cases are pending and, on the effective date of the Plan to make a payment to the trust account
equal to $21 million minus the aggregate amount of the monthly payments made into the trust account while the Chapter 11 Cases are pending
(commencing with the payment made on April 29, 2009). The $1.2 million monthly payments to the trust account remain subject to approval by
the Bankruptcy Court. All remaining amounts owed to the trust account to reach the full funding amount owed to the MMS of $36.1 million
(after giving credit to all prior payments made by us) were payable in equal quarterly installments of approximately $1.2 million, commencing
October 31, 2009, with quarterly payments continuing until full funding has occurred. On June 11, 2009, we received a letter from the MMS
requesting an additional $10.95 million in financial assurance based on the actual costs for partial and completed well plugging and
abandonment associated with our federal leases in the East Bay field. On June 24, 2009, we advised the MMS that we will provide the additional
$10.95 million by increasing our quarterly payments identified in the term sheet�such quarterly payments are presently contemplated to
commence on October 31, 2009�which would increase the quarterly payments from approximately $1.2 million to approximately $1.8 million.
The MMS has agreed to vote in favor of the Plan to the extent its treatment is consistent with the terms set forth in the term sheet. In addition,
the MMS has granted a consensual stay of the MMS Order that will remain in place while the Chapter 11 Cases are pending. This stay, however,
does not lift the requirement that our Federal wells and facilities located in South Pass Blocks 27 and 28 remain shut-in. The term sheet with the
MMS contemplates that, on the effective date of the Plan, the MMS Order will be fully rescinded, and we will be allowed to resume production
from these wells and facilities. However, the terms of the
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term sheet, as incorporated into the Plan, will only supersede the MMS Order if the Bankruptcy Court confirms the Plan.

Reduction of Borrowing Base. In March 2009, we received a notice of redetermination from Bank of America, N.A., the Administrative Agent
under the Credit Agreement, that our borrowing base under the Credit Agreement had been lowered from $150 million to $45 million, resulting
in a borrowing base deficiency of $38 million. Following the receipt of this notice, we considered various alternatives provided for under the
Credit Agreement to repay the borrowing base deficiency and presented to the Administrative Agent the proposal of an installment repayment
plan. The Administrative Agent declined to approve our proposed repayment plan, and as a result, on March 24, 2009, we received a notice from
the Administrative Agent requiring the lump-sum payment by us of $38 million to the Lenders by April 3, 2009. On April 3, 2009, we obtained
a consent from the Required Lenders under the Credit Agreement, extending the due date for the repayment of the borrowing base deficiency
until April 14, 2009. On April 14, 2009, we and the Required Lenders entered into a letter agreement that further extended the due date for
repayment of the borrowing base deficiency until May 1, 2009 and provided that the Lenders agree not to exercise any rights and remedies until
May 1, 2009 with respect to all outstanding and certain anticipated defaults by us under the Credit Agreement in exchange for our compliance
with specified conditions. On May 1, 2009, we filed the Chapter 11 Cases.

Default on Senior Unsecured Notes. We were required to make annual interest payments of approximately $45.0 million each year on the Senior
Unsecured Notes, of which $17 million was due on April 15, 2009, and remains unpaid. Our failure to make these interest payments within 30
days of the due date was an event of default under the indenture governing the Senior Unsecured Notes and under the cross-default provision of
our Credit Agreement.

Surety Obligations. As of July 1, 2009, we had outstanding $60.0 million in surety bonds with four different indemnity companies. Our
agreements with these indemnity companies allow them to demand cash reserves or letters of credit to support our outstanding surety bonds. In
December 2008 and the first quarter of 2009, we posted cash collateral to restricted accounts for the benefit of certain of these indemnity
companies totaling $5.7 million in response to requests to provide reserves against our surety bonds with them. If we default on some or all of
these surety bonds, the indemnity companies may cancel our surety bonds. The cancelation of some or all of our surety bonds may result in
violations of other agreements or obligations. As a result, we could be forced to shut in our production or lose our ability to continue to perform
our business operations.

Plan of Reorganization; Plan Support and Lock-Up Agreement. On April 30, 2009, we entered into the Plan Support Agreement with the
Consenting Holders of the outstanding principal amount of our Senior Unsecured Notes. The parties to the Plan Support Agreement had agreed,
following receipt of the Disclosure Statement, to vote in favor of and support a plan or reorganization that is consistent in all material respects
with the Term Sheet.

The Plan Support Agreement may be terminated under certain circumstances by the Majority Consenting Holders, including if (1) we fail to file
the Plan or the Disclosure Statement with the Bankruptcy Court on or prior to May 15, 2009; (2) the Bankruptcy Court does not approve the
Disclosure Statement on or prior to June 30, 2009; (3) the Bankruptcy Court does not confirm the Plan on or prior to August 15, 2009; (4) we do
not consummate the restructuring transactions provided for in the Plan on or prior to September 10, 2009, or under certain circumstances, a later
date; (5) we or any of our officers or directors fail to take any action required by the Plan Support Agreement in order to comply with our
fiduciary obligations under applicable law or otherwise we file or support a plan of reorganization that is different from the Plan or withdraw or
revoke the Plan; (6) we materially breach any of our obligations or fail to satisfy in any material respect any of the terms or conditions under the
Plan Support Agreement; (7) our aggregate liabilities as of the dates specified in the Term Sheet (excluding those liabilities that would be
extinguished by the Plan or otherwise do not survive the consummation
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of the Plan) materially exceed the amounts we represented in the Term Sheet; (8) an examiner with expanded powers relating to our business or
trustee is appointed in any of the Chapter 11 Cases, any of the Chapter 11 Cases are converted to a case under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code
or any of the Chapter 11 Cases are dismissed by the Bankruptcy Court; or (ix) any definitive documents executed by us in connection with the
Chapter 11 Cases in order to implement the Plan are not consistent in all material respects with the terms set forth in the Term Sheet and
otherwise are not reasonably satisfactory in all material respects to the Majority Consenting Holders. In any event, the Plan Support Agreement
terminates on September 15, 2009.

Bankruptcy Proceedings, Plan of Reorganization, Exit Facility and Expected Emergence from Bankruptcy. On May 1, 2009, we and certain of
our subsidiaries filed the Chapter 11 Cases with the Bankruptcy Court. We continue to manage our properties and operate our business as
�debtors-in-possession� under the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court. On June 11, 2009, as part of our Chapter 11 Cases, we filed the Plan with
the Bankruptcy Court, and the Disclosure Statement, pursuant to which we solicited votes for the confirmation of the Plan. On July 31, 2009, we
filed with the Bankruptcy Court the Plan, as modified as of July 31, 2009. The Plan was formulated after extensive negotiations with committees
representing holders of the Senior Unsecured Notes and holders of our common stock interests. The primary purpose of the Plan is to effectuate
a restructuring of our capital structure to strengthen our balance sheet by reducing our overall indebtedness and improve cash flow.

On July 23, 2009, we announced that the Plan had received the affirmative vote of the holders of our Senior Unsecured Notes and our 8.75%
Senior Notes due 2010 and we consequently proceeded to request confirmation of the Plan from the Bankruptcy Court. On August 3, 2009, after
a confirmation hearing in which the Bankruptcy Court considered the Plan and all objections thereto, it entered the Confirmation Order and
confirmed the Plan as of August 3, 2009. The effectiveness of the Plan and our emergence from bankruptcy is subject to several conditions,
including the successful closing of the Exit Facility. We are currently in negotiations with lenders on structuring the Exit Facility. For more
information on the conditions to the effectiveness of the Plan see Item 1A��Risk Factors.�

The material terms of the Plan as confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court on August 3, 2009 include, among other things, that:

� each holder of the Senior Unsecured Notes and our 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010 would receive, in exchange for their total claim
(including principal and interest), their pro rata share of 95% of New EPL Common Stock in us upon our emergence from
bankruptcy;

� each holder of our common stock interests would receive, in exchange for their total claim, their pro rata share of 5% of New EPL
Common Stock;

� upon the Effective Date, we shall have access to the Exit Facility in form and substance acceptable to us and the Majority Consenting
Holders; and

� we may adopt the 2009 Long Term Incentive Plan under which it may issue shares of restricted new EPL common stock and new
EPL stock options to certain of its employees and certain members of management;

� following the effective date of the reorganization, the sole equity interests in us would consist of (1) New EPL Common Stock issued
to the holders of our Senior Unsecured Notes, the 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010, and holders of our common stock interests,
(2) restricted new EPL common stock issued to certain members of our management, if any, and (3) new EPL stock options to be
issued to certain key employees pursuant to the 2009 Long Term Incentive Plan, if any, which would be exercisable for new EPL
common stock. Collectively, the restricted new EPL common stock issued pursuant to subparagraph (2) and the shares reserved for
the exercise of new EPL stock options pursuant to subparagraph (3) above would in no event exceed 3% of the new EPL common
stock on a fully diluted basis.
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The timing and ultimate outcome of the Chapter 11 proceedings remain uncertain. Issues and matters to be resolved prior to emergence from the
proceedings include negotiation of the Exit Facility.

Consummation of the Plan is conditioned upon, among other things, the closing of the Exit Facility. There can be no assurance that any or all of
the foregoing conditions will be met (or waived) or that the other conditions to consummation, if any, will be satisfied. Accordingly, there can be
no assurance that the Plan will be consummated and the restructuring completed.

Restructure of Prepetition Employee Arrangements. Prior to May 1, 2009, the Arrangements existed for certain of our employees that provided
for such employees to receive cash payments and/or settlement of equity compensation awards either upon specified future vesting dates or in
connection with a termination of employment. The Plan Support Agreement contains certain provisions that provide that such Arrangements
must be amended, renegotiated, and/or restructured prior to the effective date of a confirmed plan of reorganization.

As a result of the Plan Support Agreement, the Board of Directors amended the provisions of the Severance Plan in a manner such that the
protected employment period initiated by our change of control under such plans, as well as the severance benefits potentially payable in
connection with certain terminations of employment during that protected period, would not be triggered by the restructuring contemplated by
the Plan Support Agreement.

We also established the Retention Programs. In order for an office employee who participates in either of these programs to receive his or her
retention payments, the participant has to waive and release any and all potential claims against the Company under the prepetition
Arrangements.

Finally, the Severance Agreements with two of our executives were terminated by the Company and each of such executives in exchange for the
executives receiving an unsecured claim for the rejection damages.

The total cost of the Retention Programs and the termination of the two Severance Agreements is approximately $2 million of which
approximately $0.5 million has been paid during the bankruptcy proceedings and approximately $1.5 million will be paid when we emerge from
bankruptcy.

NYSE Delisting. In March 2009, the NYSE notified us that our common stock had been suspended from trading and was subsequently delisted
for failure to maintain the required market capitalization minimum criteria. Our common stock is being quoted for public trading on the Pink
Sheets quotations system, an over-the-counter market, under the symbol �ERPLQ.PK�. This significantly impairs our ability to raise additional
equity financing.

Changes to Production Levels. Due to our current liquidity situation and lower commodity prices, we expect to significantly reduce capital
expenditures during 2009. As a result, we do not expect to be able to maintain our current production levels and we expect our production to
decline significantly during the second half of 2009 primarily due to natural reservoir declines combined with minimal investment in reserve
replacement activities. At our current and anticipated production levels, combined with the current and expected lower sales prices, we do not
expect to have sufficient cash flows to fully fund our operations and meet all of our financial obligations in 2009 as discussed above.

Changes in the Board of Directors and Management. Our Board of Directors declined from eleven to five members during the first quarter of
2009. In addition, on March 1, 2009, Joseph T. Leary resigned as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. On March 15, 2009,
Richard A. Bachmann resigned as our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and we engaged Alan D. Bell as our Chief Restructuring Officer.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The above events and circumstances, together with the worldwide credit markets� collapse in 2008 and the scarcity of available credit from most
major commercial financial institutions, as well as the low trading price of our common stock, make it extremely difficult to find additional
financing, either to refinance our Credit Agreement or our Senior Unsecured Notes or to provide additional liquidity during 2009.

Our financial statements reflect significant net losses in 2008, 2007 and 2006, an accumulated deficit of $67.2 million and a working capital
deficit of $575.4 million as of December 31, 2008.

Our financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates continuity of operations, realization of assets, and
liquidation of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. As a result of defaults that occurred subsequent to December 31, 2008 with respect to
the Credit Agreement, the Senior Unsecured Notes and the 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010, all of our indebtedness is classified in current
liabilities as of December 31, 2008 (see Note 10). However, as a result of the Chapter 11 filings and related events, there is no assurance that the
carrying amounts of assets will be realized or that liabilities will be liquidated or settled for the amounts recorded. While we expect
consummation of the Chapter 11 proceedings to occur during 2009, the proceedings are not complete and involve inherent uncertainties,
including uncertainties that are beyond our control. As a result, our independent public accountants, after considering the plans described above,
advised us that they had reached a conclusion that such matters raise substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern and,
as required by auditing standards generally accepted in the United States, included in their auditors� report on our 2008 financial statements an
explanatory paragraph to reflect that conclusion.

(4) Common Stock

On March 12, 2007, our Board concluded our strategic alternatives process, as discussed in Note 6, which resulted in, among other things, an
equity self-tender offer for up to 8,700,000 shares of our common stock at $23.00 per share and the authorization for the repurchase of up to $50
million of our common stock during the one year period following the completion of the equity self tender offer, subject to business and market
conditions and any debt covenants restricting such repurchases. On April 23, 2007, we completed the equity self-tender offer and purchased
8,700,000 million shares of our common stock. In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2007, pursuant to our stock repurchase program
we acquired 59,500 shares of our common stock for $0.8 million, an average price of $13.71 per share. All of these shares are reflected in
treasury stock in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

(5) Supplemental Cash Flow Information

The following is supplemental cash flow information:

Years Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006

(In thousands)
Interest paid $ 46,875 $ 42,982 $ 23,084
Income taxes paid, net of refunds $ �  $ �  $ 350
The following is supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing activities:

Years Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006

(In thousands)
Restricted share units $ 487 $ 1,010 $ 879
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(6) Mergers, Acquisitions and Dispositions

In March 2008, we completed the sale of two Gulf of Mexico Shelf properties located in our Western offshore area for $15.0 million after giving
effect to preliminary closing adjustments. We recorded a gain on the sale of $7.1 million.

In June 2007, we sold substantially all of our onshore South Louisiana producing assets for approximately $68.6 million in cash, after closing
adjustments. We used the proceeds to pay down a portion of our revolving credit facility. The estimated proved reserves of the disposed
properties were approximately 2.1 Mmboe. We recorded a gain of $6.5 million on the sale.

In April 2007, we repurchased 8,700,000 shares of our common stock at $23.00 per share, refinanced our revolving credit facility and acquired
substantially all of our existing $150 million aggregate principal amount 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010 pursuant to the Transactions. We sold
selected properties following the completion of the Transactions to reduce debt under our new bank credit facility. In order to fund the
Transactions, we undertook a private offering of $450 million in aggregate principal amount of the Senior Unsecured Notes and entered into a
new bank credit facility. In conjunction with the termination of a previous plan of merger with Stone, we paid to Stone $8.0 million, which was
included in G&A expenses in the fourth quarter of 2006. In addition, a $43.5 million termination fee that was advanced to Plains in June 2006 on
behalf of Stone was expensed in 2006 along with other merger and strategic alternatives related costs of $15.0 million. We incurred $9.4 million
of financial and legal advisory fees during 2007 related to these activities.

In connection with an acquisition in 2002, we issued, among other things, warrants to purchase four million shares of our common stock in the
same acquisition. Of the warrants, one million had a strike price of $9.00 and three million had a strike price of $11.00 per share. The warrants
became exercisable on January 15, 2003 and expired on January 15, 2007. All remaining warrants were converted during the first quarter of
2007. In addition, former preferred stockholders of the acquired company had the right to receive contingent consideration based upon a
percentage of the amount by which the before tax net present value of proved reserves related, in general, to exploratory prospect acreage held
by the acquired company as of the closing date of the acquisition exceeded the net present value discounted at 30%. The potential consideration
was determined annually from March 3, 2003 until March 1, 2007. We capitalized, as additional purchase price, all contingent consideration
payments all of which were made in cash and totaled $4.3 million. As of March 1, 2007, the final determination date, we determined that no
final payment was due.

(7) Property and Equipment

The following is a summary of property and equipment at December 31, 2008 and 2007:

2008 2007
(In thousands)

Proved oil and natural gas properties $ 1,601,748 $ 1,496,068
Unproved oil and natural gas properties 36,274 42,083
Other 8,783 8,852

$ 1,646,805 $ 1,547,003

Substantially all of our oil and natural gas properties serve as collateral for our Credit Agreement.

We recognized impairment expense of $110.4 million, $114.9 million and $84.7 million in the years ending December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.

75

Edgar Filing: WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 103



Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

During 2008, we recorded impairments of oil and natural gas properties totaling $110.4 million. The impairment expense was primarily related
to certain deepwater prospects ($47.5 million), producing fields (primarily five) which were determined to have future net cash flows less than
their carrying values due primarily to commodity price declines and reservoir performance resulting in the write down of these properties to their
estimated fair values as of December 31, 2008 ($39.3 million) and certain undeveloped properties ($20.8 million).

During 2007, we recorded impairment expense related to 17 fields. Eight fields with a net book value of $79.4 million experienced mechanical
difficulties or facility requirements and we determined that significant capital would be needed to extend their economic lives. With our
decreased capital budget for 2008, we determined that this capital would be better deployed to projects with more potential. Another six fields
with a net book value of $15.9 million underperformed and fully depleted earlier than anticipated. We determined that the remaining three fields
had future projected cash flows of less than their net book values due to performance issues and reserve revisions and therefore recorded
impairment charges related to these fields totaling $19.6 million to write them down to their fair values during 2007.

Substantially all of the impairment expense in 2006 was taken in eight fields, four of which were onshore assets acquired during an acquisition
in January of 2005. Three of these onshore fields along with three offshore fields experienced downward revisions of recoverable reserves at
December 31, 2006. These revisions along with decreased natural gas prices resulted in impairment charges of $52.1 million on these assets. We
elected to release the lease on the remaining onshore field. Additionally, one other offshore field experienced mechanical difficulties and we
determined that significant capital would be needed to extend its economic life and that this capital would be better deployed to projects with
more potential. Therefore, we wrote off the net book value of these assets of $27.0 million during 2006.

We capitalize exploratory well costs until we determine that the well has found proved reserves or is deemed noncommercial, in which case the
well costs are immediately charged to exploration expense. Changes in exploratory well costs that were capitalized for a period of greater than
one year, excluding amounts that were capitalized and subsequently expensed in the same period, are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006

(In thousands)
Capitalized exploratory well costs, beginning of period $ 32,612 $ 28,984 $ �  
Additions to capitalized exploratory well costs pending determination of proved reserves �  3,628 28,984
Capitalized exploratory well costs charged to expense (32,612) �  �  

Capitalized exploratory well costs, end of period $ �  $ 32,612 $ 28,984

At December 31, 2008, we did not have any projects that were suspended for a period greater than one year. At December 31, 2007, we had two
projects whose exploratory well costs were suspended and were capitalized for a period greater than one year in the amount of $32.6 million. At
December 31, 2006, we did not have any projects that were suspended for a period greater than one year.

(8) Tropical Weather

In late August and early September 2008 Hurricanes Gustav and Ike traversed the Gulf of Mexico and adjacent land areas. As a result of these
two hurricanes, nearly all of our production was shut-in at one time or another during the third and fourth quarters of 2008. We maintain
insurance coverage for property damage due to windstorms with a deductible of $10 million for each hurricane. We also maintain business
interruption insurance on a portion of our lost revenue on our South Timbalier 41, 42 and 46 properties. Recovery of lost revenue from
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these properties began accruing during the fourth quarter of 2008 when the �no claim period� provided for under the policy elapsed. Through
December 31, 2008, the total business interruption claim on these fields was $4.2 million, all of which is recorded in other receivables at
December 31, 2008. All of these amounts were collected in 2009.

As a result of Hurricanes Katrina and Rita and three other hurricanes that traversed the Gulf of Mexico and adjacent land areas in 2005, nearly
all of our production was shut in at one time or another during the three months ended September 30, 2005 and into 2006. We maintained
business interruption insurance during this period on our significant properties, including our East Bay field on which recovery of lost revenue
continued to accrue until October 2006. Through March 31, 2007, the total business interruption claim on these fields was $62.6 million (all of
which had been collected as of that date). In the first quarter of 2007, we settled and collected all remaining claims related to Hurricanes Katrina
and Rita and recognized business interruption income of $9.1 million and a gain of $8.1 million on a property damage settlement.

(9) Asset Retirement Obligations

We record the fair value of a liability for an ARO in the period in which it is incurred, along with a corresponding increase in the carrying
amount of the related long-lived asset. The following table reconciles the beginning and ending aggregate recorded amount of the asset
retirement obligations:

Asset Retirement Obligations  
2008 2007

(in thousands)
Beginning of period total $ 77,898 $ 68,767
Accretion expense 4,370 4,457
Sale of properties (1,821) �  
Revisions 36,444 3,809
Liabilities incurred 13,385 4,409
Liabilities settled (24,589) (3,544) 

End of period total 105,687 77,898
Less: End of period current portion (18,181) (4,548) 

End of the period noncurrent portion $ 87,506 $ 73,350

During 2008, we began to plug and abandon a significant number of wellbores and began decommissioning associated with platforms,
structures, pipelines and facilities on leases in the Gulf of Mexico that are no longer producing and were required, in most instances, to be
performed during that period under MMS requirements. The level of abandonment activity we performed in 2008 was significantly higher than
in any past period and was performed at a high pricing point in the market for such services with equipment, in some cases, that exceeded the
capability of less costly equipment capable of performing such operations. Further, because we performed this work at a suboptimal time of the
year, we were significantly impacted by weather delays. We incurred costs significantly in excess of our recorded ARO for this work. As a result
of this experience, and our cost experience on other 2008 abandonment activities, as well as our efforts to estimate our planned work for 2009,
we revised our estimated abandonment costs where appropriate to reflect recent experience in determining the estimated fair value of our
abandonment obligations. The total impact of our revisions to ARO for 2008 resulted in a loss on abandonment of $21.7 million. Revisions to
ARO that did not result in an impact to 2008 earnings were recorded as additions to our oil and natural gas properties account and are amortized
over remaining units-of-production.
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(10) Indebtedness

See Note 3 �Subsequent Events, Liquidity and Capital Resources� for additional information on our indebtedness and the impact of the Chapter
11 Cases on the Credit Agreement, the Senior Unsecured Notes and the 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010.

In April 2007, we refinanced our bank credit facility with the Credit Agreement, which had an initial availability of $225 million and a
borrowing base of $200 million. Concurrently with the sale of assets described in Note 6, the availability under the Credit Agreement was
automatically reduced to the $200 million borrowing base amount. The Credit Agreement is secured by substantially all of our assets. The
borrowing base under the Credit Agreement is subject to redetermination based on the proved reserves of the oil and natural gas properties that
serve as collateral as set out in the reserve report delivered to the banks in April and October. We and our group of Credit Agreement
participants each may request one additional redetermination each calendar year.

In November 2008, our Credit Agreement was redetermined with a borrowing base of $150 million. At December 31, 2008, we had $43 million
outstanding under the Credit Agreement. In March 2009, the administrative agent for the Credit Agreement notified us that the semi-annual
redetermination of our borrowing base pursuant to the Credit Agreement had occurred, resulting in a new borrowing base of $45 million. We
had $83 million outstanding under the Credit Agreement, resulting in a deficiency of $38 million and a demand for repayment of the borrowing
base deficiency. While we were not in default under our Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2008, we subsequently failed to timely satisfy a
number of Credit Agreement covenants, including those requiring the delivery of our December 31, 2008 debt compliance certificate in April
2009 and providing our December 31, 2008, financial results at that time.

Prior to the redetermination of our borrowing base in March 2009 and the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases, the Credit Agreement
permitted both prime rate borrowings and LIBOR borrowings plus a floating spread. The spread floated up or down based on utilization of the
Credit Agreement. Under the terms of the Credit Agreement, the interest rate spread ranged from 1.00% to 2.5% above LIBOR and 0% to 0.50%
above prime. In addition we paid an annual fee on the unused portion of the facility, ranging between 0.25% to 0.50% based on utilization. The
Credit Agreement contained customary events of default and various financial covenants, which required us to maintain: (1) a minimum current
ratio, as defined by the Credit Agreement, of 1.0x, (2) a minimum Consolidated EBITDAX to interest ratio, as defined by the Credit Agreement,
of 2.5x, and (3) a ratio of long-term debt to Consolidated EBITDAX below 3.0. Our failure to cure the borrowing base deficiency by May 1,
2009 constituted an event of default under our bank credit facility. Subsequent to such date, we have been paying interest at the foregoing rates
plus 2.00% per annum (the default rate).

The current ratio, as defined by the Credit Agreement, includes (among other terms) in current assets our unused availability on the Credit
Agreement for purposes of satisfying the minimum current ratio covenant. As a result, for purposes of complying with the minimum current
ratio covenant at each quarterly compliance reporting date, our working capital deficit, as adjusted by the terms of the Credit Agreement, reduces
the amount available for borrowings under the Credit Agreement.

In April 2007, we completed an offering of the Senior Unsecured Notes, consisting of $300 million aggregate principal amount of the Fixed Rate
Notes, with interest payable semi-annually on April 15 and October 15 beginning on October 15, 2007, and $150 million aggregate principal
amount of the Floating Rate Notes. The interest rate on the Floating Rate Notes for a particular interest period is an annual rate equal to the
three-month LIBOR plus 5.125%. Interest on the Floating Rate Notes is payable quarterly on January 15, April 15, July 15 and October 15,
beginning in July of 2007. We may redeem the Senior Unsecured Notes, in whole or in part, prior to their maturity at specific redemption prices
including premiums ranging from 4.875% to 0% from 2011 to 2013 and thereafter for the Fixed Rate Notes and premiums ranging from 2% to
0% from 2008
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to 2010 and thereafter for the Floating Rate Notes. The indenture governing the Senior Unsecured Notes contains covenants, including but not
limited to a covenant limiting the creation of liens securing indebtedness. The Senior Unsecured Notes are not subject to any sinking fund
requirements. In November 2007, we consummated an exchange offer pursuant to which we exchanged registered senior unsecured notes having
substantially identical terms as the privately placed Senior Unsecured Notes.

In May 2007, we completed a cash tender offer for the $150 million 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010. Approximately $145.5 million of the 8.75%
Senior Notes due 2010 were repurchased and substantially all of their covenants have been removed.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we recorded a loss on early extinguishment of debt for the refinancing of the Credit Agreement and
the repurchase of the 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010 totaling approximately $10.8 million. This loss included the write-off of unamortized
deferred financing costs related to the Credit Agreement and the 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010 as well as consent fees related to the tender for
the 8.75% Senior Notes due 2010.

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, our indebtedness was as follows:

2008 2007
(In thousands)

Fixed Rate Notes, annual interest of 9.75%, payable May 15, 2014 $ 300,000 $ 300,000
Floating Rate Notes, with weighted average interest on December 31, 2008, of 9.94%, payable April 15, 2013 150,000 150,000
Senior Notes, annual interest of 8.75%, payable August 1, 2010 4,501 4,501
Credit Agreement, interest rate based on LIBOR borrowing rates plus a floating spread payable April 23, 2011, with
weighted average interest on December 31, 2008 of 2.57% 43,000 30,000

497,501 484,501
Less: Current maturities 497,501 �  

$ �  $ 484,501

(11) Significant Customers

We had oil and natural gas sales to three customers accounting for 38%, 24% and 23%, respectively, of total oil and natural gas revenues,
excluding the effects of hedging activities, for the year ended December 31, 2008. We had oil and natural gas sales to three customers
accounting for 29%, 27% and 14%, respectively, of total oil and natural gas revenues, excluding the effects of hedging activities, for the year
ended December 31, 2007. We had oil and natural gas sales to four customers accounting for 28%, 19%, 12% and 11%, respectively, of total oil
and natural gas revenues, excluding the effects of hedging activities, for the year ended December 31, 2006.

(12) Derivative Transactions

We enter into derivative transactions to reduce exposure to fluctuations in the price of oil and natural gas for a portion of our production. Our
contracts limit our exposure to declines in the sales price of oil or natural gas for a limited amount of production. Some contracts also limit our
ability to benefit from increases in the sales price of oil or natural gas. Our Board of Directors has set limitations on the percentage of proved
production that we can make subject to these contracts. Our oil contracts are primarily settled based on the average of the reported settlement
prices for West Texas Intermediate crude on the NYMEX for each month. Our natural gas contracts are primarily settled based on the average of
the last three days of trading of the NYMEX Henry Hub natural gas contract each month. All of our existing contracts are with major financial
institutions which are also parties to the Credit Agreement.
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We primarily use financially-settled oil and natural gas zero-cost collars, put options and call options to provide varying upside price
participation and downside price protection for a portion of our expected production. With a zero-cost collar, the counterparty is required to
make a payment to us if the settlement price for any settlement period is below the floor price of the collar, and we are required to make a
payment to the counterparty if the settlement price for any settlement period is above the ceiling price of the collar. With a put option, the
counterparty is required to make a payment to us if the settlement price for any settlement period is below the strike price of the put and we have
no obligation to the counterparty except for the payment of any option premium. Our synthetic put option agreements consist of a combination
of sales and purchases of put and call contracts covering the same production. With these agreements, we reduce the per unit premium cost of
the agreement by allowing the counterparty to take a limited amount of the benefit of price increases, while we retain the benefit over a stated
settlement price. On occasion, we have incorporated floors and/or collars into our production sales contracts which are settled under
conventional marketing terms.

Prior to the second quarter of 2007, all derivative transactions that qualified for hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133 were designated on the
date we entered into each transaction as a hedge of the variability in cash flows associated with the forecasted sale of future oil and natural gas
production. After-tax changes in the fair value of a hedge that was highly effective and designated and qualified as a cash flow hedge, to the
extent that the hedge was effective, was recorded as Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (�OCI�) on the consolidated balance sheet until
the sale of the hedged oil and natural gas production occurred. Upon the sale of the underlying hedged production, the net after-tax change in the
fair value of the associated hedging transaction recorded in OCI was reversed and the resulting gain or loss on the settlement of the hedge, to the
extent that it was effective, was reported in oil and natural gas revenues in the consolidated statement of operations. On April 1, 2007, hedge
accounting was discontinued prospectively for existing contracts and, until settled, all subsequent changes in fair value are recognized in
earnings in the period in which the change occurs. At March 31, 2007, we had a $1.5 million after-tax net loss recorded in OCI.

Effective April 2, 2007, we elected to discontinue hedge accounting on our existing contracts and elected not to designate any additional
derivative contracts that were entered into subsequent to that date as cash flow hedges under SFAS No. 133 as amended. Derivative contracts are
carried at their fair value on the consolidated balance sheet as Fair value of commodity derivative instruments and all unrealized gains and losses
are recorded in Gain (loss) on derivative instruments in Other income (expense) in the consolidated statement of operations and realized gains
and losses related to contract settlements subsequent to April 2, 2007 are also recognized in the same line item in Other income (expense) in the
consolidated statement of operations.

We had the following derivative contracts as of December 31, 2008:

Natural Gas Contracts

Remaining Contract Term Contract Type
Floor/Ceiling-Floor

($/Mmbtu)

Volume (Mmbtu)

Daily Total
01/09 - 03/09 Collar $ 6.75/$17.15 10,000 900,000
04/09 - 06/09 Synthetic Put $  5.00/$10.00 - 11.001 10,000 910,000
11/09 - 01/10 Synthetic Put $  6.00/$10.00 - 11.001 10,000 920,000

Oil Contracts

Remaining Contract Term Contract Type
Floor/Ceiling

($/Bbl)

Volume (Bbls)

Daily Total
1/09 - 06/09 Collar $ 55.00/$87.17 3,000 543,000
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Subsequent to December 31, 2008, we entered into the following derivative contracts:

Natural Gas Contracts

Remaining Contract Term Contract Type
Floor/Ceiling-Floor

($/Mmbtu)

Volume (Mmbtu)

Daily Total
11/09 - 01/10 Synthetic Put $ 5.83/$10.00 - 11.00(1) 15,000 1,380,000

(1) The counterparty pays us if the settlement price for the settlement period is below the floor. We pay the counterparty the amount by which
the settlement price exceeds $10.00/Mmbtu for the settlement period, such payment being limited to the spread from $10.00/Mmbtu to
$11.00/Mmbtu (or $1.00/Mmbtu). We benefit fully from settlement prices in excess of $11.00/Mmbtu.

During March and May 2009, the counterparties to all of the remaining open contracts exercised their right to settle the then outstanding
contracts for net cash payments to us totaling $4.1 million. We recorded a net gain on the settlement of our derivative contracts of $ 2.7 million
in 2009.

The following table presents information about the components of gain (loss) on derivative instruments for the years ended December 31, 2008
and 2007.

2008 2007
Derivative contracts:
Unrealized gain (loss) due to change in fair market value $ 19,057 $ (13,726) 
Realized gain (loss) on settlement (17,004) 643

Total gain (loss) on derivative instruments $ 2,053 $ (13,083) 

For the year ended December 31, 2006, under cash flow hedge accounting, settlements of hedging contracts reduced oil and natural gas revenues
by $0.7 million.

The following table reconciles the change in accumulated other comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2007:

Year Ended
December 31, 2007

(In thousands)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss as of December 31, 2006�net of taxes of $558 $ (994) 
Net loss $ (79,955) 
Other comprehensive income�net of tax
Hedging activities
Reclassification adjustments for settled contracts�net of taxes of $90 (161) 
Changes in fair value of outstanding hedging positions�net of taxes of $(649) 1,155

Total other comprehensive income 994 994

Comprehensive loss $ (78,961) 
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Accumulated other comprehensive income as of December 31, 2007 $ �  

For the year ended December 31, 2008, our comprehensive loss is equal to our net loss of $52.2 million.

(13) Fair Value Measurements

The following tables provide fair value measurement information for our assets and liabilities reported at fair value in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2008. At December 31, 2008,
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the carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable and accounts payable (including income taxes payable and accrued
expenses) approximated fair value and are not presented in the table.

As of December 31, 2008
Fair Value Measurements Using:

Carrying
Amount

Total Fair
Value

Quoted
Prices
in

Active
Markets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Financial Assets (Liabilities) (in thousands):
Oil and natural gas puts and collars $ 5,332 $ 5,332 $ �  $ 5,332 $ �  
Debt $ (497,501) $ (191,281) $ �  $ (191,281) $ �  
SFAS No. 157 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. As presented in the
table above, this hierarchy consists of three broad levels. Level 1 inputs on the hierarchy consist of unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets and liabilities and have the highest priority. Level 2 inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level 1.
Level 3 inputs have the lowest priority and include significant inputs that are generally less observable from objective sources. When available,
we measure fair value using Level 1 inputs because they generally provide the most reliable evidence of fair value. We currently do not use
Level 3 inputs to measure fair value.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values of the assets and liabilities in the table above.

Level 2 Fair Value Measurements

Debt�At December 31, 2008, the Fixed Rate Notes and the Floating Rate Notes were not actively traded in an established market. Therefore,
quoted prices were not available. However, we estimated the fair values of these debt instruments based on prices reflected by trades which
occurred near December 31, 2008 as obtained through financial information services. The fair value of the Credit Agreement is estimated to
approximate the carrying amount because the interest rates paid on such debt are generally set for periods of three months or less.

Oil and natural gas puts and collars�The fair values of the oil and natural gas puts and collars are estimated using similar, observable NYMEX
published settlements.

(14) Income Taxes

Components of income tax benefit for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

Current Deferred Total
(In thousands)

2008:
Federal $ �  $ 16,542 $ 16,542
State �  473 473

$ �  $ 17,015 $ 17,015

2007:
Federal $ �  $ 43,368 $ 43,368
State �  1,239 1,239
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$ �  $ 44,607 $ 44,607

2006:
Federal $ 633 $ 26,672 $ 27,305
State �  780 780

$ 633 $ 27,452 $ 28,085

82

Edgar Filing: WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 112



Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

The reasons for the differences between the effective tax rates and the expected corporate federal income tax rate are as follows:

  Percentage of Pretax Earnings  
2008 2007 2006

Expected tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0% 
State taxes 1.0 1.0 1.0
Valuation allowance (10.8) �  �  
Other (0.6) (0.2) (0.2) 

24.6% 35.8% 35.8% 

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the current tax asset and net deferred tax liability at
December 31, 2008 and 2007 are presented below:

2008 2007
(In thousands)

Current deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Fair value of commodity derivative instruments $ (1,636) $ 3,285
Accrued bonus compensation 56 580

Net current deferred tax asset (liability) $ (1,580) $ 3,865

Non-current deferred tax assets:
Restricted stock awards and options $ 6,268 $ 5,033
Federal and state net operating loss carryforwards 65,953 53,692
Fair market value of commodity derivative instruments 24 1,657
Other 741
Valuation allowance (7,465) 1,465

Non-current deferred tax asset 65,521 61,847
Non-current deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment, principally due to differences in depreciation (63,941) (82,727) 

Net non-current deferred tax asset (liability) $ 1,580 $ (20,880) 

At December 31, 2008, we had net operating loss carryforwards (�NOLs�) of approximately $183 million, which are available to reduce future
federal taxable income. The NOLs begin expiring in the years 2018 through 2028. The 2008 tax provision does not use any of the NOLs. The
amount of our NOLs, and possible certain other tax attributes, may be significantly reduced upon implementation of the Plan. In addition, the
Reorganized Company�s subsequent utilization of any built-in losses with respect to its assets and NOLs remaining, and possibly certain other tax
attributes, may be restricted as a result of and upon implementation of the Plan.

In 2008, our net deferred tax position changed from a net deferred tax liability position to a net deferred tax asset position. Our assessment of the
need for a valuation allowance, as required by SFAS No. 109, was based primarily on a three year trend of significant net losses in 2008, 2007
and 2006, and the precipitous decline and continued weakness in oil and natural gas prices as of December 31, 2008 and continuing into
2009. We are not able to conclude that it is more likely than not that all of the deferred tax assets will be realized through future earnings and
reversal of taxable temporary differences. As a result, we have provided a valuation allowance of $7.5 million, reducing our net deferred tax
asset to zero. A return to profitability would provide a basis for reversal of a portion of the valuation allowance relating to realized deferred tax
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As of January 1, 2009, our 2004-2008 income tax years remain subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service, as well as the Louisiana
Department of Revenue. In addition, Texas Franchise Tax calendar years 2003-2008 remain subject to examination.

(15) Employee Benefit Plans

See Note 3 �Subsequent Events, Liquidity and Capital Resources�Subsequent Events�Restructure of Prepetition Employee Arrangements� for a
description of certain of the plans described below that were restructured subsequent to December 31, 2008.

At December 31, 2008, we have two stock-based compensation plans which are long term-incentive plans authorizing various types of market
and performance based incentive awards to be granted to officers and employees. The 2006 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan (the �Employee
Plan�) provides for the grant of stock options for which the exercise price, set at the time of the grant, is not less than the fair market value per
share at the date of grant. The outstanding options have a term of 10 years and generally vest over three years with grants to a limited group of
people that cliff vest at the end of five years. The Employee Plan also provides for restricted stock and restricted share units, which are referred
to as non-vested share awards under SFAS No. 123(R), and performance share awards. The Employee Plan was adopted by the Board of
Directors in March 2006 and approved by stockholders in May 2006 and is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors or such other committee as may be designated by the Board of Directors. The Compensation Committee is authorized to select the
employees who will receive awards, to determine the types of awards to be granted to each person, and to establish the terms of each award. The
total number of shares that may be issued under the plan for all types of awards was 2,604,414 as of May 2006.

The Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the Director Plan) was adopted by the Board of Directors in
March 2005 and approved by our stockholders in May 2005. The Director Plan permits the use of restricted share units in addition to stock
options to provide flexibility to adjust grants to maintain a competitive equity component for non-employee directors. The number of shares
authorized for issuance under the Director Plan is 500,000. The size of any grants of stock options and restricted share units to non-employee
directors, including to new directors, will be determined annually, based on the analysis of an independent compensation consultant. The option
exercise price for an option granted under the Director Plan shall be the fair market value of the shares covered by the option at the time the
option is granted. Options become fully exercisable on the first anniversary of the date of the grant. Prior to the one-year anniversary, the options
shall be exercisable as to a number of shares covered by the option determined by pro-rating the number of shares covered by the option based
on the number of days elapsed since the date of the grant. Any portion of an option that has not become exercisable prior to the cessation of the
optionee�s service as a director for any reason shall not thereafter become exercisable. Each option shall expire on the earlier of (1) 10 years from
the date of the granting thereof, or (2) 36 months after the date the optionee ceases to be a director of the Company for any reason. Each
restricted share unit represents the right to receive one share of Common Stock upon the earlier to occur of: (1) the cessation of the eligible
director�s service as a director of the Company for any reason, or (2) the occurrence of a change of control of the Company. An eligible director
shall become 100% vested in a grant of restricted share units on the first anniversary of the date of grant. Prior to the first anniversary of the
grant, an eligible director shall be vested in a number of restricted share units determined by pro-rating the grant based on the number of days
elapsed since the date of the grant. If the service of an eligible director ceases for any reason prior to the first anniversary of the grant, other than
in connection with the occurrence of a change of control of the Company, the director shall forfeit any unvested restricted share units.
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The following table reports stock-based compensation expense and related tax benefits recognized for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007
and 2006:

2008 2007 2006
(in thousands)

Compensation Expense (Benefit):
Option shares $ 2,127 $ 3,690 $ 4,391
Non-vested share awards 3,440 5,415 5,933
Performance share awards (293) (901) 828
Amount related to options granted prior to January 1, 2006 (included in option share expense above) 474 1,481 2,415
Deferred Income Tax Benefit 1,899 2,953 4,005
The fair value of each share option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following
weighted average assumptions for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006:

  Year Ended December 31,  
2008 2007 2006

Black-Scholes option pricing model assumptions:
Risk free interest rate 4.5% 4.5% 4.4% 
Expected life (years) 4.95 4.95 4.79
Expected volatility 38% 37% 43% 
Dividend yield �  �  �  
Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of our stock over the period of time equivalent to the expected term of the options granted.
The expected term of options granted is derived from historical exercise patterns over a period of time with consideration of expected term of
unvested options. We have not experienced significant differences in the historical exercise patterns among officers, employees and
non-employee directors for them to be considered separately for valuation purposes. The risk-free interest rate is based on the interest rate on
constant maturity bonds published by the Federal Reserve with a maturity commensurate with the expected term of the options granted.

A summary of option share activity for the year ended December 31, 2008 is as follows:

Options

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price Per
Share

Weighted-
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Terms

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

(in years) (in thousands)
Outstanding on December 31, 2007 2,243,725 $ 16.71
Granted 257,197 11.16
Exercised (77,833) 9.66
Forfeited/Cancelled (83,170) 22.72

Outstanding on December 31, 2008 2,339,919 $ 16.12 5.08 $ 37,719
Exercisable on December 31, 2008 1,620,321 $ 15.34 4.23 $ 24,856
Available for future grants on December 31, 2008 2,685,256
The weighted-average grant-date fair value of option shares granted during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $4.53, $6.16
and $9.24, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of option shares
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(the amount by which the market price of the stock on the date of exercise exceeded the market price of the stock on the date of grant) exercised
during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $0.4 million, $0.4 million and $0.4 million, respectively.

The fair value of non-vested share awards equals the market value of the underlying stock on the date of grant. The weighted-average grant-date
fair value of the non-vested share awards granted during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $12.50 per share, $17.76 per
share, and $21.62 per share, respectively. The total fair value of non-vested share awards that vested during each of the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $2.4 million, $3.6 million and $3.3 million, respectively. A summary of the activity related to our
non-vested share awards for the year ended December 31, 2008 is as follows:

Shares

Weighted-
Average

Grant-Date
Fair Value

Non-vested share awards outstanding at December 31, 2007 602,398 $ 21.09
Granted 137,728 12.50
Vested (213,480) 11.24
Forfeited/Cancelled (92,946) 23.99

Non-vested share awards outstanding at December 31, 2008 433,700 $ 20.22
During the period from 2003 through 2005, performance shares were awarded to officers and key employees with the number of shares to be
issued upon being earned, at the end of their respective three year cycles, being based on certain performance measures. The shares awarded
could range from a minimum of 0% to a maximum of 200% of the target number of shares depending on the level at which the goals were
attained. We did not award any performance shares in 2006, 2007 or 2008. In the year ended December 31, 2006, 55,111 shares were earned and
issued and 35,756 shares expired unearned or were forfeited. In the year ended December 31, 2007, 69,000 shares were earned and issued and
56,100 expired unearned or forfeited leaving 80,990 shares reserved based on the maximum award available. In the year ended December 31,
2008 all remaining available awards expired unearned.

As of December 31, 2008, $1.4 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to outstanding option shares was expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1 year. As of December 31, 2008, $3.0 million of total unrecognized compensation expense
related to non-vested share awards was expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1 year.

We also have a 401(k) Plan that covers all employees. We match 100% of each individual participant�s contribution not to exceed 6% of the
participant�s compensation. Our matching contributions were made in common stock of EPL until 2009. We made matching contributions to the
401(k) Plan of 266,365, 57,634 and 38,220 shares of common stock in 2008, 2007 and 2006 valued at approximately $0.9 million, $0.9 million
and $0.9 million, respectively. During 2009, our 401(k) Plan was amended to require matching contributions to be made in cash.

2008 Key Employee Retention Plan

The Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors approved a retention plan for a limited group of key employees, which group excludes
executive officers, providing for annual cash payments in December 2009, 2010 and 2011 of 20%, 30% and 50%, respectively, of the employees�
annual base salaries. Participants must be employed as of the vesting date to earn the retention award. This plan was effective December 1, 2008.
Estimated payments under this plan for 2009, 2010 and 2011 are $0.8 million, $1.2 million and $2.1 million, respectively.
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Other

In November 2008, we discontinued a plan that was designed to fund post-employment benefits to a limited group of key non-executive
employees through whole life insurance policies, while providing life insurance coverage for the participants during the participation period. The
cash surrender value of the cancelled whole life insurance policies distributed to the participants in January 2009 was $0.2 million.

(16) Commitments and Contingencies

As described in Notes 1 and 3, on May 1, 2009, we and certain of our subsidiaries filed the Chapter 11 Cases.

We have operating leases for office space and equipment, which expire on various dates through 2016. In addition, we have an agreement to
purchase seismic-related services which expires in 2009.

Future minimum commitments as of December 31, 2008 under these operating obligations are as follows (in thousands):

2009 $ 2,189
2010 1,680
2011 1,692
2012 1,704
2013 1,715
Thereafter 4,099

$ 13,079

Expense relating to operating obligations for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $5.4 million, $7.9 million and
$9.6 million, respectively.

We maintain deposits in a trust for future abandonment costs at our East Bay property. The trust was originally funded with $15 million and,
with accumulated interest, has increased to $16.7 million at December 31, 2008. We may draw from the trust upon completion of qualifying
abandonment activities at our East Bay property. We have made draws to date of $3.4 million, all of which were made in 2009. Amounts on
deposit in the trust account are reflected in other assets. See Note 3 �Subsequent Events, Liquidity and Capital Resources� for additional
information on commitments and contingencies related to abandonment of our oil and natural gas properties.

We had entered into employment agreements with all of our employees including our senior executives and other key employees. In the event of
termination of employment (including a change of control of our company) parties to these agreements were entitled to receive a multiple of
their salaries and bonuses (typically one, two or three times such amount) and certain other benefits in a lump sum cash payment. Additionally,
all options, restricted stock, restricted share units and other similar awards would become fully vested. In the event of a change of control event
requiring funding of all such cash payments, we estimated the amount payable in cash under these agreements would be approximately $28.9
million at December 31, 2008. See Note 3 �Subsequent Events, Liquidity and Capital Resources�Subsequent Events�Restructure of Prepetition
Employee Arrangements� for a description of plans that were restructured subsequent to December 31, 2008.

On February 21, 2008, we entered into a plea agreement with the United States Department of Justice under which we pled guilty on that same
date to one strict liability, misdemeanor violation of the River and Harbors Act in the United States District Court for the Eastern Division of
Louisiana. The plea concludes the
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investigation announced in June 2007 into possible environmental violations at our East Bay properties in late 2005 and early 2006. Under the
plea agreement, we have paid a fine of $75,000 and have made a community service payment of $25,000 to a Louisiana state agency. As a part
of the plea agreement, we were subject to inactive probation for one year. The foregoing actions represent the final resolution of this matter with
all federal agencies involved with the investigation.

We generate liabilities related to production that is delivered to us in excess of our interest in certain properties, often referred to as production
imbalances. Additionally, we may, from time to time, receive cash in excess of amounts that we estimate are due to us for our interest in
production, which amounts may be subject to further review, may require more information to resolve or may be in dispute. During 2008, we
reduced revenue by $4.4 million reflecting our estimate of amounts that, based on information available to us, may be subject to claim by one
purchaser of our production. At December 31, 2008, this amount is included in accrued expenses.

In the ordinary course of business, we are a defendant in various other legal proceedings. We do not expect our exposure in these other
proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or liquidity. See
Note 3 �Subsequent Events, Liquidity and Capital Resources� for additional information on legal proceedings related to the Chapter 11 Cases.

(17) Interim Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of consolidated unaudited interim financial information for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007:

Three Months Ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

(In thousands, except per share data)
2008
Revenues $ 97,496 $ 125,688 $ 94,672 $ 38,396
Costs and expenses 73,863 71,466 57,738 182,964
Business interruption recovery �  �  �  4,248

Income (loss) from operations 23,633 54,222 36,934 (140,320) 
Net income (loss) 2,315 3,996 34,445 (92,968) 
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic $ 0.07 $ 0.13 $ 1.07 $ (2.90) 
Diluted 0.07 0.12 1.07 (2.90) 
2007
Revenues $ 108,463 $ 121,666 $ 110,438 $ 114,082
Costs and expenses 105,210 109,252 103,542 201,742
Business interruption recovery 9,084 �  �  �  

Income (loss) from operations 12,337 12,414 6,896 (87,660) 
Net income (loss) 3,696 (6,270) (3,963) (73,418) 
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic $ 0.09 $ (0.18) $ (0.12) $ (2.31) 
Diluted 0.09 (0.18) (0.12) (2.31) 
(18) Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Financial Information

In connection with the Senior Unsecured Notes offering, discussed above, all of our current active subsidiaries (the �Guarantor Subsidiaries�)
jointly, severally and unconditionally guaranteed the payment obligations under the Senior Unsecured Notes. The following supplemental
financial information sets forth, on a
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consolidating basis, the balance sheet, statement of operations and cash flow information for Energy Partners, Ltd. (Parent Company Only) and
for the Guarantor Subsidiaries. We have not presented separate financial statements and other disclosures concerning the Guarantor Subsidiaries
because management has determined that such information is not material to investors.

The supplemental condensed consolidating financial information has been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations for condensed financial
information and does not include all disclosures included in annual financial statements. Certain reclassifications were made to conform all of
the financial information to the financial presentation on a consolidated basis. The principal eliminating entries eliminate investments in
subsidiaries, intercompany balances and intercompany revenues and expenses.
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

As of December 31, 2008

Parent
Company
Only

Guarantor
Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

(In thousands)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,991 $ �  $ �  $ 1,991
Accounts receivable 37,665 1,244 �  38,909
Other current assets 4,459 63 4,522

Total current assets 44,115 1,307 �  45,422
Property and equipment 1,376,387 270,418 �  1,646,805
Less accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization (818,234) (140,204) �  (958,438) 

Net property and equipment 558,153 130,214 �  688,367
Investment in affiliates 84,697 (66) (84,631) �  
Notes receivable, long-term �  120,431 (120,431) �  
Other assets 32,887 90 32,977

719,852 251,976 (205,062) 766,766

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 114,510 $ 7,161 $ �  $ 121,671
Deferred tax liability 1,580 �  �  1,580
Fair value of commodity derivative instruments 28 �  �  28
Current maturities of long-term debt 497,501 �  �  497,501

Total current liabilities 613,619 7,161 �  620,780
Long-term debt �  120,431 (120,431) �  
Other liabilities 49,114 39,753 �  88,867

662,733 167,345 (120,431) 709,647
Stockholders� equity:
Preferred stock �  3 (3) �  
Common stock 444 98 (98) 444
Additional paid-in capital 382,232 310 (310) 382,232
Retained earnings (67,201) 84,220 (84,220) (67,201) 
Treasury stock (258,356) �  �  (258,356) 

Total stockholders� equity 57,119 84,631 (84,631) 57,119

719,852 251,976 (205,062) 766,766

Edgar Filing: WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 123



90

Edgar Filing: WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 124



Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

As of December 31, 2007

Parent
Company
Only

Guarantor
Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

(In thousands)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,864 $ �  $ �  $ 8,864
Accounts receivable (78,119) 125,200 �  47,081
Other current assets 10,431 132 �  10,563

Total current assets (58,824) 125,332 �  66,508
Property and equipment 1,309,898 237,105 �  1,547,003
Less accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization (704,890) (119,507) �  (824,397) 

Net property and equipment 605,008 117,598 �  722,606
Investment in affiliates 199,964 119 (200,083) �  
Notes receivable, long-term �  221,909 (221,909) �  
Other assets 25,652 90 �  25,742

$ 771,800 $ 465,048 $ (421,992) $ 814,856

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 117,709 $ 1,215 $ �  $ 118,924
Fair value of commodity derivative instruments 9,124 �  �  9,124
Current maturities of long-term debt �  �  �  �  

Total current liabilities 126,833 1,215 �  128,048
Long-term debt 484,501 221,909 (221,909) 484,501
Other liabilities 58,496 41,841 �  100,337

669,830 264,965 (221,909) 712,886
Stockholders� equity:
Preferred stock �  3 (3) �  
Common stock 441 98 (98) 441
Additional paid-in capital 374,874 1,606 (1,606) 374,874
Retained earnings (14,989) 198,376 (198,376) (14,989) 
Treasury stock (258,356) �  �  (258,356) 

Total stockholders� equity 101,970 200,083 (200,083) 101,970

$ 771,800 $ 465,048 $ (421,992) $ 814,856
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2008

Parent
Company
Only

Guarantor
Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

(In thousands)
Revenue:
Oil and natural gas $ 259,258 $ 96,764 $ �  $ 356,022
Other 34,289 154 (34,213) 230

293,547 96,918 (34,213) 356,252
Costs and expenses:
Lease operating expenses 42,587 22,946 �  65,533
Taxes, other than on earnings 775 10,470 �  11,245
Exploration expenditures, dry hole cost and impairments 134,705 5,897 �  140,602
Depreciation, depletion, amortization and accretion 85,595 22,093 �  107,688
General and administrative 42,416 16,290 (15,000) 43,706
Other expenses 17,248 9 �  17,257

Total costs and expenses 323,326 77,705 (15,000) 386,031

Business interruption recovery 4,248 �  �  4,248
Income (loss) from operations (25,531) 19,213 (19,213) (25,531) 

Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net (45,749) �  �  (45,749) 
Gain (loss) on derivative instruments 2,053 �  �  2,053

Income (loss) before income taxes (69,227) 19,213 (19,213) (69,227) 
Income taxes 17,015 �  �  17,015

Net income (loss) $ (52,212) $ 19,213 $ (19,213) $ (52,212) 

92

Edgar Filing: WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 127



Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2007

Parent
Company
Only

Guarantor
Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

(In thousands)
Revenue:
Oil and natural gas $ 365,707 $ 88,633 $ �  $ 454,340
Other 58,595 172 (58,458) 309

424,302 88,805 (58,458) 454,649
Costs and expenses:
Lease operating expenses 95,237 (22,877) �  72,360
Taxes, other than on earnings 364 9,536 �  9,900
Exploration expenditures, dry hole cost and impairments 193,560 19,562 �  213,122
Depreciation, depletion, amortization and accretion 150,130 24,411 �  174,541
General and administrative 60,421 16,303 (15,000) 61,724
Other expenses (10,313) (1,588) �  (11,901) 

Total costs and expenses 489,399 45,347 (15,000) 519,746

Business interruption recovery 9,084 �  �  9,084
Income (loss) from operations (56,013) 43,458 (43,458) (56,013) 

Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net (44,628) �  �  (44,628) 
Gain (loss) on derivative instruments (13,083) �  �  (13,083) 
Loss on early extinguishment of debt (10,838) �  �  (10,838) 

Income (loss) before income taxes (124,562) 43,458 (43,458) (124,562) 
Income taxes 44,607 �  �  44,607

Net income (loss) $ (79,955) $ 43,458 $ (43,458) $ (79,955) 
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2006

Parent
Company
Only

Guarantor
Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

(In thousands)
Revenue:
Oil and gas $ 303,425 $ 145,761 $ �  $ 449,186
Other (54,711) 202 54,873 364

248,714 145,963 54,873 449,550
Costs and expenses:
Lease operating expenses 6,431 54,405 �  60,836
Taxes, other than on earnings 1,739 11,893 �  13,632
Exploration expenditures, dry hole cost and impairments 82,511 53,914 �  136,425
Depreciation, depletion, amortization and accretion 123,141 79,593 �  202,734
General and administrative 119,083 16,030 (15,000) 120,113
Other expenses 4,022 �  �  4,022

Total costs and expenses 336,927 215,835 (15,000) 537,762

Business interruption recovery 32,869 �  �  32,869
Income (loss) from operations (55,344) (69,872) 69,873 (55,343) 

Interest expense, net (23,141) (1) �  (23,142) 

Income (loss) before income taxes (78,485) (69,873) 69,873 (78,485) 
Income taxes 28,085 �  �  28,085

Net income (loss) $ (50,400) $ (69,873) $ 69,873 $ (50,400) 
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31, 2008

Parent
Company
Only

Guarantor
Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

(In thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 154,340 $ 30,270 $ �  $ 184,610
Cash flows used in investing activities:
Property acquisitions (20,833) (92) �  (20,925) 
Exploration and development expenditures (168,979) (30,178) �  (199,157) 
Other property and equipment additions (724) �  �  (724) 
Proceeds from the sale of oil and natural gas assets 15,576 �  �  15,576

Net cash used in investing activities (174,960) (30,270) �  (205,230) 
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities:
Deferred financing costs (5) �  �  (5) 
Repayments of long-term debt (120,000) �  �  (120,000) 
Proceeds from long-term debt 133,000 �  �  133,000
Exercise of stock options and warrants 752 �  �  752

Net cash provided by financing activities 13,747 �  �  13,747

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (6,873) �  �  (6,873) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 8,864 �  �  8,864

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period $ 1,991 $ �  $ �  $ 1,991
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31, 2007

Parent
Company
Only

Guarantor
Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

(In thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 272,356 $ 21,533 $ �  $ 293,889
Cash flows used in investing activities:
Insurance recoveries 19,574 �  �  19,574
Property acquisitions (6,922) (424) �  (7,346) 
Exploration and development expenditures (302,737) (21,109) �  (323,846) 
Other property and equipment additions (1,402) �  �  (1,402) 
Proceeds from the sale of oil and natural gas assets 68,599 �  �  68,599

Net cash used in investing activities (222,888) (21,533) �  (244,421) 
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities:
Deferred financing costs (11,178) �  �  (11,178) 
Repayments of long-term debt (530,499) �  �  (530,499) 
Proceeds from public offering net of commissions 698,000 �  �  698,000
Purchase of shares into equity (200,916) �  �  (200,916) 
Exercise of stock options and warrants 775 �  �  775

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (43,818) �  �  (43,818) 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 5,650 �  �  5,650
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 3,214 �  �  3,214

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period $ 8,864 $ �  $ �  $ 8,864
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31, 2006

Parent
Company
Only

Guarantor
Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

(In thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 225,000 $ 47,074 $ �  $ 272,074
Cash flows used in investing activities:
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired (420) �  �  (420) 
Property acquisitions (15,897) �  �  (15,897) 
Exploration and development expenditures (294,971) (46,965) �  (341,936) 
Other property and equipment additions (527) �  �  (527) 

Net cash used in investing activities (311,815) (46,965) �  (358,780) 
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities:
Deferred financing costs (853) �  �  (853) 
Repayments of long-term debt (73,000) (109) �  (73,109) 
Proceeds from public offering net of commissions 155,000 �  �  155,000
Exercise of stock options and warrants 2,093 �  �  2,093

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 83,240 (109) �  83,131

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (3,575) �  �  (3,575) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 6,789 �  �  6,789

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period $ 3,214 $ �  $ �  $ 3,214

(19) New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued SFAS No. 157, �Fair Value Measurements,� which establishes a
framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for financial statements
issued for periods beginning after November 15, 2007. In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (�FSP�) FAS 157-2, which defers
the effective date of SFAS No. 157 for non-financial assets and liabilities that are not recorded at fair value on a recurring basis until periods
beginning after November 15, 2008. We adopted the non-deferred portion of SFAS No. 157 on January 1, 2008 on a prospective basis. In
October 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-3, which became effective immediately and clarified the application of SFAS No. 157 in a market
that is not active. The adoption of SFAS No. 157 and FSP FAS 157-3 has not had a material impact on our financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, �The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Liabilities,� which permits entities to choose
to measure individually selected financial instruments at fair value. SFAS No. 159 is effective for financial statements issued for periods
beginning after November 15, 2007. Since we did not elect the fair value option on any qualifying financial instruments at any time during 2008,
this statement has had no impact on our financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), �Business Combinations,� which provides new accounting guidance and disclosure
requirements for business combinations and is effective for business combinations which occur starting with the first fiscal year beginning on or
after December 15, 2008.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, �Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements.� This statement provides
new accounting guidance and disclosure and presentation requirements for noncontrolling interests in an entity. SFAS No. 160 is effective for

Edgar Filing: WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 132



the first fiscal year beginning on or after December 15, 2008. We do not expect the effect of this statement on our financial statements to be
material.
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In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, �Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities-an amendment of FASB
Statement No. 133,� which provides new disclosure requirements for an entity�s derivative and hedging activities. SFAS No. 161 is effective for
periods beginning after November 15, 2008. We do not expect the effect of this statement on our financial statements to be material.

In June 2008, the FASB issued FSP Emerging Issues Task Force (�EITF�) Issue No. 03-6-1. This FSP concluded that instruments granted in
share-based payment transactions are participating securities prior to vesting and, therefore, should be included in the earnings allocations in
computing basic earnings per share under the two-class method. This FSP is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2008 with prior period retrospective application. We do not expect the effect of this FSP on our financial statements to be
material.

In December 2008, the FASB issued FSP SFAS No. 132(R)-1. This FSP requires companies to enhance disclosures related to the assets held in
defined benefit plans and other post-retirement benefits. This FSP is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2009. We do not expect this FSP to have any impact on our financial statements.

In December 2008, the SEC issued a final rule, �Modernization of Oil and Gas Reporting,� which amends its oil and gas reserves estimation and
disclosure requirements. The new requirements, among other things: permits the use of new technologies to determine proved reserves if those
technologies have been demonstrated empirically to lead to reliable conclusions about reserve volumes; modifies the prices used to estimate
reserves for SEC disclosure purposes to an average price based upon the prior twelve month period rather than a year-end price; allows the
optional disclosure of �probable� and �possible� reserves to investors; and requires that, if a third party is primarily responsible for preparing or
auditing the reserve estimates, the company make disclosures relating to the independence and qualifications of the third party, including filing
as an exhibit any report received from the third party. The revised rule is effective January 1, 2010 for reporting 2009 annual oil and natural gas
reserve information. We will adopt the provisions of the final rule in connection with the filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ending December 31, 2009. We are currently evaluating the impact of the final rule.

In May 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 165, �Subsequent Events,� which establishes general standards of accounting for and disclosure of
events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be issued. In particular, SFAS No. 165
sets forth:

� the period after the balance sheet date during which management should evaluate events or transactions that may occur for potential
recognition or disclosure in the financial statements;

� the circumstances under which an entity should recognize events or transactions occurring after the balance sheet date in its financial
statements; and

� disclosures that an entity should make about events or transactions that occurred after the balance sheet date.
SFAS No. 165 is effective for interim or annual financial periods ending after June 15, 2009. We are currently assessing what impact SFAS 165
may have on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 166, �Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets-an amendment of FASB Statement No. 140,� which
provides accounting and disclosure guidance regarding transfers of financial assets. SFAS No. 166 is effective for periods beginning after
November 15, 2009. We do not expect the effect of this statement on our financial statements to be material.
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In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 167, �Amendments to FASB Interpretation No. 46(R),� to improve financial reporting by enterprises
involved with variable interest entities. SFAS No. 167 is effective for periods beginning after November 15, 2009. We do not expect the effect
of this statement on our financial statements to be material.

In July 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 168, �The FASB Accounting Standards CodificationTM and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles�a replacement of FASB Statement No. 162.� The FASB Accounting Standards CodificationTM (Codification) will become
the source of authoritative U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental
entities. On the effective date of this statement, the Codification will supersede all then-existing non-SEC accounting and reporting standards.
All other nongrandfathered, non-SEC accounting literature not included in the Codification will become nonauthoritative. While the
Codification does not change GAAP, it introduces a new structure that reorganizes the thousands of GAAP pronouncements into roughly 90
accounting topics, which are accessible in an online research system. SFAS No. 168 is effective for financial statements issued for interim and
annual periods ending after September 15, 2009. In November 2008, SFAS No. 162, �The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles,� became effective, which identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting the principles to be used in
the preparation of financial statements that are presented in conformity with GAAP. Once the Codification is in effect, all of its content will
carry the same level of authority, effectively superseding SFAS No. 162.

(20) Supplementary Oil and Natural Gas Disclosures�(Unaudited)

Our estimates of proved reserves are based on reserve reports prepared by Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc. and Ryder Scott Company,
L.P., independent petroleum engineers as of December 31, 2008. Users of this information should be aware that the process of estimating
quantities of �proved� and �proved-developed� natural gas and crude oil reserves is very complex, requiring significant subjective decisions in the
evaluation of all available geological, engineering and economic data for each reservoir. The data for a given reservoir may also change
substantially over time as a result of numerous factors including, but not limited to, additional development activity, evolving production history
and continual reassessment of the viability of production under varying economic conditions. Consequently, material revisions to existing
reserve estimates occur from time to time. Although every reasonable effort is made to ensure that reserve estimates reported represent the most
accurate assessments possible, the significance of the subjective decisions required and variances in available data for various reservoirs make
these estimates generally less precise than other estimates presented in connection with financial statement disclosures. Proved reserves are
estimated quantities of natural gas, crude oil and condensate that geological and engineering data demonstrate, with reasonable certainty, to be
recoverable in future years from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions. Proved-developed reserves are proved
reserves that can be expected to be recovered through existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods.
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The following table sets forth our net proved reserves, including the changes therein, and proved-developed reserves:

Crude Oil
(Mbbls)

Natural Gas
(Mmcf)

Barrels of Oil
Equivalent
(Mboe)

Proved-developed and undeveloped reserves:
December 31, 2005 31,478 166,949 59,303
Sales of reserves in place (129) (750) (254) 
Extensions, discoveries and other additions (a) 1,057 44,336 8,446
Revisions 515 (1,704) 231
Production (3,007) (38,708) (9,458) 

December 31, 2006 29,914 170,123 58,268
Sales of reserves in place (b) (363) (10,214) (2,066) 
Purchases of reserves in place (c) 46 3,628 651
Extensions, discoveries and other additions (d) 469 12,361 2,529
Revisions (e) 1,258 (39,139) (5,265) 
Production (3,201) (33,641) (8,808) 

December 31, 2007 28,123 103,118 45,309
Sales of reserves in place (265) (1,819) (568) 
Extensions, discoveries and other additions (f) 956 8,482 2,370
Revisions (g) (5,125) (2,477) (5,538) 
Production (2,052) (16,496) (4,802) 

December 31, 2008 21,637 90,808 36,771

Proved-developed reserves:
December 31, 2006 24,811 117,392 44,376
December 31, 2007 23,636 85,926 37,957
December 31, 2008 17,052 79,413 30,288

(a) Includes approximately 2.2 MMboe associated with discoveries in Greater Bay Marchand.

(b) Includes the sale of approximately 2.1 Mmboe proved reserves in the sale of substantially all of our onshore South Louisiana producing
assets.

(c) Purchases are the result of the acquisition of an additional interest in our deepwater leases and reserves acquired through the non
participation rights in a well operation.

(d) Includes approximately 1.8 Mmboe associated with discoveries in Greater Bay Marchand.

(e) Comprised of approximately 1.4 Mmboe of positive revisions and approximately 6.6 Mmboe of negative revisions, of which
approximately 4.1 Mmboe was on fields that were impaired during 2007.
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(f) Includes approximately 1.2 Mmboe associated with discoveries in Greater Bay Marchand and approximately 0.4 Mmboe associated with
discoveries at our East Bay field.

(g) Comprised of approximately 3.5 Mmboe of negative revisions associated with price decreases in both oil and natural gas and
approximately 2.0 Mmboe of negative revisions associated with underperformance of wells.
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Capitalized costs for oil and natural gas producing activities consist of the following:

2008 2007
(In thousands)

Proved properties $ 1,601,748 $ 1,496,068
Unproved properties 36,274 42,083
Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization (951,316) (817,923) 

Net capitalized costs $ 686,706 $ 720,228

Costs incurred for oil and natural gas property acquisition, exploration and development activities for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007
and 2006 are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006

(In thousands)
Acquisitions
-Proved $ �  $ 2,167 $ 420
-Unproved 20,925 7,346 15,896
Exploration 56,202 191,621 224,147
Development (1) 127,948 121,769 167,346

Costs incurred $ 205,075 $ 322,903 $ 407,809

(1) Includes asset retirement obligations incurred of $13.4 million, $5.6 million and $8.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007
and 2006, respectively.

Expenditures incurred for exploratory dry holes are excluded from operating cash flows and included in investing activities in the consolidated
statements of cash flows.

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows Relating to Reserves

The following information has been developed utilizing procedures prescribed by SFAS No. 69, �Disclosures about Oil and Gas Producing
Activities�. It may be useful for certain comparative purposes, but should not be solely relied upon in evaluating our performance. Further,
information contained in the following table should not be considered as representative of realistic assessments of future cash flows, nor should
the Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows be viewed as representative of the current value of our oil and natural gas
reserves or the current value of the Company.

We believe that the following factors should be taken into account in reviewing the following information: (1) future costs and sales prices will
probably differ from those required to be used in these calculations; (2) due to future market conditions and governmental regulations, actual
rates of production achieved in future years may vary significantly from the rate of production assumed in the calculations; (3) selection of a
10% discount rate is arbitrary and may not be reasonable as a measure of the relative risk inherent in realizing future net oil and gas revenues;
and (4) future net revenues may be subject to different rates of income taxation.

Under the Standardized Measure, future cash inflows were estimated by applying the use of physical pricing determined by the market on the
last day of the fiscal year, applying historical adjustments, including transportation, quality differentials, and purchaser bonuses, on an individual
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the fiscal year are determined by comparing our historical realized price experience with the comparable
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historical market, or posted, price. These adjustments can vary significantly over time both in amount and as a percentage of the market price on
the last day of the fiscal year, especially related to oil prices during periods when the market price for oil varies widely or the year end market
price is significantly higher or lower than the average realized price during the year. The price adjustments reflected in our year end reserve
prices may not represent the amount of price adjustments we may actually obtain in the future when we sell our production. Future cash inflows
were reduced by estimated future development, abandonment and production costs based on period-end costs with the assumption of the
continuation of existing economic conditions in order to arrive at net cash flow before tax. Future income tax expense has been computed by
applying period-end statutory tax rates to aggregate future net cash flows, reduced by the tax basis of the properties involved and tax
carryforwards. Use of a 10% annual discount rate is required by Statement 69.

The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows relating to proved oil and natural gas reserves is as follows:

2008 2007 2006
(In thousands)

Future cash inflows $ 1,517,701 $ 3,384,268 $ 2,688,624
Future production costs (612,934) (895,352) (700,915) 
Future development costs (347,107) (316,753) (355,238) 
Future income tax expense (15,176) (598,874) (415,250) 

Future net cash flows after income taxes 542,484 1,573,289 1,217,221
10% annual discount for estimated timing of cash flows (126,313) (480,354) (323,747) 

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows $ 416,171 $ 1,092,935 $ 893,474

A summary of the changes in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows applicable to proved oil and natural gas reserves for
the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 is as follows:

2008 2007 2006
(In thousands)

Beginning of the period $ 1,092,935 $ 893,474 $ 1,261,246
Sales and transfers of oil and natural gas produced, net of production costs (277,493) (375,060) (379,624) 
Net changes in prices and production costs (749,426) 788,913 (648,509) 
Extensions, discoveries and improved recoveries, net of future production costs 28,437 106,690 250,255
Revision of quantity estimates (117,355) (210,230) 8,316
Previously estimated development costs incurred during the period 27,932 63,588 97,073
Purchase and sales of reserves in place, net (21,514) (50,060) (5,951) 
Changes in estimated future development costs (46,956) (8,935) (28,356) 
Changes in production rates (timing) and other (35,692) (151,746) (91,709) 
Accretion of discount 147,029 118,830 180,618
Net change in income taxes 368,274 (82,529) 250,115

Net increase (decrease) (676,764) 199,461 (367,772) 

End of period $ 416,171 $ 1,092,935 $ 893,474

102

Edgar Filing: WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 140



Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

At December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the computation of the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows relating to proved oil
and natural gas reserves was based on the following period-end prices:

2008 2007 2006
per Mcf for natural gas $ 6.05 $ 6.98 $ 5.54
per barrel for oil $ 44.77 $ 94.76 $ 58.40

(21) Related Party Transactions

One of our former directors was a senior managing director of Evercore Group L.L.C. (�Evercore�). Evercore provided financial advisory services
to us in connection with the Stone transaction, the Woodside offer and our exploration of strategic alternatives. Evercore received fees of $1.6
million in 2006 in connection with the financial advisory services related to the Stone transaction and the consideration of the unsolicited offer
from Woodside. In addition, a $7.0 million fee was due to Evercore upon the earlier of the consummation of a transaction or September 5, 2007,
of which $2.3 million was accrued during 2006 and the remaining $4.7 million was accrued during the first nine months of 2007 and paid in
September 2007.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the
time periods specified in the SEC�s rules and forms. This information is also accumulated and communicated to management, including our
principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our
management, under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the most recent fiscal quarter reported on
herein. Based on that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2008 because of the material weaknesses discussed in Item 9A(b) below.

(b) Management�s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
GAAP. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that our receipts and expenditures are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and our directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial
statements.

In connection with our annual evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, our management, under the supervision and with the
participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, assessed the effectiveness as of December 31, 2008 of our internal
control over financial reporting based on criteria established in Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (�COSO�). Management�s evaluation included an assessment of the design of our internal control over
financial reporting and testing of the operating effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. During this evaluation, management
identified the following material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and has concluded that as a result of these material
weaknesses, our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2008 based upon the criteria issued by COSO:

� Control Environment over Financial Reporting. We lacked sufficient resources and accounting expertise to perform effective
supervisory reviews and monitoring activities over financial reporting matters and controls related to matters involving judgments
and estimates.

These deficiencies contributed to the development of the Complex and Non-Routine Accounting Matters and Period-End Financial Reporting
Process material weaknesses described below.

� Complex or Non-Routine Accounting Matters. We lacked sufficient expertise and resources within our organization to effectively
identify and evaluate the financial reporting implications of complex or non-routine accounting matters, such as application of SFAS
No. 143, �Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.�
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� Period-End Financial Reporting Process. We also lacked sufficient expertise and resources within our organization to ensure journal
entries, both recurring and non-recurring, were accompanied by sufficient supporting documentation and were adequately reviewed
and approved prior to being recorded.

There were material errors in AROs and impairments resulting from the material weaknesses and the errors were corrected prior to the issuance
of the financial statements.

KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has issued a report concerning the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2008. See �Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm� in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual
Report.

(c) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our system of internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended December 31, 2008 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting, except as described below.

During 2008, we experienced changes in personnel, including our Controller, who were performing key quarterly and annual internal control
processes. The material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting as described above occurred during the three months ended
December 31, 2008.

In light of the material weaknesses described above, we performed additional procedures that were designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of (1) our financial reporting; and (2) the preparation of the consolidated financial statements contained in this Annual
Report. Accordingly, management believes that the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report fairly present, in all
material respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Accordingly, even effective internal control over financial reporting
can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives.

(d) Management�s Remediation Plans

We plan to remediate our material weaknesses caused by a lack of personnel when we are able to recruit and retain the required resources.
Management believes that (1) hiring adequate accounting resources with appropriate accounting expertise and (2) enhancing policies and
procedures will remedy the material weaknesses described above.

We are committed to finalizing our remediation action plan and implementing the necessary enhancements to our resources, policies and
procedures to fully remediate the material weaknesses discussed above, and these material weaknesses will not be considered remediated until
(1) new resources are fully engaged and new processes are fully implemented, (2) new processes are implemented for a sufficient period of time
and (3) we are confident that the new processes are operating effectively.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Directors and Executive Officers

Set forth below are the names, ages and positions of our current directors and executive officers:

Name Age Positions Held
Jerry D. Carlisle 63 Director
Robert D. Gershen 55 Director
James R. Latimer, III 63 Director
Bryant H. Patton 50 Director
Steven J. Pully 49 Director
Alan D. Bell 63 Chief Restructuring Officer
Thomas D. DeBrock 49 Senior Vice President of Exploration
Stephen D. Longon 51 Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer
John H. Peper 57 Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary
Tiffany J. Thom 37 Vice President, Treasurer and Investor Relations
L. Keith Vincent 54 Senior Vice President of Acquisitions and Land
Jerry D. Carlisle has been a director since March 2003. Mr. Carlisle was Deputy Inspector General, Audit and Review, in the office of inspector
general in the City of New Orleans from December 2008 to April 2009. Mr. Carlisle has been vice president and director of DarC Marketing,
Inc., a family-owned marketing company, since 1997. From 1983 to 1997, Mr. Carlisle was vice president, controller and chief accounting
officer of The Louisiana Land and Exploration Company (�LL&E�) and, from 1979 to 1983, he held various management positions at LL&E.
Mr. Carlisle has a masters of business administration from Loyola University, is a certified public accountant, and serves as a trustee of the
Mississippi State University Business School. Mr. Carlisle is also a director of Louisiana Citizen�s Property Insurance Corporation.

Robert D. Gershen has been a director since May 1998. Since September 1989, Mr. Gershen has been president of Associated Energy Managers,
LLC, an investment management firm specializing in private equity investments in the energy sector. In addition, since December 2001,
Mr. Gershen has served as president of Longview Energy Company, a privately held oil and gas company.

James R. Latimer, III has been a director since May 2008. Since 1991, Mr. Latimer has been the head of The Latimer Companies, a private oil
and gas exploration and development company. He is also a partner of Blackhill Partners/Blackhill Advisors, a financial advisory and merchant
banking firm, primarily in energy and technology industries, which he founded in 2000. Mr. Latimer currently serves as a director of NGP
Capital Resources Company.

Bryant H. Patton has been a director since May 2008. Mr. Patton is the president of BRYCAP Investments, Inc., a merchant banking firm
specializing in energy related companies that he founded in 1989. In 2000, he also co-founded Camden Resources, Inc., a private oil and gas
exploration and production company, and served as executive vice president until the company was acquired at the end of 2007. Mr. Patton also
served as senior vice president of Associated Energy Managers, LLC, an investment management firm specializing in private equity investments
in the energy sector, from 1991 to 1998. Mr. Patton also is a director of the general partner of Abraxas Energy Partners, L.P.

Steven J. Pully has been a director since May 2008. Mr. Pully has been the General Counsel of Carlson Capital, L.P., a multi-strategy investment
firm, since July 2008. From October 2007 to April 2008, he was a consultant in the asset management industry and provided consulting services
for Carlson Capital, L.P. From December 2001 to October 2007, Mr. Pully worked for Newcastle Capital Management, L.P., an investment
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partnership, where he served as president from January 2003 through October 2007. He served as chief executive officer of New Century Equity
Holdings Corp., from June 2004 through October 2007. Prior to joining Newcastle Capital Management, he was an investment banker at Banc of
America Securities, Inc. and Bear Stearns with a primary focus on the energy sector. Mr. Pully is also a director of Cano Petroleum, Inc. and
Ember Resources Inc. Mr. Pully is licensed to practice law in the State of Texas and is a CPA and CFA.

Alan D. Bell joined us in March 2009 as our chief restructuring officer. Mr. Bell has extensive experience in the petroleum industry. Mr. Bell
started his career as a production engineer from 1969 to 1972 for Chevron Oil Company in the Gulf of Mexico. He then spent 33 years with
Ernst & Young auditing natural resource companies, dealing with the Securities and Exchange Commission and working with senior executives
and boards of directors of public companies within the energy industry. At the time of his retirement in June 2006, Mr. Bell was the director of
Ernst & Young LLP�s energy practice in the Southwest U.S. area. Mr. Bell earned a master�s degree in business from Tulane University and a
bachelor�s degree in petroleum engineering from the Colorado School of Mines, and is a certified public accountant licensed in Texas. Mr. Bell is
also a director of Dune Energy, Inc. where he serves as the Chairman of the Audit Committee. Until June 4, 2009, Mr. Bell served as a director
of Toreador Resources Corporation.

Thomas D. DeBrock joined us in June 1998 as a senior geologist and was promoted to exploration manager, New Orleans in September 2004,
vice president of exploration in August 2006 and senior vice president of exploration in August 2007. He has 23 years of energy industry
experience in both the exploration and development efforts. Mr. DeBrock began his career with GTS Seismic Corporation, and then joined
Odeco Oil and Gas working the Gulf of Mexico Shelf followed by a move to LL&E to work the Onshore area of South Louisiana. After the
merger of LL&E with Burlington Resources, he joined W&T Offshore before joining us.

Stephen D. Longon joined us in July 2007 as senior vice president�drilling and engineering and in February 2008 was assigned additional
responsibilities and was named senior vice president�drilling, engineering and production. In July 2008, Mr. Longon was named executive vice
president and chief operating officer. He has 29 years of energy industry experience. He was most recently with Dominion Exploration &
Production, Inc. (�Dominion�), from May 2001 to July 2007 in its New Orleans office serving as general manager of production and operations,
with responsibility for their operations on the Gulf of Mexico Shelf, in the deepwater Gulf of Mexico and onshore South Louisiana. During his
earlier years with Dominion, he played a key role in the integration and management of substantial resource assets in the Arklatex area, South
Texas and the Texas Gulf Coast. Prior to his position with Dominion, Mr. Longon served in a variety of Gulf of Mexico operational roles as
production manager with ATP Oil & Gas Corp. from September 2000 to May 2001, various management positions over construction, Gulf of
Mexico assets and deepwater development for Vastar Resources, Inc. from October 1993 to September 2000 and for Atlantic Richfield
Company in positions of increasing responsibility, primarily in the Gulf of Mexico and onshore Texas and south Louisiana from June 1979 to
October 1993.

John H. Peper joined us in January 2002 as executive vice president, general counsel and corporate secretary. Prior to joining us, Mr. Peper was
senior vice president, general counsel and secretary of Hall Houston Oil Company (�HHOC�) since February 1993. Mr. Peper also served as a
director of HHOC from October 1991 until we acquired HHOC in January 2002. For more than five years prior to joining HHOC, Mr. Peper
was a partner in the law firm of Jackson Walker, L.L.P., where he continued to serve in an of counsel capacity through 2001.

Tiffany J. Thom joined us as a senior asset management engineer in 2000, and has since held the positions of director of corporate reserves and
director of investor relations. In July 2009, she was designated as our principal financial officer. Prior to joining us, Ms. Thom was a senior
reservoir engineer with Exxon Production Company and ExxonMobil Company. Ms. Thom holds a B.S. in Engineering from the University of
Illinois and a M.B.A. in Management with a concentration in Finance from Tulane University.

107

Edgar Filing: WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 145



Table of Contents

L. Keith Vincent joined us as land manager in January 1999 and was appointed vice president, land and business development in July 2000. In
August 2007, he was promoted to senior vice president�land and business development and in February 2008 was assigned additional
responsibilities and was appointed senior vice president of acquisitions and land. Mr. Vincent was vice president, land and legal, of Great River
Oil & Gas Corporation from 1994 to October 1998. From October 1998 until joining us, Mr. Vincent was a self-employed sole proprietor
performing contract work for various oil and gas exploration companies. During Mr. Vincent�s 29-year career, he also held various managerial
positions with Davis Petroleum Corporation and Transco Exploration Company.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors, executive officers and persons who beneficially own more than 10% of our outstanding
common stock to file initial reports of ownership and changes in ownership of common stock with the SEC. Reporting persons are required by
the SEC to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file. Based solely on our review of the copies of reports we received and
written representations from our directors and officers, we believe that all filings required to be made under Section 16(a) for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2008 were timely made with the exception of the following:

� On April 3, 2008, Dina B. Riviere filed a Form 4 due March 18, 2008;

� On April 3, 2008, Dina B. Riviere filed a Form 4 due March 19, 2008;

� On June 2, 2008, Dina B. Riviere filed a Form 4 due April 24, 2008; and

� On October 23, 2008, Harold D. Carter filed a Form 4 due October 8, 2008.
Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Corporate Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all directors and employees, including our chief executive
officer, chief financial officer and controller. A copy of the code is available on our website at www.eplweb.com. A copy of the code is also
available, at no cost, by writing to our Secretary at 201 St. Charles Avenue, Suite 3400, New Orleans, Louisiana, 70170. We will post on our
website any waiver of the code granted to any of our directors or executive officers promptly following the date of the amendment or waiver. No
such waiver has ever been sought or granted.

Nominating Procedures

When seeking candidates for director, the Nominating & Governance Committee may solicit suggestions from incumbent directors,
management, stockholders or others. In addition, the Nominating & Governance Committee has authority under its charter to retain a search firm
for this purpose. After conducting an initial evaluation of a potential candidate, the Nominating & Governance Committee will interview that
candidate if it believes such candidate might be suitable to be a director. The Nominating & Governance Committee may also ask the candidate
to meet with management. If the Nominating & Governance Committee believes a candidate would be a valuable addition to the Board, it will
recommend to the full Board that candidate�s election.

The Nominating & Governance Committee selects each nominee based on the nominee�s skills, achievements and experience. The Nominating &
Governance Committee considers a variety of factors in selecting candidates, including, but not limited to the following: independence, wisdom,
integrity, an understanding and general acceptance of our corporate philosophy, valid business or professional knowledge and experience, a
proven record of accomplishment with excellent organizations, an inquiring mind, a willingness to speak one�s mind, an ability to challenge and
stimulate management and a willingness to commit time and energy.
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Audit Committee Information

The Board has a standing Audit Committee established in accordance with Section (3)(a)(58)(A) of the Exchange Act, the current members of
which are Messrs. Carlisle, Latimer and Pully. The Board, in its business judgment, has determined that each of the members of the Audit
Committee is �independent� as defined by the Company�s categorical standards on independence as well as the listing standards of the NYSE and
the rules of the SEC applicable to audit committee members. Further, the Board, in its business judgment, has determined that Mr. Carlisle
qualifies as an �audit committee financial expert� as described in Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

No member of the Compensation Committee is now, or at any time has been, employed by or served as an officer of our company or any of its
subsidiaries or had any substantial business dealings with our company or any of its subsidiaries. None of our executive officers are now, or at
any time has been, a member of the compensation committee or board of directors of another entity, one of whose executive officers has been a
member of the Compensation Committee or the Board of our company.

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the disclosure set forth below under the heading �Compensation Discussion and
Analysis� with management and, based on the review and discussions, it has recommended to the Board of Directors that the �Compensation
Discussion and Analysis� be included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.

Respectfully submitted by the Compensation Committee,

Robert D. Gershen
James R. Latimer, III*
Steven J. Pully*

* Messrs. Latimer and Pully joined the Compensation Committee in May 2008 and February 2009, respectively.
Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Objectives of Our Executive Compensation Program

The Compensation Committee (for purposes of this Item 11, the Committee) believes that our executive compensation program should motivate
management to achieve our annual, long-term and strategic goals, and enhance stockholder value. Our compensation objectives are to attract and
retain the best available talent and foster a corporate culture of teamwork to achieve our business objectives while rewarding individual
contributions, all in order to achieve a superior rate of stockholder return over time.

The Committee based its decisions with respect to performance-measured compensation of our executive officers for services rendered in fiscal
2008 upon these principles and its assessment of each officer�s potential to enhance long-term stockholder value. The Committee also considered
each executive officer�s current salary and prior year compensation, as well as compensation paid to the executive officer�s peers when making its
compensation decisions.
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Setting Our Executive Officer Compensation

Role of the Compensation Consultant, the Committee and Management

The Committee has engaged Towers Perrin and Frederic W. Cook & Co., Inc. in the past as consultants to assist it in determining appropriate
types and levels of compensation. For the fiscal year 2008, Towers Perrin assisted the Committee with an evaluation of the base salary levels of
our top executive officers. Frederic W. Cook & Co., Inc. prepared an analysis of the following compensation matters for each of the officers
named in the Summary Compensation Table located in our proxy statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders: (1) base salary levels,
(2) actual total cash compensation (comprised of base salary and cash incentive bonus), (3) total long term incentive compensation and (4) actual
total direct compensation. The Committee�s use of this analysis is discussed in more detail below. In addition, Frederic W. Cook & Co., Inc.
prepared an analysis of director compensation for the Committee as discussed in more detail below under ��Director Compensation�General.�
Neither firm performs services for us other than its work for the Committee.

Prior to July 2008, decisions with respect to the compensation of our executive officers (other than our Chief Executive Officer) were made by
the Committee based on recommendations by the Chief Executive Officer. Subsequent to July 2008, decisions with respect to the compensation
of our executive officers (with the exception of our Chief Executive Officer) were made by the Board based on recommendations by the
Committee. The Committee expects recommendations from our Chief Executive Officer but exercises its own judgment and makes its own
determination. The compensation of our Chief Executive Officer is recommended by the Committee and approved by the independent members
of the Board. The compensation of our non-executive officers and other employees is determined by our executive officers.

Determining Compensation

The Committee, which relies upon the judgment of its members in making compensation decisions, has established a number of processes to
assist it in ensuring that our executive compensation program supports our objectives and company culture. Among those processes are
competitive benchmarking and an assessment of individual and company performance, which are described in more detail below.

� Competitive Benchmarking. The Committee compares our executive pay practices against other companies to assist it in the review
and comparison of each element of compensation for our executive officers. This practice recognizes that (1) our compensation
practices must be competitive in the marketplace and (2) marketplace information is one of the many factors considered in assessing
the reasonableness of our executive compensation program. The Committee�s use of competitive benchmarking for each element of
compensation is discussed in more detail below. The peer group used by the Committee for its fiscal 2008 compensation decisions
included: ATP Oil & Gas Corp., Bois d�Arc Energy, Inc., Callon Petroleum Company, Mariner Energy, Inc., McMoRan Exploration
Co., Meridian Resource Corp., Stone Energy Corp. and W & T Offshore, Inc. (collectively, the 2008 Peer Group). The 2008 Peer
Group was formulated by management and approved by the Committee. This is the same peer group used for comparing our stock
performance as set forth under Part II, Item 5, �Market for Registrant�s Common Stock, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities� with the exception of Bois d�Arc Energy, Inc., which was not included for stock performance
comparisons due to its acquisition by Stone in 2008.

� Assessment of Individual and Company Performance. The Committee believes that a balance of individual and company
performance criteria should be used in establishing total compensation. Individual and company performance determines the
amounts earned under our annual cash incentive bonus program. Company performance is a significant factor in the value of
equity-based compensation. These performance measures are discussed in more detail below.
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Types of Compensation

We generally provide three primary types of compensation to our executive officers:

� annual base salary;

� annual cash incentive bonus; and

� long-term equity-based compensation, consisting of restricted share units (settled in shares or cash) and stock options and share
appreciation rights (settled in shares or cash), the value of which is directly linked to the value of our common stock.

Occasionally, we provide one-time cash payments to certain executive officers as described in more detail below under ��Cash Payments.�

The distribution of compensation among the various components of compensation is driven by the Committee�s belief that a substantial
component of each officer�s annual compensation is dependent upon measurable improvement to stockholder value and, therefore, �at risk.� For
example, the annual cash incentive bonus is primarily determined by the Committee�s assessment of success measured against pre-established
corporate goals, which has the effect of making it �at risk.� No amount of annual incentive is guaranteed. The long-term equity-based
compensation, although not directly tied to the corporate goals, is variable because its real value is driven by future stock performance, which is
linked to corporate performance.

Annual Base Salary

We provide our executive officers and other employees with an annual base salary to compensate them for services rendered during the year.

At least once each year, the Committee reviews each executive officer�s annual base salary. This review is conducted with the assistance of
Towers Perrin. Towers Perrin�s analysis typically includes (1) an assessment, which is based on market data derived from published surveys, of
each executive officer�s compensation level compared to other executive officers in similar positions in the exploration and production industry
as well as the marketplace, in general, and (2) a detailed review of the compensation paid to other executive officers in similar positions in a
selected peer group of companies. In general, the Committee targets the median to 75th percentile of available market data for the base salaries
levels of our executive officers. A competitive base salary is consistent with our long-term objectives of attracting and retaining highly qualified,
competent executives.

In December 2007, Towers Perrin used the following surveys to gather the market data for the first part of its analysis: (1) The William M.
Mercer, 2007 Energy Compensation Survey, and (2) the Effective Compensation, Incorporated, 2007 Oil & Gas E&P Compensation Survey. As
the second part of its analysis, Towers Perrin reviewed fiscal 2007 compensation disclosures contained in the proxy statements filed by the 2008
Peer Group.

Based on the data provided by Towers Perrin, the Committee approved fiscal 2008 base salary adjustments for each executive officer (other than
Mr. Bachmann), consistent with the Committee�s compensation philosophy targeting the median to 75th percentile of the 2008 Peer Group. The
following table provides the base salaries for our Named Executive Officers in fiscal years 2007 and 2008 and the percentage increase in their
2008 base salary from their 2007 base salary.

Named Executive Officer 2007 Base Salary 2008 Base Salary Percentage Increase
($) ($) (%)

Richard A. Bachmann 500,000 525,000 5
Joseph T. Leary 250,000 265,000 6
Thomas D. DeBrock 260,000 270,000 4
Stephen D. Longon (1) 240,000 340,000 42
John H. Peper 250,000 275,000 10
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(1) Mr. Longon�s salary was increased from $240,000 to $245,000 in December 2007 (representing a 2.08% increase). In July 2008,
Mr. Longon�s salary was increased by the Committee from $245,000 to $340,000 in connection with his promotion to Executive Vice
President and Chief Operating Officer.

Cash Payments

From time to time, we make cash payments to our executive officers pursuant to the terms of agreements with our officers and, less frequently,
in special recognition of individual and/or company performance.

Commencing December 1, 2007, Mr. DeBrock was entitled to a payment of $120,000 each December 1 through December 1, 2012. The
payment received by Mr. DeBrock in 2008 is reflected in the Bonus column of the Summary Compensation Table below. Please see ��Narrative
Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table� for additional information regarding this payment.

Annual Cash Incentive Bonus

The purpose of our annual incentive bonus program is to motivate our executive officers to achieve, and reward the accomplishment of, our
annual company objectives and individual performance. Incentive bonuses are based on quantitative and qualitative factors that the Committee
may deem appropriate and the Committee�s assessment of the individual�s performance. Historically, the Committee has targeted the 75th
percentile of a selected peer group of companies for the combination of base salary and incentive bonus when results warrant.

While the Committee does not apply a completely formulaic approach, for fiscal 2008, the quantitative targets established by the Committee
(based on input provided by management) consisted of:

� An exit production rate of 20,000 Boe per day,

� A 100% reserve replacement,

� Cash costs (lease operating expenses, general and administrative expense and taxes other than on earnings, excluding our merger and
acquisition expenses) per Boe (Cash Costs/Boe) relative to the 2008 Bonus Peer Group (as defined below),

� A 20% reduction in cash costs from fiscal 2007, and

� The increase in value of our common stock relative to the 2008 Bonus Peer Group.
�2008 Bonus Peer Group� means the 2008 Peer Group with the addition of Energy XXI (Bermuda) Limited. The Committee included Energy XXI
(Bermuda) Limited, a shelf Gulf of Mexico operating company with similar market capitalization and financial structure, in the peer group used
for the fiscal 2008 quantitative bonus targets due to the anticipated acquisition of Bois d�Arc Energy, Inc. by Stone Energy Corp. and the
Committee�s desire to use the same number of companies for purposes of peer group comparisons.

The Committee weights each of these factors equally, and the Named Executive Officers can receive up to a maximum of 200% of each
quantitative target if performance exceeds the predetermined levels. The quantitative performance targets were selected because, in the analysis
by management and the Committee, these targets represent �stretch� targets required for the Company to be a successful exploration and
production (�E&P�) company for the following reasons:

�
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An exit production rate of 20,000 Boe per day represented an increase of more than 40% of the average of 14,000 Boe per day at the
time when the Committee established this target. In addition, the Committee considered our lower production forecast for the year.

� A target of 100% reserve replacement was considered a substantial goal as compared to our negative reserve replacement for fiscal
2007, particularly in light of our limited financial budget to drill for new reserves.
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� The 20% cash costs reduction was considered a meaningful year over year reduction in expenses.

� Cash costs per Boe and the increase in value of our common stock relative to the 2008 Bonus Peer Group each required performance
above the median of the 2008 Bonus Peer Group for accomplishment, which was considered meaningful for purposes of improving
stockholder value relative to our peers.

Substantially all of the targets can be compared to other E&P companies from published data, and past experience has indicated that success
with these targets will usually have a positive impact on stock price, thus aligning the targets with stockholder interests.

In reviewing quantitative factors, the Committee will determine each year whether a level of performance below our targets is deserving of any
bonus percentage, taking into account external factors beyond the control of the executives. For example, the Committee has, in the past,
adjusted targets for extraordinary events such as the impact of hurricanes on our ability to achieve such targets. While the Committee does not
set objectively ascertainable performance objectives for each individual officer, individual performance is considered by the Committee when
making the bonus determinations.

A target bonus percentage of base salary is predetermined and periodically reviewed for each executive on the basis of market practices,
although actual bonus payments can be significantly affected by the Committee�s assessment of individual performance. The fiscal 2008 target
bonus percentages for the Named Executive Officers set forth in the Summary Compensation Table are as follows: Mr. Bachmann�100%;
Mr. Leary�55%; Mr. DeBrock�50%; Mr. Longon�65%; and Mr. Peper�55%.

Historically, the Committee has made the final bonus determinations around March of each fiscal year. In light of the events leading up to and
culminating in the filing of Chapter 11 Cases, the Committee determined that no bonuses would be awarded for fiscal 2008.

Long-Term Equity-Based Compensation

Our long-term equity-based incentive program is designed to give our key employees a longer-term stake in our company, act as a long-term
retention tool and align employee and stockholder interests by aligning compensation with growth in stockholder value. To achieve these
objectives, we generally rely on a combination of different types of equity and grants with equity-like features, which are made pursuant to our
2006 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan (�LTIP�).

In determining the appropriate levels of long-term equity-based compensation, the Committee periodically reviews comparable compensation, as
well as historical share usage and dilution analyses and the fair value of long-term compensation as a percentage of market capitalization, of a
selected peer group. The Committee also periodically reviews the general mix of equity awards used by exploration and production companies
of similar size and revenues in compensating executive officers. The Committee has historically targeted a dollar value of awards that would
place our officers at or near the 75th percentile of equity awards provided by a selected peer group for long-term compensation.

For the fiscal 2008 equity awards to our executive officers (other than Mr. Bachmann), the Committee used a combination of stock options,
stock-settled restricted share units and cash-settled restricted share units to provide long-term compensation. The Committee�s rationale for
selecting each type of equity award is explained in more detail below. The desired dollar value of long-term compensation was (1) based upon
targeting the 75th percentile of equity awards provided by the 2008 Peer Group and (2) divided with respect to limitations set forth in our proxy
statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders where we committed to an average annual �burn rate� of no more than 2.5% of our
outstanding shares for calendar years 2006 through 2008 in order to obtain a favorable recommendation from Risk Metrics Group (formerly,
Institutional Shareholder Services,
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Inc.) on the vote for the LTIP. When granting the awards, the Committee aimed to provide an allocation consisting of 25% of option shares and
75% stock-settled restricted share units to achieve its competitive benchmarking target of the 75th percentile. However, because of our burn rate
commitment to Risk Metrics Group for the third and final year (2008), the Committee allocated the equity awards as follows: stock options
(25%), stock-settled restricted share units (22%) and cash-settled restricted share units (53%). A significant portion of the restricted share units
allocation was made by the Committee to cash-settled awards in order to achieve the desired dollar value of long-term compensation because
cash-settled restricted share units are not included in the calculation of burn rate.

For purposes of the above commitment, �burn rate� is calculated by dividing the number of stock options, restricted shares, restricted shares units
and stock-settled stock appreciation rights granted, and performance shares and stock-settled performance units paid, during each fiscal year by
the number of basic shares outstanding at the end of the fiscal year. Under the calculation of burn rate, one full value share equals two option
shares.

The following is a description of the material features of the awards and the Committee�s rationale for awarding each type of equity award:

� Stock Options. A stock option is the right to purchase, in the future, shares of common stock at a set price. Stock options may be
(1) an Incentive Stock Option (�ISO�), which is any stock option intended to be and designated as an incentive stock option within the
meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code; or (2) a Non-Qualified Stock Option (�NQSO�), which is any stock option that
is not an ISO. The purchase price of shares subject to any stock option must not be less than the fair market value of a share on the
date of the grant of the option. Fair market value is defined as the closing price of the common stock on the date the grant is made.
The maximum term of any stock option is 10 years from the date the option was granted except in the event of death or disability.
The Committee can fix a shorter period, and can impose such other terms and conditions on the grant of stock options as it chooses,
consistent with applicable laws and regulations. Similar to stock appreciation rights, stock options are typically granted subject to
time-based vesting requirements. Likewise, stock options deliver value to an executive only to the extent that our stock price
increases after the date of grant. The stock option grants made in fiscal 2008 by the Committee have a 10-year term with 1/3rd of the
options vesting and becoming exercisable on each of the first three anniversaries of the date of grant. The Committee believed that
the three-year vesting term would help create a long-term incentive and strike an appropriate balance between the interests of our
company, our stockholders and our officers in terms of the incentive, value creation and compensatory aspects associated of this type
of equity award.

� Restricted Share Units. A restricted share unit is the right to receive shares or cash at the end of a specified deferral period. In
addition, restricted share units are subject to such restrictions as the Committee may impose, which may include the attainment of
specified performance goals, which restrictions may lapse at the expiration of the deferral period or at earlier or later specified times,
as the Committee may determine. Except as otherwise determined by the Committee, upon the termination of the participant�s
employment or consulting services with us, our subsidiaries and our affiliates during the applicable deferral period or upon failure to
satisfy any other conditions precedent to the delivery of the shares, restricted share units that are at that time subject to deferral or
restriction will be forfeited. Restricted share units provide value in the form of stock while resulting in lower share usage and lower
dilution than the use of certain other types of equity awards. In addition, the vesting conditions and opportunity for long-term capital
appreciation, which are characteristic of restricted share units, help us achieve our objectives of management retention and linking
pay to our long-term stockholder value. Restricted share units do not offer dividend or voting rights until they vest and shares are
subsequently released to the grantee. These awards are designed to build executive ownership, retain executives, and align
compensation with the achievement of creating stockholder value. We believe restricted shares can be a strong motivational tool for
our employees. Restricted share awards provide some value to an employee during periods of stock market volatility, whereas other
forms of equity compensation, such
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as stock options, may have limited perceived value and may do little to retain and motivate employees when the current value of our
stock is less than the option price. The fiscal 2008 grants of stock-settled restricted share units and cash-settled restricted share units
by the Committee vest in 1/3rd increments on each of the first three anniversaries of the date of grant. The Committee believed that
the three-year vesting term would help create a long-term incentive and strike an appropriate balance between the interests of our
company, our stockholders and our officers in terms of the incentive, value creation and compensatory aspects associated of this type
of equity award.

In April 2008, the Committee recommended, and the independent directors approved, long-term equity compensation for Mr. Bachmann in the
form of an award of 500,000 cash-settled share appreciation rights. The award was based on data calculated by Frederic W. Cook & Co., which
targeted the 75th percentile of the 2008 Peer Group, consistent with the Committee�s compensation philosophy. The following is a description of
the material features of this award and the Committee�s rationale for awarding this type of equity award:

� Cash-Settled Share Appreciation Rights. A share appreciation right, or an SAR, is the right to receive upon the exercise of each share
the excess of (1) the closing price of one share of common stock on the date of the exercise over (2) the exercise price per share of
the SAR, as determined by the Committee as of the date of the grant of the SAR (which shall not be less than the fair market value of
the share on the date of the grant of the SAR). The maximum term of any SAR is 10 years from the date the SAR was granted except
in the event of death or disability. The Committee can fix a shorter period, and can impose such other terms and conditions on the
grant of SARs as it chooses, consistent with applicable laws and regulations. The Committee granted Mr. Bachmann cash-settled
SARs in fiscal 2008 instead of stock-settled awards in order to maintain our burn rate commitment and because these equity awards
deliver value to him only to the extent that our stock price increases after the date of grant. However, unlike options, SARs do not
require the payment of an exercise price. Because this grant is cash- settled, it does not use shares from the LTIP�s authorized stock
pool because upon exercise, the SAR�s delivers only the cash value of the number of shares equivalent in value to the appreciation in
the underlying stock. The grant of SAR�s to Mr. Bachmann was made with a term of 10 years with 1/3rd of the covered shares vesting
and becoming exercisable on each of the first three anniversaries of the date of grant. The Committee believed the three-year vesting
term would help create a long-term incentive and strike an appropriate balance between the interests of our company, our
stockholders and Mr. Bachmann in terms of the incentive, value creation and compensatory aspects of this equity award.

Other Benefits

Health and Welfare Benefits

Our Named Executive Officers are eligible to participate in all of our employee health and welfare benefit plans on the same basis as other
employees (subject to applicable law) to meet their health and welfare needs. These plans include medical, dental, vision, group life, long-term
and short-term disability, accidental death and dismemberment insurance, as well as medical and dependent care flexible spending accounts.
These benefits are provided so as to assure that we are able to competitively attract and retain officers and other employees. This is a fixed
component of base compensation, and the benefits are provided on a non-discriminatory basis to all employees.

Retirement Benefits

We offer a 401(k) profit sharing plan for the benefit of our employees, including our Named Executive Officers, which is designed to assist our
employees in providing for their retirement. Employees may begin participating in the plan at the beginning of the first fiscal quarter following
the date of hire for the employee. Under the plan, eligible employees may elect to defer a portion of their earnings up to the annual maximum
allowed by IRS regulations. We match 100% of each participant�s contribution up to 6% of the participant�s base compensation. Until 2009, our
matching contributions were made in our common stock. During 2009, our plan
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was amended to require matching contributions to be made in cash. Our matching contribution vests 50% per year for the first two years of the
participant�s employment.

Perquisites

We believe that the total mix of compensation and other benefits provided to our executive officers is comprehensive and competitive, and our
executive officers are not entitled to operate under different standards than other employees. Accordingly, we do not have programs for
providing personal benefit perquisites to our executive officers, such as permanent lodging or defraying the cost of personal entertainment or
family travel. We provide air and other travel for our executive officers for business purposes only, consistent with the same standards of other
employees.

Severance and Change of Control Payments

We maintain the Severance Plan for certain key employees. Until June 2009, we maintained Severance Agreements with certain of our current
and former executive officers. These agreements, which are described more fully in ��Potential Payments Upon a Termination or Change in
Control,� were designed to meet the following objectives:

� To meet market conditions to provide common and competitive benefits in the energy industry, which, in recent history, have
experienced an elevated level of merger/acquisition activity.

� To be used as recruitment and retention tools in light of current industry dynamics, in particular by mitigating the distraction of
potential job loss. This objective is particularly relevant in our case, as we are a relatively small company. Additionally, we are now
operating as a debtor-in-possession as a result of filing the Chapter 11 Cases. As a result of the financial protection provided,
executives are better positioned to make the best decisions to increase shareholder value.

� To provide protection for previous amounts earned.

� We believe it is prudent to put these agreements in place when appropriate consideration can be given to their consequences rather
than developing strategies under the pressure of an imminent transaction.

Our Fiscal 2009 Executive Compensation Program

Commencing in the first half of fiscal 2009 and continuing through the date of this filing, we have experienced major changes in the
management of our company. Our Board of Directors declined from eleven to five members during the first quarter of 2009. In addition, on
March 1, 2009, Joseph T. Leary resigned as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. On March 15, 2009, Richard A.
Bachmann resigned as our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and we engaged Alan D. Bell as our Chief Restructuring Officer. In July 2009,
we announced the designation of Alan D. Bell as principal executive officer and Tiffany J. Thom as principal financial officer. These
management changes, in addition to our filing a voluntary petition (In re: Energy Partners, Ltd., et. al., Case No. 09-32957) for reorganization
under Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code, 11 U.S.C. §§ 101 et seq., as amended, in the United States Bankruptcy Court, led to
changes in our executive compensation program.

As a result of the Plan Support Agreement, various incentive and retention plans and agreements that existed for certain of our executive officers
required amending, renegotiating, and/or restructuring prior to the effective date of a confirmed plan of reorganization. As discussed in more
detail under Part II, Item 7 �Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation�Recent Events�Restructure of
Prepetition Employee Arrangements,� the provisions of these plans and agreements were amended. Further, we established a Non-Insider
Employee Retention Plan and a Senior Management Employee Plan. Finally, the Severance Agreements with certain executive officers were
terminated in exchange for the executives receiving an unsecured claim for rejection damages.
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Policy on Deductibility of Compensation

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 limits the deductibility for federal income taxes of compensation in excess of $1.0 million
paid to a publicly-held company�s chief executive officer and any of the other four highest-paid executive officers, except for �performance-based�
compensation. The Committee is aware of this limitation and generally considers the effects of Section 162(m) on our company when making
compensation decisions, but has not yet adopted a formal policy with respect to the Section 162(m) limitation.

Accounting Treatment of Executive Compensation Decisions

We account for stock-based awards based on their grant date fair value, as determined under SFAS No. 123(R). Compensation expense for these
awards, to the extent such awards are expected to vest, is recognized over the requisite service period of the award (or to an employee�s eligible
retirement date, if earlier). If the award is subject to a performance condition, however, the cost will vary based on our estimate of the number of
shares that ultimately will vest over the requisite service or other period over which the performance condition is expected to be achieved. In
connection with its approval of stock-based awards, the Committee is cognizant of and sensitive to the impact of such awards on stockholder
dilution.

Stock Ownership Guidelines

The Board adopted Executive Stock Ownership Guidelines that generally require our executive officers to maintain a share ownership equal to
50% of the �profit shares� acquired under our equity compensation plans. Profit shares means the shares held by an executive officer as a result of
the exercise of stock options, the lapsing of restrictions on restricted stock and restricted share units and the earning of performance shares, after
giving effect to shares sold or netted to pay any exercise price or tax withholding amounts related to such award.
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table summarizes, with respect to our Named Executive Officers, information relating to the compensation earned for services
rendered in all capacities.

Summary Compensation Table for the Year Ended December 31, 2008

Name and Principal Position Year Salary
Bonus
(1)

Stock
Awards
(2)

Option
Awards
(3)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation

(4)

All Other
Compensation

(5) Total
($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Richard A. Bachmann (6) 2008 525,000 �  242,720 530,031 �  21,694 1,319,445
Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 2007 500,000 �  248,120 825,977 �  21,394 1,595,491

2006 440,000 �  649,580 890,594 300,000 20,914 2,301,088

Joseph T. Leary (7) 2008 265,000 �  117,514 352,630 �  3,797 738,941
Former Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

2007 92,788 50,000 �  132,863 �  1,366 277,017
2006 �  �  �  �  �  �  �  

Thomas D. DeBrock (8) 2008 270,000 120,000 260,930 147,671 �  15,892 814,493
Senior Vice President of Exploration 2007 226,620 223,500 419,241 64,795 �  14,883 949,039

2006 �  �  �  �  �  �  �  

Stephen D. Longon (9) 2008 288,307 �  142,750 107,402 60,000 16,364 614,823
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer 2007 �  �  �  �  �  �  �  

2006 �  �  �  �  �  �  �  

John H. Peper 2008 275,000 �  144,166 152,711 �  17,700 589,577
Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate
Secretary

2007 250,000 200,000 92,720 280,294 �  17,142 840,156
2006 236,000 �  149,425 313,471 88,264 27,953 815,113

(1) Amounts for 2007 include Chairman�s Awards paid to Messrs. Peper and DeBrock.

(2) Amounts in this column reflect compensation expense recorded in our consolidated financial statements for each Named Executive Officer for the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, and includes grants made in previous years for which compensation expense is required to be recognized in
accordance with SFAS No. 123(R). The expense has been calculated based on the grant date fair value of the respective awards offset by the fiscal 2008
reversal of a portion of the amounts expensed in 2007 due to reductions in assumptions regarding payout levels and in certain cases, share price. The amounts
reported have been adjusted to eliminate service-based forfeiture assumptions. Please refer to Notes 2(j) and 15 in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report and to
our Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, for a discussion of the assumptions used in computing the grant
date fair value of stock based compensation awards. These amounts reflect our accounting expense for these awards and do not correspond to the actual value
that might be realized by the Named Executive Officers. See ��Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table�
below for a description of the material features of these awards.

(3) Amounts in this column reflect compensation expense recorded in our consolidated financial statements for each Named Executive Officer for the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, and includes grants made in previous years for which compensation expense is required to be recognized in
accordance with SFAS No. 123(R). The expense has been calculated based on the grant date fair value of the respective awards offset by the fiscal 2008
reversal of a portion of the amounts expensed in 2007 due to reductions in assumptions regarding payout levels and in certain cases, share price. The amounts
reported have been adjusted to eliminate service-based forfeiture assumptions. Please refer to Notes 2(j) and 15 in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report for a
discussion of the assumptions used in computing the grant date fair value of stock based compensation awards. These amounts reflect our accounting expense
for these awards and do not correspond to the actual value that might be realized by the Named Executive Officers. See ��Narrative Disclosure to Summary
Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table� below for a description of the material features of these awards.

(4)
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Amounts reflected in this column are paid pursuant to our incentive compensation plan as described under ��Compensation Discussion and Analysis�Annual
Cash Incentive Bonus.�

(5) The amounts represent the dollar value of term life insurance premiums paid by us for the benefit of the Named Executive Officers, the dollar value of the
company match to our 401(k) Plan on the employees� behalf, and reimbursement of relocation expenses. For 2008, (a) the life insurance premiums for Messrs.
Bachmann, Peper, Leary, Longon and DeBrock were $6,574, $2,580, $2,477, $1,354 and $882 respectively; and (b) the value of the 401(k) match for Messrs.
Bachmann, Peper, Longon and DeBrock was $13,800, $13,800, $13,800, and $13,800 respectively.
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(6) Mr. Bachmann resigned in March 2009.

(7) Mr. Leary became an executive officer in August 2007 and was paid a cash bonus of $50,000 upon commencement of employment. Mr. Leary resigned in
March 2009.

(8) Mr. DeBrock became an executive officer in August 2007. Amounts included in the column titled �Bonus� reflect payments as described under ��Narrative
Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table.� Previously, the $120,000 payment in 2007 was reported in the column
titled �All Other Compensation.�

(9) Mr. Longon became an executive officer in February 2008.
Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table

The following table provides information concerning each grant of an award made to our Named Executive Officers under any plan, including
awards, if any, that have been transferred during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards for the Year Ended December 31, 2008

Name Grant Date

Estimated Future Payouts
Under Non-Equity Incentive

Plan Awards (1)
All Other Stock
Awards: Number
of Shares of Stock

or Units

All Other Option
Awards: Number
of Securities
Underlying
Options

Exercise or
Base Price of

Option
Awards

Closing Price
on Grant Date

Grant Date
Fair Value of
Stock and
Option

Awards (3)Threshold Target
Maximum

(2)
($) ($) ($) (#) (#) ($/Sh) ($/Sh) ($)

Richard A. Bachmann 0 525,000 N/A �  �  �  �  �  
April 21, 2008 �  �  �  �  500,000 11.74 11.74 �  

Joseph T. Leary 0 145,750 N/A �  �  �  �  �  
April 11, 2008 �  �  �  �  53,285 10.58 10.58 228,947

�  �  �  63,191 �  �  10.58 668,561
Thomas D. DeBrock 0 135,000 N/A �  �  �  �  �  

April 11, 2008 �  �  �  �  38,959 10.58 10.58 167,393
�  �  �  46,201 �  �  10.58 488,807

Stephen D. Longon 0 120,000 N/A �  �  �  �  �  
April 11, 2008 �  �  �  �  38,959 10.58 10.58 167,393

�  �  �  46,201 �  �  10.58 488,807
John H. Peper 0 151,250 N/A �  �  �  �  �  

April 11, 2008 �  �  �  �  53,285 10.58 10.58 228,947
�  �  �  63,191 �  �  10.58 668,561

(1) Amounts actually paid are reflected in the column titled �Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation� found on the �Summary Compensation Table� above. For
additional information see ��Compensation Discussion and Analysis�Annual Cash Incentive Bonus.�

(2) While executive officers may earn up to a maximum of 200% of each quantitative target under our annual incentive bonus program, the Committee retains
discretion to award officers additional amounts based on external factors beyond the control of the officers as well as individual performance by the officers.

(3) Amounts reflect the grant date fair value of the respective awards computed in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R). Please refer to Notes 2 and 15 in Part II,
Item 8 of this Annual Report for a discussion of the assumptions used in computing the grant date fair value of stock based compensation awards. These
amounts reflect our accounting expense for these awards and do not correspond to the actual value that might be realized by the Named Executive Officer.
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Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table

The following is a discussion of material factors necessary to an understanding of the information disclosed in the ��Summary Compensation
Table� and the ��Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table� above.

Salary and Cash Incentive Awards in Proportion to Total Compensation

The following table sets forth the percentage of each Named Executive Officer�s total compensation that we paid in the form of base salary and
bonus.

Name Year
Percentage of Total
Compensation

Richard A. Bachmann (1) 2008 40% 
2007 31% 
2006 19% 

Joseph T. Leary (2) 2008 36% 
2007 52% 
2006 �  

Thomas D. DeBrock (3) 2008 48% 
2007 47% 
2006 �  

Stephen D. Longon (4) 2008 47% 
2007 �  
2006 �  

John H. Peper 2008 47% 
2007 54% 
2006 29% 

(1) Mr. Bachmann resigned in March 2009.

(2) Mr. Leary became an executive officer in August 2007 and resigned in March 2009.

(3) Mr. DeBrock became an executive officer in August 2007.

(4) Mr. Longon became an executive officer in February 2008.
Bonuses

Mr. Leary received a cash payment of $50,000 during fiscal 2007 upon commencement of employment. As a recipient of the Chairman�s Award,
Mr. Peper received a cash payment of $200,000 during fiscal 2007.

Mr. DeBrock received a cash payment of $120,000 in each of fiscal 2007 and 2008 pursuant to the terms of an agreement with us as described
below under the caption ��Employment Agreements.� As a recipient of the Chairman�s Award, Mr. DeBrock received a cash payment of $103,500
during fiscal 2007.

Messrs. Bachmann and Longon did not receive bonuses during fiscal 2006, 2007 or 2008; however, Messrs. Bachmann and Longon each
received a cash award under our Annual Cash Bonus Incentive Plan for fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2008, respectively, as further described under the
caption ��Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation� below.
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Pursuant to our LTIP, we awarded stock-settled restricted share units and cash-settled restricted share units to our Named Executive Officers.
These grants are described in further detail under the heading �� Compensation Discussion and Analysis�Long-Term Equity-Based Compensation.�
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Option Awards

Pursuant to our LTIP, we awarded stock options and stock appreciation rights to certain of our Named Executive Officers. These grants are
described in further detail under the heading ��Compensation Discussion and Analysis�Long-Term Equity-Based Compensation.�

Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation

The non-equity incentive plan compensation set forth in the ��Summary Compensation Table� above reflects annual cash incentive bonus
compensation under our annual cash incentive bonus program. Compensation is earned under this program based upon the achievement of
pre-established performance targets. More information is set forth under the heading ��Compensation Discussion and Analysis�Annual Cash
Incentive Bonus.�

Employment Agreements

Under our offer letter to Mr. Leary dated August 15, 2007, he was entitled to an annual base salary of $250,000. In addition, Mr. Leary received
a sign-on bonus of $50,000, an option with a 10-year term to purchase 100,000 shares of common stock, which vested ratably over three years at
an exercise price equal to the closing price of our common stock on the date of the grant and 30,000 cash-settled restricted share units which
vested on the third anniversary of the date his employment commenced. Mr. Leary�s annual bonus target was 55% of base pay. Mr. Leary
resigned from our company in March 2009.

Under our offer letter to Mr. Longon dated June 11, 2007, Mr. Longon was entitled to an annual base salary of $224,000. Mr. Longon also
received a sign-on bonus of $50,000, an option with a 10-year term to purchase 10,000 shares of common stock, which vests ratably over three
years at an exercise price equal to the closing price of our common stock on the date of the grant and 10,000 cash-settled restricted share units
which vest on the third anniversary of the date his employment commenced. Mr. Longon�s annual bonus target was 25% of base pay.

We entered into an agreement with Mr. DeBrock on November 29, 2007, pursuant to which we agreed to pay Mr. DeBrock $120,000 in cash on
December 1, 2007 and on December 1 of each of the four succeeding years provided that Mr. DeBrock remained employed by us through the
applicable payment date. As described in more detail below under ��Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control,� we entered into
a settlement agreement with Mr. DeBrock in July 2009, which terminated this agreement.

We do not have employment agreements with any of the other Named Executive Officers.

Additional Information

We have provided additional information regarding the compensation we pay to our Named Executive Officers under ��Compensation Discussion
and Analysis�Other Benefits� and ��Compensation Discussion and Analysis�Severance and Change of Control Payments.�

121

Edgar Filing: WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 163



Table of Contents

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End Table

The following table provides information concerning unexercised options, stock that has not vested, and equity incentive plan awards for our
Named Executive Officers.

Outstanding Equity Awards as of December 31, 2008

Name

Option Awards Stock Awards

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)

Exercisable

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Unexercisable

Option
Exercise
Price

Option
Expiration

Date

Number of
Shares or
Units of

Stock That
Have Not
Vested

Market

Value of

Shares or

Units of

Stock That
Have Not
Vested (1)

Equity Incentive
Plan Awards:
Number of
Unearned

Shares, Units or
Other Rights
That Have Not
Vested (2)

Equity Incentive
Plan Awards:
Market or

Payout Value of
Unearned

Shares, Units or
Other Rights
That Have Not
Vested (1)

($) (#) ($) (#) ($)
Richard A. Bachmann 100,000 �  $ 10.80 04/30/2011

53,334 �  $ 10.07 05/06/2013
200,000 �  $ 13.58 05/13/2014
62,000 �  $ 25.07 03/24/2015
74,620 37,310 (3) $ 22.98 03/23/2016
41,773 20,886 (4) $ 18.00 08/03/2016
26,083 52,165 (5) $ 17.27 06/01/2017

�  500,000 (6) $ 11.74 04/21/2018
5,549 (3) 7,491
3,034 (4) 4,096

67,058 (13) 90,530

Joseph T. Leary 33,334 66,666 (7) $ 13.26 08/21/2017
�  53,285 (8) $ 10.58 04/11/2018

18,536 (8) 25,024
30,000 (14) 40,500
44,655 (8) 60,284

Stephen D. Longon 3,334 6,666 (9) $ 17.45 07/09/2017
38,959 (8) $ 10.58 04/11/2018

10,000 (15) 13,500
13,552 (8) 18,295

10,000 (15) 13,500
32,649 (8) 44,076
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Name

Option Awards Stock Awards

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)

Exercisable

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Unexercisable

Option
Exercise
Price

Option
Expiration

Date

Number of
Shares or
Units of

Stock That
Have Not
Vested

Market
Value of
Shares or
Units of

Stock That
Have Not
Vested (1)

Equity Incentive
Plan Awards:
Number of
Unearned

Shares, Units or
Other Rights
That Have Not
Vested (2)

Equity Incentive
Plan Awards:
Market or

Payout Value of
Unearned

Shares, Units or
Other Rights
That Have Not
Vested (1)

($) (#) ($) (#) ($)
Thomas D.
DeBrock 15,000 �  $ 13.58 05/13/2014

15,000 �  $ 27.34 03/17/2015
6,667 3,333 (10) $ 22.31 03/16/2016

�  38,959 (8) $ 10.58 04/11/2018
25,000 (16) 33,750
1,667 (10) 2,250
2,000 (10) 2,700
6,666 (17) 8,999
13,552 (8) 18,295

32,649 (8) 44,076

John H. Peper 75,000 �  $ 7.98 01/17/2012
23,333 �  $ 10.07 05/06/2013
33,500 �  $ 13.58 05/13/2014
13,400 �  $ 27.34 03/17/2015

�  100,000 (11) $ 26.59 07/22/2015
13,454 6,727 (10) $ 22.31 03/16/2016
6,727 3,363 (3) $ 22.98 03/23/2016
7,015 3,508 (4) $ 18.00 08/03/2016
6,029 12,057 (12) $ 16.82 05/30/2017

�  53,285 (8) $ 10.58 04/11/2008
1,501 (3) 2,026
510 (4) 689

18,536 (8) 25,024
15,500 (12) 20,925
44,655 (8) 60,284

(1) Based on the closing price of our common stock of $1.35 on December 31, 2008.

(2) Represents unvested cash-settled restricted share units.

(3) Represents the underlying option shares for unexercisable stock options that were granted on March 23, 2006, which became exercisable
on March 23, 2009. For Mr. Bachmann, represents the unvested restricted shares that were granted on March 23, 2006, which vested on
March 23, 2009. For Mr. Peper, represents the unvested restricted shares granted on March 23, 2006, which vested on March 23, 2009.

(4) Represents the underlying option shares for unexercisable stock options that were granted on August 3, 2006, which become exercisable
on August 3, 2009. Represents the remaining unvested restricted shares that were granted on August 3, 2006, which will vest on
August 3, 2009, except for Mr. Bachmann�s shares, which were forfeited on March 15, 2009.

(5)
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Represents one-half of the underlying option shares for unexercisable stock options that were granted on June 1, 2007, which became
exercisable on June 1, 2009. The remaining one-half were scheduled to become exercisable on June 1, 2010, but were forfeited on March
15, 2009.

(6) Represents one-third of the underlying rights for unexercisable stock appreciation rights that were granted on April 21, 2008, which
became exercisable on April 21, 2009. The remaining one-third were scheduled to become exercisable on each of April 21, 2010 and
April 21, 2011, but were forfeited on March 15, 2009.

(7) Represents one-half of the underlying option shares for unexercisable stock options that were granted on August 21, 2007 that were
scheduled to become exercisable on each of August 21, 2009 and August 21, 2010, but were forfeited on March 1, 2009.

123

Edgar Filing: WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 166



Table of Contents

(8) Represents one-third of the underlying shares for unexercisable stock options, one-third of the unvested restricted shares and one-third of
the unvested cash-settled restricted share units that were granted on April 11, 2008, which became exercisable or vested (as applicable)
on April 11, 2009 and an additional one-third that will become exercisable or will vest (as applicable) on each of April 11, 2010 and
April 11, 2011, except for Mr. Leary�s shares, which were forfeited on March 1, 2009.

(9) Represents one-half of the underlying option shares for unexercisable stock options that were granted on July 9, 2007, which became
exercisable on July 9, 2009. The remaining one-half will become exercisable on July 9, 2010.

(10) Represents the underlying option shares for unexercisable stock options and unvested restricted shares that were granted on March 16,
2006, which became exercisable on March 16, 2009.

(11) Represents the underlying option shares for the unexercisable stock options that were granted on July 22, 2005, which will become
exercisable on July 22, 2010.

(12) Represents one-half of the underlying option shares for unexercisable stock options and unvested cash-settled restricted share units that
were granted on May 30, 2007, which became exercisable on May 30, 2009. The remaining one-half will become exercisable on May 30,
2010.

(13) Represents one-half of the unvested cash-settled restricted share units that were granted on June 1, 2007, which became exercisable on
March 16, 2009. The remaining one-half were scheduled to become exercisable on June 1, 2010, but were forfeited on March 15, 2009.

(14) Represents all of the unvested cash-settled restricted share units that were granted on August 21, 2007, which were scheduled to become
exercisable on August 21, 2010, but were forfeited on March 1, 2009.

(15) Represents all of the unvested restricted shares and unvested cash-settled restricted share units that were granted on July 9, 2007, which
will become exercisable on July 9, 2010.

(16) Represents one-half of the unvested restricted shares that were granted on July 22, 2005, which became exercisable on July 22, 2009. The
remaining one-half will become exercisable on July 22, 2011.

(17) Represents one-half of the unvested restricted shares that were granted on April 3, 2007, which became exercisable on April 3, 2009. The
remaining one-half will become exercisable on April 3, 2010.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested Table

The following table provides information concerning each vesting of stock, including stock-settled restricted share units, cash-settled restricted
share units and similar instruments, during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 on an aggregated basis with respect to each of our Named
Executive Officers. Our Named Executive Officers did not exercise any stock options during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested for the Year Ended December 31, 2008

Name
Stock Awards

Number of Shares Acquired on Vesting Value Realized on Vesting
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Richard A. Bachmann (1) 42,113 590,527
Joseph T. Leary �  �  
Thomas D. DeBrock 9,500 96,836
Stephen D. Longon �  �  
John H. Peper (2) 9,759 136,043

(1) Includes 33,530 cash-settled restricted share units that vested during fiscal 2008 for a value realized on vesting of $505,297, reflecting a
price of $15.07, per cash-settled restricted share unit.

(2) Includes 7,750 cash-settled restricted share units that vested during fiscal 2008 for a value realized on vesting of $116,792, reflecting a
price of $15.07, per cash-settled restricted share unit.
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Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control

We do not have any contracts, agreements, plans or arrangements that provide severance benefits to our Named Executive Officers if they
terminate employment prior to our change of control. However, certain of our current and former executive officers, Messrs. Bachmann, Leary,
Longon and Peper, entered into Severance Agreements with us. Messrs. Bachmann and Peper entered into their respective agreements in March
2005, Mr. Leary entered into a Severance Agreement when he joined us in August 2007, Mr. Longon entered into his agreement in July 2008,
and each of the Severance Agreements, following various amendments, contained a termination date of March 28, 2010. In addition, we have
Severance Plan (together with the Severance Agreements, our �Severance Program�) for certain key employees, including Mr. DeBrock.

Payments Upon a Change in Control

The Severance Program provides that, upon the occurrence of a change of control (as defined below), all equity awards granted to participants
will become fully vested, all stock options and share appreciation rights will become fully exercisable and all restrictions on restricted shares and
restricted share units will lapse. With respect to performance shares or other awards contingent on satisfaction of performance measures, the
performance cycle will end as of the date of the change of control, and the participant will vest in the number of shares that would have been
earned if the performance cycle had ended as of the end of the period covered by the most recently issued year-end financial statement plus such
additional number of shares as the Committee determines in respect of any period of the performance cycle not covered by such year-end
statement. A termination of employment without cause (as defined below) or for good reason (as defined below) is not a condition for such
benefits. Thus, if a change of control were to occur, the Named Executive Officers would receive the benefit of the accelerated vesting of stock
options, restricted shares, restricted share units, cash-settled restricted share units, cash-settled share appreciation rights and performance shares
as shown in the table below even if the Named Executive Officer�s employment does not terminate. Pursuant to the terms of outstanding stock
options and cash-settled share appreciation rights, in the event of a change of control, such options and cash-settled share appreciation rights
would remain exercisable until the expiration of their 10-year term. Under the terms of outstanding restricted shares, restricted share units,
cash-settled restricted share units and performance shares, in the absence of a change of control, such awards would be forfeited in the event of a
termination of employment for any reason. Under the terms of outstanding stock options and cash-settled share appreciation rights, in the
absence of a change of control, the following rules would apply upon a termination of employment: (1) in the case of a termination for any
reason other than death, disability (defined generally as an individual�s inability, from mental or physical impairment, for a 90 day period, to
perform that individual�s expected duties and functions) or retirement (defined to mean a voluntary termination on or after age 55 with at least
five years of service), unvested options and cash-settled share appreciation rights would be forfeited and vested options and cash-settled share
appreciation rights would remain exercisable for 30 days following termination of employment (but not beyond their expiration date), and (2) in
the case of a termination by reason of death, disability or retirement, options and cash-settled share appreciation rights would continue to vest
through December 31st of the year of termination of employment, unvested options and cash-settled share appreciation rights would be forfeited
as of such December 31st, and vested options and cash-settled share appreciation rights would remain exercisable for three years following
termination of employment (but not beyond their expiration date).

Payments Upon Certain Terminations of Employment in Connection with a Change in Control

In addition to the accelerated equity compensation awards, participants in the Severance Program are entitled to receive certain benefits in the
event of their termination of employment either by reason of an involuntary termination by us without �cause� (as defined below) or a voluntary
termination by the executive for �good reason� (as defined below) occurring within two years after a change of control. Upon the occurrence of
both the change in control and a qualifying termination of employment, an eligible participant would be entitled to receive between one and one
half and three times the sum of (1) the participant�s annual rate of base salary for the year of termination and (2) the participant�s average annual
bonus from us for the three calendar years
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preceding the calendar year in which such termination of employment occurs (or, if the participant was employed for less than three years, the
greater of the average annual bonus for all of the calendar years such individual was employed and the target bonus for the calendar year of
termination). Messrs. Bachmann, Leary, Longon and Peper are entitled to receive three times, and Mr. DeBrock is entitled to receive two times,
the sum described in the preceding sentence. Payments are to be paid in a lump sum in cash within 30 days following termination.

In addition, participants who become entitled to severance benefits will continue to receive the medical, dental and life insurance benefits in
existence at the time of the change of control for a specified period of time (18 months for each of our Named Executive Officers), provided that
the participant continues to pay the same portion of the required premium for such coverage as was required prior to termination. In the case of a
participant who becomes entitled to severance benefits, if the participant has not, by the time of his or her termination of employment, received a
bonus for the calendar year before the calendar year of termination of employment, the participant will receive a bonus for that year in an
amount equal to his or her target bonus opportunity for that year, payable in a lump sum payment within 30 days of the individual�s termination
of employment.

If any payments are subject to the excise tax on �excess parachute payments� under Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, payments
to the participant will be reduced until no amount payable to the participant would constitute an �excess parachute payment,� provided that no such
reduction will be made if the net after-tax payment to which the participant would otherwise be entitled without such reduction would be greater
than the net after-tax payment, in each case, after taking into account Federal, state, local or other income and excise taxes, to the participant
resulting from the receipt of such payments with such reduction.

For purposes of the Severance Program and awards under the LTIP, a �change of control� generally includes any of the following events: (1) an
acquisition by any person of 25% or more of the securities entitled to vote in the election of directors, (2) the current directors, or their approved
successors, no longer constitute a majority of the Board, (3) a merger or similar transaction is consummated which results in the holders of our
common stock owning 50% or less of the surviving or transferee entity�s securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, or
(4) approval of a plan of liquidation or disposition of all or substantially all of our assets. A termination for �cause� includes an individual�s
termination due to a conviction of a felony, dishonesty, failure to perform duties, insubordination, theft, wrongful disclosure of confidential
information, undisclosed conflicts of interest, violation of our employee policies, or competing with us for personal benefit. �Good reason� may
exist if we reduce an individual�s base salary, eliminate or significantly reduce a material benefit under any of our employee benefit plans, take
away an individual�s titles or positions or significantly reduce the individuals duties and responsibilities, or require the individual to relocate
outside of the greater metropolitan area to which the individual was performing services for us immediately prior to the applicable change in
control event.

The following table shows the amounts that would be payable to our Named Executive Officers, assuming there was a change of control as of
December 31, 2008 and/or a termination of employment that would qualify the Named Executive Officer for the benefits described below
occurred on December 31, 2008. For purposes of calculating the amounts set forth below, we have made the following assumptions:

� our Named Executive Officers have the same rights as other employees to receive benefits they have earned under our broad-based
benefit programs, such as their vested account balances under our 401(k) plan, thus such amounts are not included below;

� all earned vacation was taken and all salary and reimbursable expenses were current at the time of the individual�s termination of
employment, thus there is no need to pay out any amounts related to these items in addition to the amounts below;

� the closing price of our common stock on December 31, 2008 was $1.35;

� no amounts are included in the �Equity Acceleration� rows for any stock options, as the exercise price for each of the stock options our
Named Executive Officers held as of December 31, 2008 was higher than the price of our common stock on that day and considered
�underwater�;
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� though in the case of a termination by reason of death, disability or retirement, options and cash-settled share appreciation rights
would continue to vest through December 31st of the year of termination of employment, as the numbers below are calculated as of a
termination upon December 31, 2008, no additional acceleration of equity awards would occur upon a death, disability or retirement
of the executive; and

� the numbers below are only estimated amounts assuming the applicable event occurred on December 31, 2008, and amounts could
not be determined with any certainty until an actual termination or change of control took place.

Potential Payments Upon a Termination or Change in Control Table as of December 31, 2008

Executive Officer

Termination by Good Reason or
without Cause in connection
with a Change in Control Change in Control

$ $
Richard A. Bachmann (1)
Salary and Bonus 2,290,000 N/A
Equity Acceleration 102,117 102,117
Medical Benefit Continuation 17,028 N/A
Total 2,409,145 102,117
Joseph T. Leary (2)
Salary and Bonus 1,232,250 N/A
Equity Acceleration 125,808 125,808
Medical Benefit Continuation 8,617 N/A
Total 1,366,675 125,808
Thomas D. DeBrock (3)
Salary and Bonus 685,000 N/A
Equity Acceleration 110,070 110,070
Medical Benefit Continuation 21,436 N/A
Total 816,506 110,070
Stephen D. Longon (3)
Salary and Bonus 1,683,000 N/A
Equity Acceleration 89,371 89,371
Medical Benefit Continuation 15,922 N/A
Total 1,788,293 89,371
John H. Peper (3)
Salary and Bonus 1,043,234 N/A
Equity Acceleration 108,948 108,948
Medical Benefit Continuation 21,381 N/A
Total 1,173,563 108,948

(1) We entered into an Offer Agreement with Mr. Bachmann in connection with his termination of employment in March 2009. The Offer Agreement set forth
the terms and conditions regarding his severance payments, including Mr. Bachmann�s agreement to waive all rights he might have previously had to
compensation and benefits prior to the execution of the Offer Agreement, as well as a general waiver of claims and actions in our favor. In exchange for these
waivers Mr. Bachmann received a one-time payment of $110,000, as well as the accelerated vesting of his 5,549 restricted stock units, and 33,529
cash-settled restricted stock units. Thus, the amounts in the table above are no longer potential liabilities we have with respect to Mr. Bachmann, as he has
received all potential payments pursuant to the Offer Agreement.

(2) We are no longer under an obligation to provide Mr. Leary with the payments disclosed in the table above as Mr. Leary also resigned in March 2009, and he
did not receive any compensation from us in connection with his termination of employment.

(3) Messrs. DeBrock, Longon and Peper each have entered into a settlement agreement with us following December 31, 2008 that significantly impacts their
potential payments upon a termination of employment or a change in control. Please see ��Actions Following December 31, 2008� below for further details.

Actions Following December 31, 2008
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As part of our reorganization, the bankruptcy court approved our entrance into various settlement agreements with a number of our employees
that held outstanding equity compensation awards or unpaid bonuses payments. These settlement agreements provided the individual with a cash
payment in lieu of his or her
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outstanding equity or bonus awards, and cancelled the outstanding equity awards that individual previously held. Thus the amounts disclosed in
the table above are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that we could be potentially liable to provide to each of the Named Executive
Officers that are still employed with us at the time of this filing. Mr. DeBrock�s execution of a settlement agreement provided him with a
payment of $60,000 in exchange for the cancellation of his outstanding retention payments and cash-settled equity awards. For Messrs. Longon
and Peper, the settlement agreements cancelled our Severance Agreement obligations and provided each of these executives with a claim against
us for $340,000 and $275,000, respectively, and the executives waived all rights to the future payments pursuant to their Severance Agreements.
These claims are being treated as unsecured claims, which would be paid in full under the Plan. The Severance Plan was amended effective
April 29, 2009 to modify the definition of a change in control. The events that generally constitute a change in control were not changed, but due
to the unique financial situation we were in pending our reorganization, our Board determined that various transactions related to our bankruptcy
should not trigger the change of control definition in the Severance Plan. The definition was amended to explicitly exclude the filing of the
voluntary petition of bankruptcy, our exit from bankruptcy, or any transaction related to our bankruptcy from activating the change in control
definition, although following our exit from bankruptcy, the definition shall apply to all events and transactions as it did prior to our bankruptcy
filing. This also means that no events relating to our bankruptcy will trigger the two year protection period that would otherwise immediately
follow a change in control under the Severance Plan.

Director Compensation

General

At least once a year, the Committee reviews the total direct compensation paid to our non-employee directors and makes recommendations to
the Board for final approval. The purpose of the Committee�s review is to ensure that the level of compensation received by our non-employee
directors is appropriate to attract and retain a diverse group of individuals with the breadth of experience necessary to perform the Board�s duties,
and to fairly compensate such individuals for their service as our directors. The Committee�s review typically occurs prior to our Annual Meeting
of Stockholders, and any changes recommended by the Committee and adopted by the Board are typically effective commencing with the date
of the Annual Meeting. The Committee has engaged Frederic W. Cook & Co., Inc. to provide an analysis of total director compensation received
by our non-employee directors, and the Committee typically targets the 75th percentile of a peer group of companies for total director
compensation.

For fiscal 2008, the peer group of companies comprising the analysis by Frederic W. Cook & Co., Inc. included the 2008 Peer Group used for
executive compensation decisions by the Committee.

The following table sets forth a summary of the compensation we paid to our non-employee directors during the fiscal year ended December 31,
2008. Directors who are our full-time employees receive no compensation for serving as directors on the Board.

Director Compensation for the Year Ended December 31, 2008

Name
Fees Earned or
Paid in Cash

Stock
Awards (1)

Option
Awards (2)

All Other
Compensation Total

($) ($) ($) ($) ($)
John C. Bumgarner, Jr. (3) 56,000 125,615 10,248 �  191,863
Jerry D. Carlisle 63,500 106,240 10,248 �  179,988
Harold D. Carter (4) 64,500 101,657 10,248 �  176,405
Enoch L. Dawkins (5) 47,000 99,365 10,248 �  156,613
Dr. Norman C. Francis (6) 57,000 107,365 10,248 3,776 178,389
Robert D. Gershen 52,000 111,865 10,248 �  174,113
William R. Herrin, Jr. (7) 60,000 111,865 10,248 �  182,113
James R. Latimer 56,833 59,965 10,248 �  127,046
Bryant H. Patton 50,833 59,965 10,248 �  121,046
Steven J. Pully 57,333 63,090 10,248 �  130,671

(1) Amounts in this column reflect compensation expense recorded in our 2008 consolidated financial statements for each named director and include grants
made in previous years for which compensation expense is required to be recognized in accordance with
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SFAS No. 123(R). As of December 31, 2008, the outstanding stock awards held by each non-employee director was: (a) 6,000 restricted share units for each
director granted under our Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors and (b) 21,309, 1,993 and 4,327 phantom shares
accrued under our Stock and Deferral Plan for Non-Employee Directors for Messrs. Bumgarner and Gershen and Dr. Francis, respectively. The grant date fair
value of restricted share unit awards made to all directors in 2008 was $14.99 per share as computed in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R). Please refer to
Note 2(j) and 15 in the Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report for a discussion of the assumptions used in computing the grant date fair value of stock based
compensation awards. These amounts reflect our accounting expense for these awards and do not correspond to the actual value that might be realized by the
named directors.

(2) Amounts in this column reflect compensation expense recorded in the 2008 consolidated financial statements for each named director and include grants
made in previous years for which compensation expense is required to be recognized in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R). As of December 31, 2008,
outstanding stock option awards for which compensation expenses was recognized included shares of common stock underlying options granted under our
Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors in the following amounts: Mr. Bumgarner�34,875, Mr. Carlisle�24,875,
Mr. Carter�34,875, Mr. Dawkins�20,875, Dr. Francis�14,875, Mr. Gershen�34,875, Mr. Herrin� 14,875, Mr. Latimer�3,375, Mr. Patton�3,375 and Mr. Pully�3,375.
The grant date fair value for each option award made in 2008 was $6.09. Please refer to footnotes 2(j) and 15 in our consolidated financial statements in
Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report for a discussion of the assumptions used in computing the grant date fair value of stock based compensation awards.
These amounts reflect our accounting expense for these awards and do not correspond to the actual value that might be realized by the named directors.

(3) Mr. Bumgarner resigned from the Board in February 2009.

(4) Mr. Carter resigned from the Board in February 2009.

(5) Mr. Dawkins resigned from the Board in March, 2009.

(6) Mr. Francis resigned from the Board in February 2009. In 2009, Mr. Francis was reimbursed $3,776 for income tax liabilities incurred as a result of payment
to him in 2008 of certain directors fees that he had previously elected to defer.

(7) Mr. Herrin resigned from the Board in February 2009.
Annual Retainers and Meeting Fees

Prior to our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on May 29, 2008, non-employee directors were entitled to receive the following
compensation:

� an annual retainer fee of $40,000 per year;

� meeting fees of $2,000 for each Board meeting attended;

� meeting fees of $1,500 for each committee meeting attended (even if held on the same date as a Board meeting);

� an additional retainer of $5,000 per year for each member of the Audit Committee, plus an additional retainer of $15,000
per year for the chairperson of the Audit Committee; and

� an additional retainer of $10,000 per year for the chairperson of each of the Compensation Committee and Nominating &
Governance Committee.
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Commencing with the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the compensation for our non-employees directors is the same as discussed above
with the exception that the annual retainer fee was reduced from $40,000 to $20,000. The Committee, based on data provided by Frederic W.
Cook & Co, reduced the fee so that the total compensation received by our non-employee directors remains in line with the targeted 75th
percentile of the 2008 Peer Group for total direct compensation of non-employee directors.

Meeting fees are paid in cash. Retainer fees are paid in shares of common stock (valued at fair market value); provided that a director may elect
to receive up to 50% of such retainer fees in cash. Directors may defer all or a portion of their retainer and meeting fees. Our Stock and Deferral
Plan for Non-Employee Directors governs the payment of retainer and meeting fees and the terms of any deferrals of such fees. The
SFAS No. 123(R) charge for deferrals of retainer and meeting fees that are invested in phantom shares of our common stock is included in the
stock awards column in the above table. Directors are also reimbursed for their reasonable expenses in connection with attending Board
meetings and other company events.
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Equity Awards

Our Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors provides for grants of stock options and restricted share
units to members of the Board who are not employees of our company or any of its subsidiaries. The size of any grants of stock options and
restricted share units to non-employee directors, including to new directors, is determined annually, based on the analysis of Frederick W.
Cook & Co., Inc., an independent compensation consultant. Based on this analysis, in April 2008, the Committee recommended, and the Board
approved, the grant of 6,000 restricted share units to each non-employee director, and stock options with a binomial value of $20,000, on the
date of the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Pursuant to the terms of the plan, restricted share units and stock options become 100% vested
on the first anniversary of the date of grant provided the eligible director continues as a director of throughout that one-year period. Prior to the
first anniversary of the date of grant, an eligible director is vested in the pro rata number of restricted share units and stock options based on the
number of days during that year that the eligible director served. The total number of shares of our common stock that may be issued under the
plan is 500,000, subject to adjustment in the case of certain corporate transactions and events.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2008, with respect to compensation plans under which our equity securities are
authorized for issuance.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Plan Category

Number of securities to be
issued upon exercise of
outstanding options,

warrants and rights (1)
(a)

Weighted-average
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights (2)

(b)

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under

equity compensation plans
(excluding securities

reflected in column (a))
(c)

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders 2,054,021 $ 15.34 2,685,256
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders
Total 2,054,021 $ 15.34 2,685,256

(1) Comprised of 1,620,321 shares subject to issuance upon the exercise of options and 433,700 shares to be issued upon the lapsing of restrictions associated
with restricted share units.

(2) Our restricted share units and performance shares do not have an exercise price; therefore, this only reflects the weighted-average option exercise price.
See Note 15, �Employee Benefit Plans� of the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report for further information regarding the
significant features of the above plans.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table sets forth the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of July 27, 2009 by (1) each of our directors, (2) each of the
executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table, (3) all current directors and executive officers as a group and (4) each person
known by us to own beneficially more than 5% of the outstanding shares of our common stock. Except as otherwise noted below, we are not
aware of any agreements among our stockholders that relate to voting or investment of shares of our common stock.

Common Stock Beneficially Owned (1)
Name of Beneficial Owner Number of Shares Percent of Class (2)
Directors
Jerry D. Carlisle (3) 50,562 *
Robert D. Gershen (4) 78,806 *
James R. Latimer, III (5) 10,324 *
Bryant H. Patton (5) 10,324 *
Steven J. Pully (5) 3,005,456 9.3% 
Named Executive Officers
Richard A. Bachmann (6) 1,935,934 6.0% 
Thomas D. DeBrock (7) 90,409 *
Joseph T. Leary 500 *
Stephen D. Longon (7) 25,999 *
John H. Peper (8) 233,755 *
All current directors and executive officers as a group (11 persons) (9) 5,597,479 17.3% 
Principal Holders
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Carlson Capital, L.P. and affiliates (10) 2,994,968 9.3% 
Wexford Capital LLC and affiliates (11) 9,934,848 30.8% 

* Less than 1%

(1) Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the SEC�s rules and regulations and generally includes voting or investment power with respect to
securities. Shares of our common stock subject to options and warrants currently exercisable, or exercisable within 60 days, are deemed outstanding for
purposes of computing the percentage of shares beneficially owned by the person holding
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such options, but are not deemed outstanding for computing the percentage of any other person. Restricted stock not yet vested is included in the total shares
outstanding but excluded from both the total shares held by the beneficial holder and the total shares deemed outstanding for computing the percentage of
the person holding such restricted stock. Except as indicated by footnote, and subject to community property laws where applicable, the persons named in
the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock shown as beneficially owned by them.

(2) Based on total shares outstanding of 32,286,310 at July 27, 2009. Also based on the number of shares owned and acquirable within 60 days of July 27,
2009.

(3) Includes 24,875 shares of common stock underlying options exercisable granted to Mr. Carlisle under our Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan
for Non-Employee Directors. Includes 500 shares of common stock beneficially owned by Mr. Carlisle�s wife of which Mr. Carlisle disclaims beneficial
ownership.

(4) Includes 34,875 shares of common stock underlying options exercisable granted under our Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan for
Non-Employee Directors to Mr. Gershen. Also includes 1,993 phantom shares accrued for Mr. Gershen under our Stock and Deferral Plan for
Non-Employee Directors.

(5) Includes 3,375 shares of common stock underlying options exercisable granted under our Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan for
Non-Employee Directors to each of Messrs. Latimer, Patton and Pully. Also includes 1,113 phantom shares accrued for Mr. Pully under our Stock and
Deferral Plan for Non-Employee Directors and 2,994,968 shares of common stock held by Carlson Capital, L.P. (�Carlson�). Mr. Pully is an employee of
Carlson and disclaims any beneficial ownership of shares of common stock held by Carlson.

(6) Includes 45,000 shares of common stock pledged to support obligations incurred in two separate transactions under Forward Purchase Agreements entered
into with Citigroup. Mr. Bachmann retains voting rights with respect to these shares. The number of shares to be delivered commencing in August 2009
pursuant to such agreements will be based on the market price of the common stock and will not exceed 45,000 shares. Mr. Bachmann has the right to
deliver cash instead of shares of common stock. Also includes (a) 642,088 shares of common stock underlying options (621,202 exercisable and 20,886
exercisable within 60 days of July 27, 2009) granted to Mr. Bachmann under our 2006 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan, (b) 4,174 shares of common stock
beneficially owned by Mr. Bachmann and held in trust by our 401(k) Plan, (c) 2,148 shares beneficially owned by Mr. Bachmann�s wife, and (d) 1,128,591
shares of common stock pledged in a margin account held by Mr. Bachmann.

(7) Includes 52,987 and 19,654 shares of common stock underlying options exercisable granted to Messrs. DeBrock and Longon, respectively, under our 2006
Long Term Stock Incentive Plan. Also includes 4,667 and 3,483 shares of common stock beneficially owned by Messrs. DeBrock and Longon, respectively,
and held in trust by our 401(k) Plan. Also includes 28,644 shares of common stock pledged in a margin account held by Mr. DeBrock.

(8) Includes 215,846 shares of common stock underlying options (212,338 exercisable and 3,508 exercisable within 60 days of July 27, 2009) and 510
restricted share units exercisable within 60 days of July 27, 2009, granted to Mr. Peper under our 2006 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan. Also includes
5,606 shares of common stock beneficially owned by Mr. Peper and held in trust by our 401(k) Plan.

(9) Includes 1,103,203 shares of common stock underlying options (1,078,809 exercisable and 24,394 exercisable within 60 days of July 27, 2009) and 510
restricted share units exercisable within 60 days of July 27, 2009. See notes 3 through 8 above.

(10) Pursuant to a Schedule 13D/A filed with the SEC on March 9, 2009, Carlson, Double Black Diamond Offshore LDC (�DBDO�), Asgard Investment Corp.
(�Asgard�), and Mr. Clint D. Carlson reported the following: Carlson, Asgard and Mr. Carlson each have the sole power to vote and the sole power to dispose
of 2,994,968 shares of common stock and DBDO has the sole power to vote and the sole power to dispose of 2,028,446 shares of common stock. Carlson, as
DBDO�s investment manager, may, for purposes of Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act be deemed to beneficially own 2,028,446 shares of common stock
held by DBDO, and beneficially own common stock held by other private investment funds and managed accounts (the �Accounts�). As Carlson�s general
partner, Asgard, may, for purposes of Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act, be deemed to own beneficially 2,994,968 shares of common stock. As the
President of Asgard and the Chief Executive Officer of Carlson, Mr. Clint D. Carlson may, for purposes of Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act, be deemed
to own beneficially 2,994,968 shares of common stock. Mr. Carlson, Asgard and Carlson disclaim any beneficial ownership of shares of common stock held
by DBDO and the Accounts. The business address of the reporting persons is 2100 McKinney Avenue, Suite 1600, Dallas TX 75201.

Edgar Filing: WRIGHT MEDICAL GROUP INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 180



(11) Pursuant to a Schedule 13D/A filed by Debello Investors LLC (�Debello�), Wexford Catalyst Investors LLC (�Wexford Catalyst�), Wexford Catalyst Trading
Limited (�Wexford Trading�), Wexford Spectrum Trading Limited (�Wexford Spectrum�), Wexford Capital LLC (�Wexford Capital�), Mr. Charles E. Davidson
and Mr. Joseph M. Jacobs with the SEC on March 5, 2009, Debello has shared voting and dispositive power over 15,709 shares, Wexford Catalyst has
shared voting and dispositive power over 382,682 shares, Wexford Trading has shared voting and dispositive power over 405,000 shares, Wexford
Spectrum has shared voting and dispositive power over 1,680,321 shares, and each of Wexford Capital, Mr. Charles E. Davidson and Mr. Joseph M. Jacobs
have shared voting and dispositive power over 2,483,712 shares. Wexford Capital is the managing member or sub investment manager of each of Debello,
Wexford Catalyst, Wexford Trading and Wexford Spectrum and by reason of its status as such may be deemed to own beneficially the interest in the shares
of common stock of which such entities possess ownership. Each of Messrs. Davidson and Jacobs is a controlling person of Wexford Capital and may by
reason of their status as such be deemed to own beneficially the interest in the shares of common
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stock of which each of Wexford Capital, Debello, Wexford Catalyst, Wexford Trading and Wexford Spectrum possess ownership. Each of Wexford Capital
and Messrs Davidson and Jacobs disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares of common stock held by Wexford Capital, Debello, Wexford Catalyst,
Wexford Trading and Wexford Spectrum, respectively. The business address of the reporting persons is 411 West Putnam Avenue, Greenwich, CT 06830.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Transactions with Related Persons, Promoters and Certain Control Persons

Policies and Procedures

We currently do not have a written policy with respect to entering into transactions with members of management or affiliated companies.
Although we have not adopted formal procedures for the review, approval or ratification of transactions with related persons, our Board of
Directors reviews potential transactions with those parties we have identified as related parties prior to the consummation of the transaction, and
we adhere to the general policy that such transactions should only be entered into if they are approved by our Board of Directors and in
accordance with our Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws and Delaware law.

Transactions

Since the beginning of the fiscal year ended January 31, 2008, we have not participated in (or proposed to participate in) any transactions with
related persons as defined in Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K.

Director Independence

Under our Corporate Governance Guidelines, a majority of the Board must be comprised of directors who are independent under the listing
standards of the NYSE. No director will be deemed to be independent unless the Board affirmatively determines that the director has no material
relationship with our company, either directly or as an officer, stockholder or partner of an organization that has a relationship with us. In its
review of director independence, the Board considers all relevant facts and circumstances, including without limitation, all commercial, banking,
consulting, legal, accounting, charitable or other business relationships any director may have with us. The Board has adopted categorical
standards to assist it in making determinations of independence for directors, a copy of which was filed as Annex I to our proxy statement for the
2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders as filed with the SEC in April 2008.

Under the standards adopted by the Board, it has determined that each of Messrs. Carlisle, Gershen, Latimer, Patton and Pully is independent.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

General

The following table sets forth the amount of audit fees, audit-related fees and tax fees billed or expected to be billed by KPMG LLP, our
independent registered public accounting firm, for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007:

2008 2007
Audit fees (1) $ 845,000 $ 688,850
Audit-related fees (2) �  �  
Tax fees (3) �  �  
All other fees (4) �  �  

Total Fees $ 845,000 $ 688,850

(1) Represents amount incurred through July 15, 2009. Audit fees for 2008 consisted only of integrated audit services. Audit fees for 2007
consisted of: (a) integrated audit services�$550,000 and (b) registration statements�$138,850.
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(2) There were no audit-related fees (including expenses) with respect to fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007.

(3) There were no tax fees (including expenses) with respect to fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007.

(4) There were no other fees (including expenses) with respect to fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007.
The Audit Committee believes that the foregoing expenditures are compatible with maintaining the independence of our public accountants. The
Audit Committee pre-approved all such audit and non-audit services by our independent registered public accountants during 2007 and 2008
pursuant to the policies and procedures discussed below.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

The Audit Committee has adopted procedures for pre-approving all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the independent
registered public accountants. Under such procedures, the Audit Committee will annually review and pre-approve the audit, review and attest
services to be provided during the next audit cycle by the independent registered public accountants and may annually review and pre-approve
permitted non-audit services to be provided during the next audit cycle by the independent registered public accountants. To the extent
practicable, the Audit Committee will also review and approve a budget for such services. Services proposed to be provided by the independent
registered public accountants that have not been pre-approved during the annual review and the fees for such proposed services must be
pre-approved by the Audit Committee or its designated subcommittee. Additionally, fees for previously approved services that are expected to
exceed the previously approved budget must also be pre-approved by the Audit Committee or its designated subcommittee. All requests or
applications for the independent registered public accountants to provide services to our company must be submitted to the Audit Committee or
its designated subcommittee by the Chief Financial Officer or Controller and must address whether, in his or her view, the request or application
is consistent with applicable laws, rules and regulations relating to auditor independence.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Documents to be filed as part of this Annual Report

1. Financial Statements

The following items are included in Part II, Item 8 this Annual Report:

� Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm�s Report

� Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007

� Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

� Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders� Equity for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

� Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

� Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules have been omitted because the information is not required or not in amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or
because the information required is included in the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

The exhibits marked with the asterisk symbol (*) are filed or furnished (in the case of Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2) with this Annual Report. The
exhibits marked with the cross symbol (�) are management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements filed pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iii)
of Regulation S-K.

We have not filed with this Annual Report copies of the instruments defining rights of all holders of the long-term debt of us and our
consolidated subsidiaries based upon the exception set forth in Item 601(b)(4)(iii)(A) of Regulation S-K. Copies of such instruments will be
furnished to the SEC upon request.

Exhibit
Number Description
      3.1 � Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Energy Partners, Ltd. dated as of November 16, 1999 (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.1 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form S-1 (File No. 333-42876)).

      3.2 � Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Energy Partners, Ltd. dated as of September 15, 2000 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form S-1 (File No. 333-42876)).

      3.3 �
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Certificate of Amendment of the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Energy Partners, Ltd. dated as of May 5, 2006
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.6 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-Q filed May 9, 2006 (File No. 001-16179)).

      3.4 � Certificate of Elimination of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, Series B Convertible Preferred Stock and Series C
Preferred Stock of Energy Partners, Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed
January 22, 2002 (File No. 001-16179)).
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Exhibit
Number Description
      3.5 � Certificate of Elimination of the Series D Exchangeable Convertible Preferred Stock of Energy Partners, Ltd.

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-K filed February 27, 2006 (File No.
001-16179)).

      3.6 � Amended and Restated Bylaws of Energy Partners, Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 of Energy Partners,
Ltd.�s Form 10-K filed March 3, 2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

    *4.1 � Indenture dated as of August 5, 2003 between Energy Partners, Ltd., as Issuer, and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Trustee.

      4.2 � Indenture dated as of April 23, 2007 between Energy Partners, Ltd., as Issuer, and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on April 26, 2007 (File No.
011-16179)).

    10.1 � Second Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization of Energy Partners, Ltd. and certain of its Subsidiaries Under Chapter
11 of the Bankruptcy Code, as Modified as of July 31, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Energy
Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on August 4, 2009 (File No. 001-16179)).

    10.2 � Plan of Support and Lock-Up Agreement dated as of April 30, 2009 between Energy Partners, Ltd., and the holders of
claims against Energy Partners, Ltd. signatory thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Energy Partners,
Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on May 5, 2009 (File No. 001-16179)).

    10.3 � Credit Agreement dated as of April 23, 2007 among Energy Partners, Ltd., Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative
Agent, L/C Issuer and Collateral Agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and BNP Paribas, as Co-Syndication Agents, The
Bank of Nova Scotia and BMO Capital Markets Financing, Inc., as Co-Documentation Agents, and the other lenders
party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on April 26, 2007
(File No. 001-16179)).

  *10.4 � Letter Agreement dated as of April 3, 2009 among Energy Partners, Ltd., Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative
Agent, Lender, Collateral Agent and L/C Issuer, and the other loan parties and lenders party thereto.

    10.5 � Letter Agreement dated as of April 14, 2009 among Energy Partners, Ltd., Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative
Agent, Lender, Collateral Agent and L/C Issuer, and the other loan parties and lenders party thereto (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on April 14, 2009 (File No. 001-16179)).

  *10.6 � Term sheet with the United States Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service dated April 30, 2009.

    10.7  � Letter Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2008 among Energy Partners, Ltd., Double Black Diamond Offshore LDC,
Carlson Capital, L.P., Asgard Investment Corp., James, R. Latimer, III, Bryant H. Patton, Steven J. Pully and Clint D.
Carlson (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on April 2, 2008 (File No.
001-16179)).

  �10.8 � Form of Indemnity Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on
September 14, 2006 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.9 � Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors effective as of May 12, 2005
(incorporated by reference to Annex B to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed April 4, 2005
(File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.10 � First Amendment to the Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors dated
November 13, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed November 14,
2008 (File No. 001-16179)).
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Exhibit
Number Description
  �10.11 � Form of Restricted Share Unit Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee

Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-Q filed August 5, 2008 (File No.
001-16179)).

  �10.12 � Energy Partners, Ltd. Stock and Deferral Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended and restated effective as of
July 17, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-Q filed on August 5, 2008
(File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.13 � First Amendment to the Energy Partners, Ltd. Stock and Deferral Plan for Non-Employee Directors dated as of
November 13, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed November 14,
2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

�*10.14 � Summary of Non-Employee Director Compensation as of July 2009.

  �10.15 � Amended and Restated 2000 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan effective as of September 12, 2000 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-K filed March 15, 2002 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.16 � First Amendment to Amended and Restated 2000 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan effective as of May 13, 2004
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed November 14, 2008 (File No.
001-16179)).

  �10.17 � Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2000 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-Q filed August 5, 2004 (File No.
001-16179)).

  �10.18 � Form of Restricted Share Unit Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2000 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-Q filed August 5, 2004 (File No.
001-16179)).

  �10.19 � Form of Performance Share Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2000 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed March 30, 2005 (File No.
001-16179)).

  �10.20 � 2006 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan effective as of May 4, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Annex C to Energy
Partners, Ltd.�s proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed April 5, 2006 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.21 � First Amendment to the 2006 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan dated November 13, 2008 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed November 14, 2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.22 � Form of 2006 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan Cash-Settled Restricted Share Unit Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on June 5, 2007 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.23 � Form of 2006 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-Q filed on May 3, 2007 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.24 � Form of 2006 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan Restricted Share Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.6 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-Q filed on May 3, 2007 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.25 � Form of 2006 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan Cash-Settled Restricted Share Appreciation Right Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-Q filed on May 8, 2008 (File No.
001-16179)).
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Exhibit
Number Description
  �10.26 � Amendment to Restricted Share Unit Agreements and Cash-Settled Restricted Share Unit Agreements under the 2006

Long Term Stock Incentive Plan or the Amended and Restated 2000 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on November 14, 2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.27 � Change of Control Severance Plan effective as of March 24, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Energy
Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed March 30, 2005 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.28 � First Amendment to Change of Control Severance Plan effective as of September 13, 2006 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.3 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on September 14, 2006 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.29 � Second Amendment to Change of Control Severance Plan effective as of April 16, 2008 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-Q filed on May 8, 2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.30 � Third Amendment to Change of Control Severance Plan dated November 13, 2008 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed November 14, 2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.31 � Form of Change of Control Severance Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s
Form 8-K filed March 30, 2005 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.32 � Form of First Amendment to Change of Control Severance Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on September 14, 2006 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.33 � Form of Second Amendment to Change of Control Severance Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 of
Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-K filed March 3, 2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.34 � Form of Third Amendment to Change of Control Severance Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of
Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed November 14, 2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

�*10.35 � Form of Senior Management Settlement Agreement.

�*10.36 � Form of Omnibus Settlement Agreement.

  �10.37 � Description of the Fiscal 2007 Annual Incentive Bonus Program for Executive Officers of Energy Partners, Ltd.
(incorporated by reference to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 28, 2008 (File No.
001-16179)).

  �10.38 � Description of the Fiscal 2008 Annual Incentive Bonus Program for Executive Officers of Energy Partners, Ltd.
(incorporated by reference to Part III, Item 11 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-K filed on August 4, 2009 (File No.
001-16179)).

  �10.39 � General Release between T. Rodney Dykes and Energy Partners, Ltd. effective as of March 31, 2008 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.25 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-K filed on March 3, 2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

�*10.40 � Letter Agreement between Thomas DeBrock and Energy Partners, Ltd. dated November 29, 2007.

  �10.41 � Amendment to Letter Agreement between Thomas DeBrock and Energy Partners, Ltd. dated November 12, 2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on November 14, 2008 (File No.
001-16179)).

�*10.42 � Senior Management Settlement Agreement dated as of June 30, 2009 by and between Energy Partners, Ltd. and
Thomas DeBrock.
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Exhibit
Number Description
�*10.43 � Amendment to Nonqualified Stock Options granted to Phillip A. Gobe dated as of August 21, 2007.

�*10.44 � Amendment to Restricted Share Unit Agreements granted to Phillip A. Gobe dated as of August 21, 2007.

�*10.45 � Amendment to Cash-Settled Restricted Share Unit Agreement granted to Phillip A. Gobe dated as of August 21, 2007.

�*10.46 � Amendment to Restricted Share Unit Agreements granted to Phillip A. Gobe dated as of November 19, 2008.

�*10.47 � Amendment to Cash Settled Restricted Share Unit Agreement granted to Phillip A. Gobe dated as of November 19, 2008.

�*10.48 � Offer Letter to Joseph T. Leary dated August 15, 2007.

�*10.49 � Offer Letter to Stephen D. Longon dated June 11, 2007.

�*10.50 � Settlement Agreement dated as of June 23, 2009 by and between Energy Partners, Ltd. and Stephen D. Longon.

�*10.51 � Settlement Agreement dated as of June 23, 2009 by and between Energy Partners, Ltd. and John H. Peper.

  *21.1 � Subsidiaries of Energy Partners, Ltd.

  *23.1 � Consent of KPMG LLP.

  *23.2 � Consent of Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc.

  *23.3 � Consent of Ryder Scott Company, L.P.

  *31.1 � Certification of Principal Executive Officer of Energy Partners, Ltd. pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.

  *31.2 � Certification of Principal Financial Officer of Energy Partners, Ltd. pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.

  *32.1 � Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive Officer of Energy Partners, Ltd. pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.

  *32.2 � Section 1350 Certification of Principal Financial Officer of Energy Partners, Ltd. pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.
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GLOSSARY OF OIL AND NATURAL GAS TERMS

�Bbl� One stock tank barrel, or 42 U.S. gallons liquid volume, used in this Annual Report in reference to oil and other liquid hydrocarbons.

�Boe� Barrels of oil equivalent, with six thousand cubic feet of natural gas being equivalent to one barrel of oil.

�Bcf� One billion cubic feet.

�Bcfe� One billion cubic feet equivalent, with one barrel of oil being equivalent to six thousand cubic feet of natural gas.

�completion� The installation of permanent equipment for the production of oil or natural gas, or in the case of a dry hole, the reporting of
abandonment to the appropriate agency.

�EBITDAX� Net income (loss) before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation, depletion and amortization, exploration expenditures and
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle.

�Loe� Lease operating expenditures.

�Mbbls� One thousand barrels of oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.

�Mboe� One thousand barrels of oil equivalent.

�Mcf� One thousand cubic feet of natural gas.

�Mmbbls� One million barrels of oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.

�Mmboe� One million barrels of oil equivalent.

�Mmbtu� One million British Thermal Units.

�Mmcf� One million cubic feet of natural gas.

�plugging and abandonment� Refers to the sealing off of fluids in the strata penetrated by a well so that the fluids from one stratum will not
escape into another or to the surface. Federal regulations and regulations of many states require plugging of abandoned wells.

�proved undeveloped reserves� Proved reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled acreage or from existing wells
where a relatively major expenditure is required for recompletion.

�reservoir� A porous and permeable underground formation containing a natural accumulation of producible oil and/or natural gas that is
confined by impermeable rock or water barriers and is individual and separate from other reservoirs.

�working interest� The interest in an oil and natural gas property (normally a leasehold interest) that gives the owner the right to drill, produce
and conduct operations on the property and a share of production, subject to all royalties, overriding royalties and other burdens and to all costs
of exploration, development and operations and all risks in connection therewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: August 4, 2009 ENERGY PARTNERS, LTD.

By: /S/    ALAN D. BELL        

Alan D. Bell

Chief Restructuring Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/S/    ALAN D. BELL        

Alan D. Bell

Chief Restructuring Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

August 4, 2009

/S/    TIFFANY J. THOM        

Tiffany J. Thom

Vice President, Treasurer and Investor Relations

(Principal Financial Officer)

August 4, 2009

/S/    DAVID P. CEDRO        

David P. Cedro

Vice President, Controller

(Principal Accounting Officer)

August 4, 2009

/S/    JERRY D. CARLISLE        

Jerry D. Carlisle

Director August 4, 2009

/S/    ROBERT D. GERSHEN        

Robert D. Gershen

Director August 4, 2009

/S/    JAMES R. LATIMER        

James R. Latimer

Director August 4, 2009

/S/    BRYANT H. PATTON        

Bryant H. Patton

Director August 4, 2009

/S/    STEVEN J. PULLY        

Steven J. Pully

Director August 4, 2009
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

The exhibits marked with the asterisk symbol (*) are filed or furnished (in the case of Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2) with this Annual Report. The
exhibits marked with the cross symbol (�) are management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements filed pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iii)
of Regulation S-K.

We have not filed with this Annual Report copies of the instruments defining rights of all holders of the long-term debt of us and our
consolidated subsidiaries based upon the exception set forth in Item 601(b)(4)(iii)(A) of Regulation S-K. Copies of such instruments will be
furnished to the SEC upon request.

Exhibit
Number Description
      3.1 � Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Energy Partners, Ltd. dated as of November 16, 1999 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form S-1 (File No. 333-42876)).

      3.2 � Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Energy Partners, Ltd. dated as of September 15, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form S-1 (File No. 333-42876)).

      3.3 � Certificate of Amendment of the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Energy Partners, Ltd. dated as of May 5, 2006
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.6 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-Q filed May 9, 2006 (File No. 001-16179)).

      3.4 � Certificate of Elimination of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, Series B Convertible Preferred Stock and
Series C Preferred Stock of Energy Partners, Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s
Form 8-K filed January 22, 2002 (File No. 001-16179)).

      3.5 � Certificate of Elimination of the Series D Exchangeable Convertible Preferred Stock of Energy Partners, Ltd.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-K filed February 27, 2006 (File No.
001-16179)).

      3.6 � Amended and Restated Bylaws of Energy Partners, Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 of Energy Partners,
Ltd.�s Form 10-K filed March 3, 2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

    *4.1 � Indenture dated as of August 5, 2003 between Energy Partners, Ltd., as Issuer, and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Trustee.

      4.2 � Indenture dated as of April 23, 2007 between Energy Partners, Ltd., as Issuer, and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on April 26, 2007 (File No.
011-16179)).

    10.1 � Second Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization of Energy Partners, Ltd. and certain of its Subsidiaries Under Chapter
11 of the Bankruptcy Code, as Modified as of July 31, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Energy
Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on August 4, 2009 (File No. 001-16179)).

    10.2 � Plan of Support and Lock-Up Agreement dated as of April 30, 2009 between Energy Partners, Ltd., and the holders of
claims against Energy Partners, Ltd. signatory thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Energy Partners,
Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on May 5, 2009 (File No. 001-16179)).

    10.3 � Credit Agreement dated as of April 23, 2007 among Energy Partners, Ltd., Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative
Agent, L/C Issuer and Collateral Agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and BNP Paribas, as Co-Syndication Agents, The
Bank of Nova Scotia and BMO Capital Markets Financing, Inc., as Co-Documentation Agents, and the other lenders
party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on April 26, 2007
(File No. 001-16179)).
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Exhibit
Number Description
  *10.4 � Letter Agreement dated as of April 3, 2009 among Energy Partners, Ltd., Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative

Agent, Lender, Collateral Agent and L/C Issuer, and the other loan parties and lenders party thereto.

    10.5 � Letter Agreement dated as of April 14, 2009 among Energy Partners, Ltd., Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative
Agent, Lender, Collateral Agent and L/C Issuer, and the other loan parties and lenders party thereto (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on April 14, 2009 (File No. 001-16179)).

  *10.6 � Term sheet with the United States Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service dated April 30, 2009.

    10.7  � Letter Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2008 among Energy Partners, Ltd., Double Black Diamond Offshore LDC,
Carlson Capital, L.P., Asgard Investment Corp., James, R. Latimer, III, Bryant H. Patton, Steven J. Pully and Clint D.
Carlson (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on April 2, 2008 (File No.
001-16179)).

  �10.8 � Form of Indemnity Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on
September 14, 2006 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.9 � Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors effective as of May 12, 2005
(incorporated by reference to Annex B to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed April 4, 2005
(File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.10 � First Amendment to the Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors dated
November 13, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed November 14,
2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.11 � Form of Restricted Share Unit Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee
Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-Q filed August 5, 2008 (File
No. 001-16179)).

  �10.12 � Energy Partners, Ltd. Stock and Deferral Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended and restated effective as of
July 17, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-Q filed on August 5, 2008
(File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.13 � First Amendment to the Energy Partners, Ltd. Stock and Deferral Plan for Non-Employee Directors dated as of
November 13, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed November 14,
2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

�*10.14 � Summary of Non-Employee Director Compensation as of July 2009.

  �10.15 � Amended and Restated 2000 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan effective as of September 12, 2000 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-K filed March 15, 2002 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.16 � First Amendment to Amended and Restated 2000 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan effective as of May 13, 2004
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed November 14, 2008 (File No.
001-16179)).

  �10.17 � Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2000 Long Term Stock Incentive
Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-Q filed August 5, 2004 (File No.
001-16179)).

  �10.18 � Form of Restricted Share Unit Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2000 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-Q filed August 5, 2004 (File No.
001-16179)).
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Exhibit
Number Description
  �10.19 � Form of Performance Share Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2000 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed March 30, 2005 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.20 � 2006 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan effective as of May 4, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Annex C to Energy Partners,
Ltd.�s proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed April 5, 2006 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.21 � First Amendment to the 2006 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan dated November 13, 2008 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed November 14, 2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.22 � Form of 2006 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan Cash-Settled Restricted Share Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on June 5, 2007 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.23 � Form of 2006 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.5 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-Q filed on May 3, 2007 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.24 � Form of 2006 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan Restricted Share Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to
Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-Q filed on May 3, 2007 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.25 � Form of 2006 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan Cash-Settled Restricted Share Appreciation Right Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-Q filed on May 8, 2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.26 � Amendment to Restricted Share Unit Agreements and Cash-Settled Restricted Share Unit Agreements under the 2006 Long
Term Stock Incentive Plan or the Amended and Restated 2000 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.6 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on November 14, 2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.27 � Change of Control Severance Plan effective as of March 24, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Energy
Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed March 30, 2005 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.28 � First Amendment to Change of Control Severance Plan effective as of September 13, 2006 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on September 14, 2006 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.29 � Second Amendment to Change of Control Severance Plan effective as of April 16, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.3 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-Q filed on May 8, 2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.30 � Third Amendment to Change of Control Severance Plan dated November 13, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed November 14, 2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.31 � Form of Change of Control Severance Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form
8-K filed March 30, 2005 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.32 � Form of First Amendment to Change of Control Severance Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Energy
Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on September 14, 2006 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.33 � Form of Second Amendment to Change of Control Severance Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 of
Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-K filed March 3, 2008 (File No. 001-16179)).
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Exhibit
Number Description
  �10.34 � Form of Third Amendment to Change of Control Severance Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of Energy

Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed November 14, 2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

�*10.35 � Form of Senior Management Settlement Agreement.

�*10.36 � Form of Omnibus Settlement Agreement.

  �10.37 � Description of the Fiscal 2007 Annual Incentive Bonus Program for Executive Officers of Energy Partners, Ltd. (incorporated
by reference to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 28, 2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.38 � Description of the Fiscal 2008 Annual Incentive Bonus Program for Executive Officers of Energy Partners, Ltd. (incorporated
by reference to Part III, Item 11 of Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-K filed on August 4, 2009 (File No. 001-16179)).

  �10.39 � General Release between T. Rodney Dykes and Energy Partners, Ltd. effective as of March 31, 2008 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.25 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 10-K filed on March 3, 2008 (File No. 001-16179)).

�*10.40 � Letter Agreement between Thomas DeBrock and Energy Partners, Ltd. dated November 29, 2007.

  �10.41 � Amendment to Letter Agreement between Thomas DeBrock and Energy Partners, Ltd. dated November 12, 2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Energy Partners, Ltd.�s Form 8-K filed on November 14, 2008 (File No.
001-16179)).

�*10.42 � Senior Management Settlement Agreement dated as of June 30, 2009 by and between Energy Partners, Ltd. and Thomas
DeBrock.

�*10.43 � Amendment to Nonqualified Stock Options granted to Phillip A. Gobe dated as of August 21, 2007.

�*10.44 � Amendment to Restricted Share Unit Agreements granted to Phillip A. Gobe dated as of August 21, 2007.

�*10.45 � Amendment to Cash-Settled Restricted Share Unit Agreement granted to Phillip A. Gobe dated as of August 21, 2007.

�*10.46 � Amendment to Restricted Share Unit Agreements granted to Phillip A. Gobe dated as of November 19, 2008.

�*10.47 � Amendment to Cash Settled Restricted Share Unit Agreement granted to Phillip A. Gobe dated as of November 19, 2008.

�*10.48 � Offer Letter to Joseph T. Leary dated August 15, 2007.

�*10.49 � Offer Letter to Stephen D. Longon dated June 11, 2007.

�*10.50 � Settlement Agreement dated as of June 23, 2009 by and between Energy Partners, Ltd. and Stephen D. Longon.

�*10.51 � Settlement Agreement dated as of June 23, 2009 by and between Energy Partners, Ltd. and John H. Peper.

  *21.1 � Subsidiaries of Energy Partners, Ltd.

  *23.1 � Consent of KPMG LLP.
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Exhibit
Number Description
  *23.2 � Consent of Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc.

  *23.3 � Consent of Ryder Scott Company, L.P.

  *31.1 � Certification of Principal Executive Officer of Energy Partners, Ltd. pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.

  *31.2 � Certification of Principal Financial Officer of Energy Partners, Ltd. pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.

  *32.1 � Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive Officer of Energy Partners, Ltd. pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.

  *32.2 � Section 1350 Certification of Principal Financial Officer of Energy Partners, Ltd. pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.
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